
Democratic Services Contact Officer: Ian Senior, 03450 450 500 democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

6 November 2018 

 

To: Chairman – Councillor John Batchelor 
 Vice-Chairman – Councillor Pippa Heylings 
 All Members of the Planning Committee - Councillors Dr. Martin Cahn, 

Peter Fane, Bill Handley, Brian Milnes, Judith Rippeth, Deborah Roberts, 
Peter Topping, Heather Williams and Nick Wright 

Quorum: 3 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
You are invited to attend the next meeting of PLANNING COMMITTEE, which will be held in the 
COUNCIL CHAMBER, FIRST FLOOR at South Cambridgeshire Hall on WEDNESDAY, 14 
NOVEMBER 2018 at 10.00 a.m. 
 
Members are respectfully reminded that when substituting on committees, subcommittees, and 
outside or joint bodies, Democratic Services must be advised of the substitution in advance of 
the meeting.  It is not possible to accept a substitute once the meeting has started.  Council 
Standing Order 4.3 refers. 
 
Yours faithfully 
Beverly Agass 
Chief Executive 
 

The Council is committed to improving, for all members of the 
community, access to its agendas and minutes.  We try to take all 
circumstances into account but, if you have any specific needs, 

please let us know, and we will do what we can to help you. 
 

 
AGENDA 

 PAGES 
 PUBLIC SEATING AND SPEAKING 
 Public seating is available both in the Council Chamber (First Floor) and the Public 
Gallery / Balcony (Second Floor). Those not on the Committee but wishing to speak at 
the meeting should first read the Public Speaking Protocol (revised October 2016) 
attached to the electronic version of the agenda on the Council’s website. 

   
 PROCEDURAL ITEMS   
 
1. Apologies   
 To receive apologies for absence from committee members.   
   
2. Declarations of Interest   
  

1. Disclosable pecuniary interests (“DPI”)  
A  DPI is where a committee member or his/her spouse or 
partner has any kind of beneficial interest in the land under 

 

 

 

South Cambridgeshire Hall 

Cambourne Business Park 

Cambourne 

Cambridge 

CB23 6EA 

t: 03450 450 500 

f: 01954 713149 

www.scambs.gov.uk 



consideration at the meeting. 
 
 2.  Non-disclosable pecuniary interests 

These are interests that are pecuniary involving a  personal 
financial benefit or detriment but do not come within the 
definition of a DPI.  An example would be where a member 
of their family/close friend (who is not their spouse or 
partner) has such an interest. 

 
3. Non-pecuniary interests 

Where the interest is not one which involves any personal 
financial benefit or detriment to the Councillor but arises out 
of a close connection with someone or some  body 
/association.  An example would be membership of a sports 
committee/ membership of another council which is involved 
in the matter under consideration. 

   
3. Recorded voting   
 
4. Minutes of Previous Meeting  1 - 4 
 To authorise the Chairman to sign the Minutes of the meeting held 

on 10 October 2018 as a correct record. 
 

   
 PLANNING APPLICATIONS AND OTHER DECISION ITEMS 
 To view plans, drawings and other documents submitted with the application, follow 
the link called ‘Application file’ and select the tab ‘Plans and Docs’. 

   
5. Hauxton Footpath 5 Diversion  5 - 54 
  

Report from Cambridgeshire County Council as agent for South 
Cambridgeshire District Council. South Cambridgeshire District 
Council is the Order Making Authority. 

 

   
6. Local Plan Affordable Housing Threshold (Policy H/10 

Affordable Housing) 
 55 - 62 

 
7. S/1486/18/FL - Impington (Land to the rear of 49-83 (odds) 

Impington Lane, Impington, CB24 9NJ) 
 63 - 104 

  
The erection of 26 dwellings with associated access, car and cycle 
parking, open space and landscaping 

 

   
8. S/1106/18/FL - Great Abington (Land South of Pampisford 

Road) 
 105 - 142 

  
Full planning application for the erection of 15 dwellings and 
associated infrastructure including new landscaping, internal access 
roads, garages, and parking areas following demolition of existing 
agricultural buildings along with construction of new access to 
Pampisford Road. 

 

   
9. S/2866/18/VC - Little Gransden (Land at Gransden Lodge 

Airfield, Cambridge Gliding Club Ltd,  Gransden Lodge Airfield,  
Longstowe Road, 

 143 - 158 

   



Variation of Condition 4 (Aerotows) 5 (Flying activities) 6 ( Self 
launching sail planes) 7 (Hours of Operation) 8 (Aerotowing 
Equipment) of Planning consent S/0607/90/F  for Use as Gliding 
Club and ancillary purposes 

   
10. S/2705/18/FL - Cottenham (Cottenham United Sports and Social 

Club, King George V Playing Fields, Lambs Lane) 
 159 - 172 

  
Reconfiguration of the public play area to allow for the erection of a 
single storey nursery building with additional car parking and access 
road modification 

 

   
11. S/1532/18/FL - Cottenham (Franklin Gardens)  173 - 182 
  

New Parking Bays 
 

   
 MONITORING REPORTS   
 
12. Enforcement Report  183 - 192 
 
13. Appeals against Planning Decisions and Enforcement Action  193 - 202 
 



 GUIDANCE NOTES FOR VISITORS TO SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE HALL 
 Notes to help those people visiting the South Cambridgeshire District Council offices 

 
While we try to make sure that you stay safe when visiting South Cambridgeshire Hall, you also have a 
responsibility for your own safety, and that of others. 
 
Security 

When attending meetings in non-public areas of the Council offices you must report to Reception, sign in, 
and at all times wear the Visitor badge issued.  Before leaving the building, please sign out and return the 
Visitor badge to Reception. 
Public seating in meeting rooms is limited. For further details contact Democratic Services on 03450 450 
500 or e-mail democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk 
 
Emergency and Evacuation 

In the event of a fire, a continuous alarm will sound.  Leave the building using the nearest escape route; 
from the Council Chamber or Mezzanine viewing gallery this would be via the staircase just outside the 
door.  Go to the assembly point at the far side of the staff car park opposite the staff  entrance 

 Do not use the lifts to leave the building.  If you are unable to use stairs by yourself, the 

emergency staircase landings have fire refuge areas, which give protection for a minimum of 1.5 
hours.  Press the alarm button and wait for help from Council fire wardens or the fire brigade. 

 Do not re-enter the building until the officer in charge or the fire brigade confirms that it is safe to 
do so. 

 
First Aid 

If you feel unwell or need first aid, please alert a member of staff. 
 
Access for People with Disabilities 

We are committed to improving, for all members of the community, access to our agendas and minutes. 
We try to take all circumstances into account but, if you have any specific needs, please let us know, and 
we will do what we can to help you.  All meeting rooms are accessible to wheelchair users.  There are 
disabled toilet facilities on each floor of the building.  Infra-red hearing assistance systems are available in 
the Council Chamber and viewing gallery. To use these, you must sit in sight of the infra-red transmitter 
and wear a ‘neck loop’, which can be used with a hearing aid switched to the ‘T’ position.  If your hearing 
aid does not have the ‘T’ position facility then earphones are also available and can be used 
independently. You can get both neck loops and earphones from Reception. 
 
Toilets 

Public toilets are available on each floor of the building next to the lifts. 
 
Recording of Business and Use of Mobile Phones 

We are open and transparent about how we make decisions. We allow recording, filming and photography 
at Council, Cabinet and other meetings, which members of the public can attend, so long as proceedings 
at the meeting are not disrupted.  We also allow the use of social media during meetings to bring Council 
issues to the attention of a wider audience.  To minimise disturbance to others attending the meeting, 
please switch your phone or other mobile device to silent / vibrate mode. 
 
Banners, Placards and similar items 

You are not allowed to bring into, or display at, any public meeting any banner, placard, poster or other 
similar item.  Failure to do so, will result in the Chairman suspending the meeting until such items are 
removed. 
 
Disturbance by Public 

If a member of the public interrupts proceedings at a meeting, the Chairman will warn the person 
concerned.  If they continue to interrupt, the Chairman will order their removal from the meeting room.  If 
there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public, the Chairman may call 
for that part to be cleared. The meeting will be suspended until order has been restored. 
 
Smoking 

Since 1 July 2008, South Cambridgeshire District Council has operated a Smoke Free Policy. No one is 
allowed to smoke at any time within the Council offices, or in the car park or other grounds forming part of 
those offices. 
 
Food and Drink 

Vending machines and a water dispenser are available on the ground floor near the lifts at the front of the 
building.  You are not allowed to bring food or drink into the meeting room. 

 

mailto:democratic.services@scambs.gov.uk


   
 

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
The law allows Councils to consider a limited range of issues in private session without members of the Press and 
public being present.  Typically, such issues relate to personal details, financial and business affairs, legal privilege 
and so on.  In every case, the public interest in excluding the Press and Public from the meeting room must outweigh 
the public interest in having the information disclosed to them.  The following statement will be proposed, seconded 
and voted upon.   
 
"I propose that the Press and public be excluded from the meeting during the consideration of the following item 
number(s) ….. in accordance with Section 100(A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 on the grounds that, if 
present, there would be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph(s) ….. of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Act.” 
 
If exempt (confidential) information has been provided as part of the agenda, the Press and public will not be able to 
view it.  There will be an explanation on the website however as to why the information is exempt.   

Notes 
 
(1) Some development control matters in this Agenda where the periods of consultation and representation 

may not have quite expired are reported to Committee to save time in the decision making process. 
Decisions on these applications will only be made at the end of the consultation periods after taking into 
account all material representations made within the full consultation period. The final decisions may be 
delegated to the Corporate Manager (Planning and Sustainable Communities). 

 

(2) The Council considers every planning application on its merits and in the context of national, regional and 
local planning policy. As part of the Council's customer service standards, Councillors and officers aim to 
put customers first, deliver outstanding service and provide easy access to services and information. At all 
times, we will treat customers with respect and will be polite, patient and honest. The Council is also 
committed to treat everyone fairly and justly, and to promote equality. This applies to all residents and 
customers, planning applicants and those people against whom the Council is taking, or proposing to take, 
planning enforcement action.  More details can be found on the Council's website under 'Council and 
Democracy'. 



This page is left blank intentionally.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Planning Committee held on 
Wednesday, 10 October 2018 at 9.30 a.m. 

 
PRESENT:  Councillor John Batchelor – Chairman 
  Councillor Pippa Heylings – Vice-Chairman 
 
Councillors: Dr. Martin Cahn Peter Fane 
 Bill Handley Brian Milnes 
 Judith Rippeth Deborah Roberts 
 Peter Topping Heather Williams 
 Nick Wright  
 
Officers in attendance for all or part of the meeting: 
 Rachael Forbes (Planning Officer), John Koch (Planning Team Leader (West)), 

Stephen Reid (Senior Planning Lawyer), Ian Senior (Democratic Services Officer), 
Charles Swain (Principal Planning Enforcement Officer), Alison Twyford (Senior 
Planning Officer) and Rebecca Ward (Principal Planning Officer) 

 
 
 
1. APOLOGIES 
 
 There were no Apologies for Absence. 
  
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
 Regarding Minute 5 (S/1694/18/FL - Wimpole (Wimpole Hall, Wimpole Park, Wimpole 

Road)) Councillors  
 

 John Batchelor 

 Dr. Martin Cahn 

 Peter Fane 

 Bill Handley 

 Judith Rippeth 

 Peter Topping 
 
declared non-pecuniary interests as members of the National Trust. 
 
Regarding Minute 5 (S/1694/18/FL - Wimpole (Wimpole Hall, Wimpole Park, Wimpole 
Road)) Councillor Heather Williams had spoken at meetings of Arrington Parish Council 
about this application. 
 
Regarding Minute 7 (S/4555/17/FL – Fowlmere (The Triangle)), and although it was a 
matter of general public knowledge, Councillor Peter Topping, in the interests of 
transparency, declared a non-pecuniary interest as the Cambridgeshire County Councillor 
for Fowlmere. 

  
3. RECORDED VOTING 
 
 Pending the issue of recorded voting at Planning Committee being addressed by the 

Constitution, Councillor Pippa Heylings proposed that all substantive votes be recorded.  
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Planning Committee Wednesday, 10 October 2018 

Councillor Peter Fane seconded the proposal and, upon a show of hands, the Committee 
agreed unanimously that all substantive votes at the current Planning Committee 
meeting should be recorded by name and / or number and name. 

  
4. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
 The Committee authorised the Chairman to sign, as a correct record, the Minutes of the 

meeting held on 12 September 2018. 
  
5. S/1694/18/FL - WIMPOLE (WIMPOLE HALL, WIMPOLE PARK, WIMPOLE ROAD) 
 
 Members visited the site on 9 October 2018. 

 
Clive Porter (objector), David Hassall (applicant’s agent) and Alex Devon (agent for 
Arrington Parish Council) addressed the meeting. 
 
Members highlighted the following as matters of concern: 
 

 Specification of the proposed trail 

 The ongoing ‘no charge’ status of the car park  

 Safety considerations with a multi-use facility 

 Desirability of a Ranger service 

 The impact on Arrington 

 Ecology 
 

By ten votes to one, the Committee gave officers delegated powers to approve the 
application subject to 
 

1. The applicant giving a Unilateral Undertaking to fund a Traffic Regulation Order 
consultation exercise, carried out by the Local Highways Authority, to establish 
whether the residents of Arrington wanted parking restrictions introduced in the 
village, paid for by the applicant up to an agreed limit; 
 

2. The Conditions set out in the report from the Joint Director for Planning and 
Economic Development; and 

 
3. An additional Condition addressing the issue of a programme of cycle speed 

restriction measures. 
 

Councillors John Batchelor, Dr. Carn, Fane, Handley, Heylings, Milnes, Rippeth, Roberts, 
Topping and Wright voted to approve the application. Councillor Heather Williams voted to 
refuse it. 

  
6. S/1486/18/FL - IMPINGTON (LAND TO THE REAR OF 49-83 (ODDS), IMPINGTON 

LANE) ** WITHDRAWN FROM THE AGENDA ** 
 
 Members noted that this application had been withdrawn from the agenda. However, 

Members nevertheless visited the site on 9 October 2018. 
  
7. S/4555/17/FL - FOWLMERE (THE TRIANGLE) 
 
 Members visited the site on 9 October 2018. 

 
Sarah Burge (supporter, Chair of Governors, Fowlmere Primary School), Peter Stocking 

Page 2



Planning Committee Wednesday, 10 October 2018 

(applicant’s agent) and Lawrence Wragg (Fowlmere Parish Council) addressed the 
meeting. 
 
Councillor Deborah Roberts stood down from the Planning Committee for this item, took 
no part in the debate and did not vote. Councillor Roberts did however address the 
Planning Committee as the Local member in opposition to the application. 
 
Members received a copy of an Appeal decision dated 25 September 2018. The Senior 
Planning Lawyer invited them to consider the current application in the light of that 
decision. Members also spent time examining the implications for the Primary School of 
the development, and the suggestion that the proposal might secure viability of such 
facility. However, Members noted that it was not the purpose of a Section 106 Legal 
Agreement to support existing infrastructure, but rather to mitigate the impact on that 
infrastructure of future development. 
 
By ten votes to nil, the Committee refused the application for the reasons set out in the 
report from the Joint Director for Planning and Economic Development. 
 
Councillors John Batchelor, Dr. Cahn, Fane, Handley, Heylings, Milnes, Rippeth, Topping, 
Heather Williams and Wright voted to refuse the application. Councillor Deborah Roberts 
did not vote. 

  
8. S/1549/18/FL - STAPLEFORD (5 ST ANDREW'S CLOSE) 
 
 Members visited the site on 9 October 2018. 

 
The Committee unanimously approved the application subject to the Conditions set out in 
the report from the Joint Director for Planning and Economic Development and the 
following additional Condition: 
 

“No site or plant machinery shall be operated, no works shall be carried out 
and no construction related deliveries taken or dispatched from the site except 
between 0800 hours and 1800 hours Mondays to Fridays and between 0800 
hours and 1300 hours on Saturdays, and not at any time on Sundays and 
Bank Holidays.  
(Reason - To minimise noise disturbance for adjoining residents in accordance with 
Policy CC/6 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan, 2018).” 

  
9. S/2580/18/FL - HARDWICK (31 CAMBRIDGE ROAD) 
 
 Members visited the site on 9 October 2018. 

 
The Committee unanimously approved the application subject to the Conditions set out in 
the report from the Joint Director for Planning and Economic Development, any 
amendment in the wording of such Conditions to be approved by the Joint Director for 
Planning and Economic Development in consultation with the Chairman and Vice-
Chairman of the Planning Committee prior to issue of the Decision Notice. 

  
10. ENFORCEMENT REPORT 
 
 The Committee received and noted an Update on enforcement action.  
  
11. APPEALS AGAINST PLANNING DECISIONS AND ENFORCEMENT ACTION 
 
 Members received and noted a report on Appeals against planning decisions and 

Page 3



Planning Committee Wednesday, 10 October 2018 

enforcement action. 
  

  
The Meeting ended at 12.28 p.m. 

 

 

Page 4



 
 

 

 
 

 www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk 
 

Chief Executive Gillian Beasley 
 

 
 
 
To:       South Cambridgeshire District Council 
Date:   14th November 2018 
From: James Stringer, Asset Information Definitive Map Officer 
Ref: P079 
 

Report on the proposed diversion of Hauxton Public Footpath No. 5 
 

1 Purpose 
 
1.1 The subject of this report is a proposal to divert part of Public Footpath No.5, 

Hauxton in the district of South Cambridgeshire. 

1.2 Appendix A comprises a copy of the developer’s application. A plan showing the 
effect of the proposal is at Appendix B. A copy of the Planning Permission is at 
Appendix C. Previous case decisions can be found at Appendix D. Site Photos are at 
Appendix E. Consultation responses can be seen at Appendix F. The NMU Diversion 
Assessment can be seen at Appendix G. 

2 Background  

 
2.1 All of the land affected by this proposal is owned by Redrow Homes (“the 

applicant”). A copy of the application can be found at Appendix A. A plan showing 
the proposal can be found at Appendix B.  
 

2.2 This proposal is to divert part of Public Footpath No. 5, Hauxton as part of a new 
housing development.  
 

2.3 The diversion of the footpath therefore falls to be determined by the relevant 
planning authority under section 257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
(“TCPA 90”). Copies of the planning application decision notices can be found at 
Appendix C. 
 

2.4 The proposal is to divert the public footpath onto the road edge footways being 
constructed as part of the new internal road network. The footway alongside the 
new road forms part of a draft section 38 Adoption Agreement that Redrow Homes 
have submitted to the County Council’s Highway Development Management Team.  
 

2.5 In January 2018, the Highway Development Management Team granted Redrow 
Homes technical approval of their Section 38 submission. 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



 
 

 

 
 

 www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk 
 

Chief Executive Gillian Beasley 
 

2.6 The definitive line of Public Footpath No. 5 currently runs across a parcel of land that 
previously formed part of a historic lane serving a farmstead. More recently the land 
formed part of the Bayer CropScience agrochemical production site and now forms 
part of Redrow’s Hauxton Meadows housing development.  
 

2.7 The path has a recorded width of a minimum of 1.5 metres in the Definitive 
Statement. The path is no longer physically defined on the ground, as it has been 
subsumed by the housing development. However, the path is subject to an active 
Temporary Traffic Regulation Order (TTRO) which legally allows the developer to 
close the existing route whilst construction works are ongoing 
 

2.8 In February 2007, South Cambridgeshire District Council entered into an Agreement 
with Cambridgeshire County Council providing that all Public Path Order applications 
made under section 257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 should be 
processed by the County Council, acting as agents for the District Council. 
 

2.9 The case was presented to the County Council Assistant Director – Highways, the 
post holder with delegated powers in matters associated with Public Path Orders in 
September 2018. A decision was taken to approve the acceptability of the 
application to the County Council as Local Highway Authority. A copy of the 
director’s case decision can be found at Appendix D.  

3 Site Description 
  

3.1 Site photos can be seen in Appendix E. 

Current Route of Public Footpath No. 3 (A-B)  

3.2 The current route of the affected section of Public Footpath No. 5 starts at a point at 
OSGR TL 4319 5251 (Point A, Photos A-B) and runs in a north-easterly direction for 
approximately 137 metres to its junction with Public Footpath no. 1 at OSGR TL 4322 
5263 (Point B). 

3.3 There are no structures, gaps, gates or stiles recorded or present on this public 
footpath.  

 
3.4 The path has a recorded width of a minimum of 1.5 metres in the Definitive 

Statement. The path is no longer physically defined on the ground, as it has been 
subsumed by the housing development. 

3.5 The land over which the existing route runs is not covered by any protected 
designation. 

3.6 The total length of affected path is approximately 137 metres.  

Page 6



 
 

 

 
 

 www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk 
 

Chief Executive Gillian Beasley 
 

Proposed Route of Public Footpath No. 3 (C-D-B) 

3.7 The proposed path starts on the eastern footway at the newly formed road junction 
with the A10 at OSGR TL 4320 5251 and follows the footway in a generally easterly 
then northerly direction for 173 metres to a point at OSGR TL 4319 5262 (Point D). 
The path crosses the road at the end of the adopted section of carriageway and 
continues in a south-easterly then northerly direction for 40 metres to join the 
existing unaffected section of FP5 at OSGR TL 4322 5263(Point B). 

 
3.8 The proposed route is along an adopted tarmac footway. These works will be 

certified by the County Council’s Highway Development Management Team when 
completed and will provide the most suitable surface for users of foot. The total 
length of the affected section of Public Footpath No. 5 is 213 metres. This path 
would have a recorded width of 2 metres in accordance with the County Council 
policy for a footpath.  

 
3.9 There are no gates, restricted widths, structures, steps or steep gradients which 

could preclude use of the path for less able users. 

3.10 The affected section of path will egress onto the A10 Cambridge Road at the newly 
constructed junction for Hauxton Meadows. The egress is onto roadside footways 
and therefore there is no direct egress onto the carriageway. 

3.11 No drainage works or vegetation planting are required as part of this proposal. 
 

3.12 It is proposed that small signage (Waymarker discs or similar) will be erected on 
existing planned street furniture at each end of the help to assist existing and future 
residents and other walkers navigate through the housing estate to the path 
network.   
 

4 Legal Framework 
 
4.1 Section 257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 allows that: 
 
(1)   Subject to section 259, a competent authority may by order authorise the stopping 

up or diversion of any footpath or bridleway if they are satisfied that it is necessary 
to do so in order to enable development to be carried out—  

 
(a) in accordance with planning permission granted under Part III, or 
 
(b) by a government department. 
 
(2)   An order under this section may, if the competent authority are satisfied that it 

should do so, provide— 

Page 7



 
 

 

 
 

 www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk 
 

Chief Executive Gillian Beasley 
 

  
(a)  for the creation of an alternative highway for use as a replacement for the one 

authorised by the order to be stopped up or diverted, or for the improvement of an 
existing highway for such use; 

(b) for authorising or requiring works to be carried out in relation to any footpath or 
bridleway for whose stopping up or diversion, creation or improvement provision is 
made by the order; 

 
(c) for the preservation of any rights of statutory undertakers in respect of any 

apparatus of theirs which immediately before the date of the order is under, in, on, 
over, along or across any such footpath or bridleway; 

 
(d)   for requiring any person named in the order to pay, or make contributions in respect 

of, the cost of carrying out any such works.’ 
 
4.2 An Order shall come into effect once the new route has been certified by either the 

order-making authority or the highway authority as being of a satisfactory standard 
for public use. In this instance the County Council as highway authority will 
undertake the certification.  

 
4.4 The Equality Act 2010 consolidated previous disability legislation. There is currently 

little formal guidance on how the Act interacts with existing rights of way legislation. 
However, it is generally understood to require order-making authorities to take into 
account the reasonable needs of disabled people (using the term in its broadest 
sense) in considering changes to the rights of way network. The Act requires 
authorities to be more proactive in recording their thought-processes in making their 
decisions. A recent Planning Inspectorate decision said that the Act only applies to 
the alternative route in a diversion.  

5 Cambridgeshire County Council Policy (including maintenance) 
 
5.1 The County Council’s own policy (approved by Cabinet in 2003 and revised on 25 

May 2010) requires that certain criteria are met if a public path diversion order is to 
be made. The criteria are as follows: 

 
I. Pre-application consultations have been carried out with the prescribed bodies. 

II. The existing route is available for use and any ‘temporary’ obstructions have been 
removed, in order to allow a comparison to be made. Any request for exemption will 
be decided by the Director Infrastructure Management and Operations as to 
whether or not that is appropriate. 

III. A suitable alternative path is provided for every path that is to be diverted. 
IV. The proposed new route is substantially as convenient to the public as the original 
V. The proposed new route is not less convenient for maintenance than the original 

Page 8



 
 

 

 
 

 www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk 
 

Chief Executive Gillian Beasley 
 

VI. No objections are received to the proposals during the statutory consultation period 
prior to making an order. However, the County Council will review this criterion in 
individual cases in light of objections and potential public benefit of the proposal. 

VII. The maintenance burden on the County Council is no greater than that of the 
original. If the maintenance burden is greater, the landowner may be required to 
enter into a maintenance agreement with the County Council. 

VIII. A minimum width of 2m is provided for a diverted footpath, and a minimum width of 
4m for a diverted bridleway. In exceptional cases, e.g. cross-field paths, it may, 
taking into account all the available facts, require such a width as it considers 
reasonable and appropriate.  

IX. That all the works required to bring the new route into operation are carried out at 
the expense of the landowner and to the County Council’s specifications unless 
otherwise agreed.  

 
5.2 The County Council reserves the right to refuse to make an Order where it feels the 

criteria of the legislation are not met, even where consultation responses suggest 
there are no public objections. 

 
5.3 Furthermore, the County Council adopted a Non-Motorised User (NMU) Diversion 

Policy in February 2017. This policy sets out how the County Council will decide what 
NMU routes it should adopt in future in terms of need, affordability and consistency 
based on criteria applied equally to all potential applications. 

 
5.4 Within the Cambridgeshire Rights of Way Improvement Plan (ROWIP), several 

Statements of Action are listed which identify specific ways in which issues that the 
Rights of Way network face can be addressed now and in the future. This diversion 
addresses issues identified under the following action: 

 
SOA 3 ’57,000 new homes’  
 

5.5 New development should not damage countryside access provision, either directly 
or indirectly. New settlements should be integrated into the rights of way network, 
and improved provision made for the increased population. Where appropriate, 
development should contribute to the provision of new links and/or improvement of 
the existing rights of way network. 

6 Consultations 

6.1 South Cambridgeshire District Council, Hauxton Parish Council, Local County and 
District Members, the prescribed user groups and utility companies were all 
consulted about the proposals.  The following replies have been received (copies are 
attached as Appendix F): 

6.2 Virgin Media and Vodafone had no record of any apparatus in the area. 

Page 9



 
 

 

 
 

 www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk 
 

Chief Executive Gillian Beasley 
 

6.3 Cadent Gas did have records of apparatus in the area, specifically under the A10, and 
therefore objected to the proposal.  

6.4 Apparatus located within an adjacent highway, which is in this instance the A10, 
would be unaffected by the diversion of Public Footpath No. 5 and no rights would 
be diverted or removed that would affect Cadent Gas.  

6.5 Both the applicant and the County Council have written to Cadent Gas to clarify the 
proposal being considered and the effect of any order made. No response has been 
received. A copy of this response can be found at Appendix F.   

6.6 The Area Rights of Way Officer for South Cambridgeshire has expressed concerns 
that the proposed diversion order, if made, could expose the County Council to an 
unacceptable level of risk. This is discussed further in section 8.   

6.7 No other responses were received.   
 

7 Grounds for diversion: Town and County Planning Act and 
Equality Act 2010 

7.1 The re-routing of Public Footpath No. 5, Hauxton is required in order to implement a 
planning permission granted under part III of the Town and County Planning Act 
1990. Section 1(a) of the act is therefore satisfied.   

7.2 The existing route of Public Footpath No. 3 is approximately 137 metres long. The 
proposed route is approximately 76 metres longer at 213 metres.  

7.3 The character of the site has changed as a result of the approved planning layout. As 
a result, the public footpath no longer serves the same purpose as it once did.  

7.4 The new route will provide an alternative path. The new footpath will be provided in 
accordance with the Local Highway Authority’s Housing Estate Road Specification.  

7.5 The applicant has agreed to undertake the necessary works required to implement 
the proposed new route at their own expense as part of the Section 38 Agreement.  

7.6 The rights of statutory undertakers will not be affected. Subsection 2 of the act is 
therefore satisfied. 

7.7 The proposal is not considered to be in conflict with the provisions of the Equality 
Act 2010 because there will be no limitations to public use such as gates or steps on 
the proposed route. 

Page 10



 
 

 

 
 

 www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk 
 

Chief Executive Gillian Beasley 
 

8 Grounds for diversion: Cambridgeshire County Council criteria 
as Highway Authority including Maintenance Liability 

 
8.1 The existing route is 137 metres in length. The proposed route is 76 metres longer at 

213 metres. Pre Application consultation has been undertaken in line with criteria (i) 
of the County Council’s own policy on Public Path Orders. 

 
8.2 The existing path is no longer physically defined on the ground, as it has been 

subsumed by the housing development. However, the path has an active Temporary 
Traffic Regulation Order (TTRO) which legally allow the developer to close the 
existing route whilst construction works are ongoing. Therefore in these 
circumstances, it is recommended that the requirement of criteria ii. should be 
waived by the director on this occasion.  

 
8.3 The Area Rights of Way Officer for South Cambridgeshire has expressed concerns 

that the proposed diversion order, if made, could expose the County Council to an 
unacceptable level of risk. 

 
8.4  This is because, until such time that the Section 38 Agreement has been sealed and 

agreed between both parties or even implemented in full, there cannot be complete 
certainty that the footway onto which this public footpath will be diverted will be 
constructed to the County Council’s adoptable standard as set out in the Housing 
Estate Road Specification.  

 
8.5 There is the potential for a situation to arise whereby a diversion order under the 

TCPA 90 is made and confirmed before the path has been inspected or certified as 
part of the Section 38 process, which would ordinarily transfer maintenance 
liabilities to the County Council. The developer, in line with standard industry 
practice, would not look to construct the footway in line with the agreed 
specification in full until the development has been completed. This is to ensure that 
the surface is not damaged unnecessarily whilst construction vehicles are still on site.  

 
8.6 Therefore, the County Council could choose to delay the making or confirmation of 

any diversion order until such time that full certainty can be provided with regard to 
the completion of the Section 38 Agreement.  

 
8.7 However, the powers contained within the TCPA 1990 are only available to the 

Order-Making Authority to allow a development to be carried out. Where the 
development, in so far as it affects a right of way, is substantially completed before 
the necessary order to divert or extinguish the right of way has been made or 
confirmed, the powers under section 257 of the TCPA to make and confirm orders 
are no longer available. This is because the development, which the order is 
intended to enable, has already been carried out. 

 

Page 11



 
 

 

 
 

 www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk 
 

Chief Executive Gillian Beasley 
 

8.8 If such a development has already been completed or is considered to be 
‘substantially complete’, then it is not possible for an order to be made under section 
257. 

 
8.9 Therefore it is not possible to delay the diversion process until there is certainty that 

the S38 Agreement will proceed, as the powers of diversion would no longer be 
available at that time, by which the development will be considered ‘substantially 
complete’.  

 
8.10 It is therefore considered that if an order is deemed acceptable to the County 

Council, as Local Highway Authority and deemed necessary by South Cambridgeshire 
District Council, as Order Making Authority then an order should be made.  

 
8.11 The made order would be advertised as part of the required process and subject to 

there being no objections, the order should be confirmed. The path will then become 
maintainable at public expense as a result of the order, but only to the standard that 
the path has been constructed to at the time of the order. This would likely be to the 
sub-base type 1 compacted material, similar to a compacted stone or hoggin surface 
which is uncommon across the Rights of Way network.  The path would then be 
‘adopted’ with a higher specification surface once the works associated with the 
Section 38 Agreement had been completed to the satisfaction of the County 
Council’s Highway Development Management Team.  

 
8.12 In the unlikely event that the Section 38 Agreement is never signed, then the path 

will remain maintainable at public expense but to a lesser condition than that 
specified within the Section 38 Agreement.  

 
8.13 The proposed route is not considered to result in a significant additional 

maintenance liability being placed on the County Council in relation to the Right of 
Way. Any increase in liability resulting from the development of the internal road 
network will be assessed and mitigated accordingly by the County Council’s Highway 
Development Management Team in liaison with the developer to ensure that the 
roads are constructed to an adoptable standard. 

 
8.14 As of September 2018, Redrow Homes had requested some changes to the wording 

of the clauses within the Section 38 Agreement which are not acceptable to the Local 
Highway Authority. Discussions are currently ongoing regarding this matter.  

 
8.15 The diverted route of the path forms part of the applicant’s s38 road adoption 

application. The diverted route of the path will become adopted highway once the 
s38 Agreement has been completed.  

 
8.16  It will then no longer fall to be maintained as a public footpath and will instead be 

maintained as part of the County Council’s road network. There are not considered 
to be any maintenance issues with the surface of the proposed diverted route of the 
path, which will be recorded on the County Council’s Road Records and the List of 

Page 12



 
 

 

 
 

 www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk 
 

Chief Executive Gillian Beasley 
 

Streets as a highway maintainable at public expense. It is therefore considered that 
criteria iii., v., vii. and ix. have been met in this instance.  

 
8.17 Once the carriageway has been adopted by the County Council, acting as Local 

Highway Authority, it would look to make a Legal Event Modification Order to 
remove the affected section of path from the Definitive Map and Statement. 

 
8.18 The County Council does not encourage Public Rights of Way to be diverted onto 

estate road footways, however in this case it is considered that there is no other 
alternative route available in the vicinity for footpath No. 5. 

 
8.19  The diversion is of a minor nature and does not propose any new limitations, 

gradients or steps which may affect accessibility or convenience. It is not therefore 
considered that the proposed route would be substantially less convenient to the 
public as a result of the diversion. It is therefore considered that criteria iv. has been 
met in this instance.  

 
8.20 A objection has been raised to the proposal by Cadent Gas, who have apparatus in 

the vicinity of the public footpath. The apparatus in question are actually located 
under the A10 and would be unaffected by this proposal. The County Council has 
written to Cadent Gas to clarify this point but no response has been received. The 
County Council waived the requirement for criteria vi. to be met when coming to its 
decision in September 2018.  

 
8.21 This path would have a recorded width of 2 metres in accordance with County 

Council policy for a footpath. It is therefore considered that criteria viii. has been met 
in this instance.  

 
8.22 This proposal has been assessed against the County Council’s NMU Diversion policy. 

The NMU diversion assessment can be found at Appendix G. This proposal scored a 
total of 15 out of a possible 20 points, representing a score of 75%, exceeding the 
pass mark of 70%. The threshold score for an application to be considered is 14. This 
proposal is clearly beneficial to the landowner whilst being considered to have no 
negative impact on user enjoyment or convenience.    

 

9 Conclusions 
 

9.1 It is considered that the application to divert Public Footpath No.5 Hauxton meets 
the requirements of s.257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

 
9.2 Most of the criteria of the County Council’s own Public Path Order policy have been 

met. However, the requirement for no objections to be received is not met, however 

Page 13



 
 

 

 
 

 www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk 
 

Chief Executive Gillian Beasley 
 

was waived by the County Council in coming to its decision in September 2018 as 
explained in paragraph 8.20.  

10 Recommendation 
 
10.1 That the District Council, as Local Planning Authority gives their approval that the 

proposed diversion of part of Public Footpath No. 5 Hauxton meets the legislative 
tests set out in S257 of the Town and County Planning Act 1990.   

 
10.2 That this approval to be reported to Cambridgeshire County Council, as agents for 

South Cambridgeshire District Council and indicate an order should be made.   
 

 
APPENDICES 
 

A Landowner Application 
B Order Plan 
C South Cambridgeshire Planning Permission (S/0410/15/RM) 
D CCC Assistant Director formal decision – September 2018 
E Consultation responses 
F Site Photographs 
G NMU Diversion Policy Assessment 

 
 

Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



P
age 23



Page 24



  

 

 
 

 

Appeal Decisions 
Hearing held on 14 & 15 April 2016 
Site visit made on 15 April 2016 

by Lesley Coffey  BA Hons BTP MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 

Decision date: 13 June 2016 

 
Appeal Ref A : APP/W0530/W/16/3141984 
Former Bayer Crop Science Site, Cambridge Road, Hauxton, 
Cambridgeshire 
 The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant approval to details required by a condition of a planning 
permission. 

 The appeal is made by Redrow Homes South Midlands against the decision of South 
Cambridgeshire District Council. 

 The application Ref:S/0410/15/RM, dated 6 February 2015, sought approval of details 
pursuant to conditions No 3 of a planning permission Ref: S/2308/06/O, granted on 
12 February 2010. 

 The application was refused by notice dated 21 July 2015. 
 The development proposed is the redevelopment of 8.7 hectares of previously 

developed land for a mix of uses including up to 380 dwellings, up to 4,000 sq metres of 
B1(A) office floorspace, no greater than 250 sq metres ofA1 retail floorspace and the 
provision of open space and associated access engineering works. 

 The details for which approval is sought are: the layout, scale, appearance and 
landscaping in respect of part Phase 3 of the development. 

 

 
Appeal B Ref: APP/W0530/W/16/3142753 
Former Bayer Crop Science Site, Cambridge Road, Hauxton, 
Cambridgeshire 
 The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant approval to details required by a condition of a planning 
permission. 

 The appeal is made by Redrow Homes South Midlands against the decision of South 
Cambridgeshire District Council. 

 The application Ref S/0409/15/RM, dated 9 February 2015, sought approval of details 
pursuant to conditions No 3 of a planning permission: S/2308/06/O, granted on 
12 February 2010. 

 The application was refused by notice dated 22 July 2015. 
 The development proposed is the redevelopment of 8.7 hectares of previously 

developed land for a mix of uses including up to 380 dwellings, up to 4,000 sq metres of 
B1(A) office floorspace, no greater than 250 sq metres ofA1 retail floorspace and the 
provision of open space and associated access engineering works. 

 The details for which approval is sought are: the layout, scale, appearance and 
landscaping in respect of parts of Phase 1 and Phase 3 of the development.  

 

Page 25



Appeal Decisions APP/W0530/W/16/3141984 
 

 
2 

Decision 

Appeal Ref A : APP/W0530/W/16/3141984 

1. The appeal is allowed and the reserved matters are approved, namely the 
layout, scale, appearance and landscaping in respect of part of Phase 3 of the 
development submitted in pursuance of condition No 3 attached to planning 
permission Ref S/2308/06/O, dated 12 February 2010 subject to the conditions 
in the attached schedule. 

 
Appeal B Ref: APP/W0530/W/16/3142753 

2. The appeal is dismissed and approval of the reserved matters is refused, 
namely the layout, scale, appearance and landscaping in respect of parts of 
Phase 1 and Phase 3 details submitted in pursuance of condition 3 attached to 
planning permission Ref S/2308/06/O , dated 12 February 2010. 

Preliminary Matters 

3. As set out above there are two appeals.  Both relate to reserved matters 
pursuant to outline planning permission granted in February 2010 for a mixed 
use development including up to 380 dwellings, up to 4000 square metres of 
office floorspace, up to 250 square metres of retail floorspace, open space and 
associated access engineering works.  Permission for the demolition of the 
previous industrial buildings on the site and the remediation of the land was 
granted under Local Planning Authority reference S/2307/06/F.  I have dealt 
with the appeals separately other than in the case of play space provision, 
where the relevant considerations in respect of both appeals are similar.  

4. Reserved matters in relation to Phase 1 have been approved and construction 
of these dwellings has commenced.  Phase 2 comprises the western part of the 
site south of the access road and it is intended that it will provide 70 extra care 
dwellings.  An application in respect of this part site has been submitted to the 
Council, but has not yet been determined.  The area to the west of the Phase 3 
land is identified for employment purposes.  Neither this, nor the Phase 2 land 
is owned by the appellant.  

5. Appeal A relates to the northern part of the wider site adjacent to the Riddy 
Brook, and is known as Phase 3.  It adjoins phase 1and proposes 14 dwellings. 
Appeal B includes some of the land within Phase 1 in addition to the land within 
Phase 3.  

6. Both sites adjoin Old Mill House, a Grade II listed building.  This forms part of a 
group of listed buildings, including Hauxton Watermill Bridge, Hauxton 
Watermill and the milestone at Hauxton Mill Bridge.  Section 66(1) of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires  that 
when considering whether to grant planning  permission  for development 
which affects a listed building or its setting that special regard should be given 
to the desirability  of preserving the building or its setting or any features  of 
special architectural or historic interest. 

7. In respect of Appeal B, the fifth reason for refusal, stated that there was 
insufficient information submitted to demonstrate that renewable energy 
measures would provide 10% of the energy requirements for the development 

Page 26



Appeal Decisions APP/W0530/W/16/3141984 
 

 
3 

in accordance with condition 8 of the outline planning permission.  During the 
course of the Hearing the Council accepted that the revised energy statement 
approved by the Council SCDC on 3 August 2015, provided sufficient 
information in relation to this matter and that this reason for refusal had been 
adequately addressed.  I share this view. 

8. At the Hearing the appellant submitted additional information in relation to the 
sixth reason for refusal.  This stated that there was insufficient information to 
demonstrate that the proposal would accord with the previously approved 
remediation strategy for the site. The evidence was of a technical nature and 
the Council was provided with an opportunity to seek professional advice on 
this matter.  The Council subsequently confirmed, by letter dated 25 April 
2016, that this matter could be addressed by way of a suitably worded 
condition.  In the light of the evidence submitted to the Hearing I have no 
reason to reach a different conclusion. 

9. The appellant submitted a number of additional plans and documents prior to, 
and at, the Hearing.  The Council was concerned the late submission of some of 
these documents could be prejudicial to its case. The matters addressed in the 
Heritage Statement were directly relevant to the matters in dispute between 
the parties.  It provided an assessment of the impact of Appeal B on the setting 
of the listed building, and aside from some historic maps, did not include any 
substantive new evidence.  The matters addressed within it were matters that 
the Council would reasonably be expected to address at the Hearing, namely 
the significance of the setting of the heritage asset and the effect of the 
proposal on that asset.  Therefore I do not consider that the Council would be 
prejudiced by the submission of this document. 

10. The appellant submitted three street elevations, namely plans number: 15006 
(B) 505 rev A,  5006 (B) 510 rev A and 15006 (B) 500 rev A 1. These show the 
proposals in context and views through the proposal towards Old Mill House.    
I appreciate that the elevations in relation to the extra care housing are based 
on an application which has yet to be determined..  Notwithstanding this, the 
plans were submitted for illustrative purposes and do not alter the nature of 
the submitted scheme, as such they are not prejudicial to the Council.  I have 
taken all of the above information into account in reaching my decision.  

11. Further information was submitted in relation to the open space and play areas 
on the appeal site, including details of the landscape management proposals 
(approved by the Council on 6 November 2015).  This information had all 
previously either been submitted to, or seen by the Council and therefore it 
would not be prejudicial to the Council.  

Main Issues 

Appeal A  

12. I consider the main issues to be :  
 

 Whether the proposal would provide the high quality public realm sought by 
development plan and national planning policies, with particular regard to 
the layout of the site and views of Old Mill House;  

 Whether the proposal would provide satisfactory living conditions for future 
occupants with particular regard to privacy and overlooking; and 

Page 27



Appeal Decisions APP/W0530/W/16/3141984 
 

 
4 

 Whether the proposal would make satisfactory provision for children’s play 
space.  

Appeal B  

13. I consider the main issues to be:  
 

 The effect of the proposal on the setting of Old Mill House; 

 Whether the proposal would deliver the high quality design sought by 
development plan and national planning policies, and its effect on the 
character and appearance of the surrounding area; 

 Whether the proposal would provide satisfactory living conditions for future 
occupants with particular reference to outlook, sunlight and amenity space;  

 Whether the proposal would make satisfactory provision for parking; and  

 Whether the proposal would make satisfactory provision for children’s play 
space.  

Reasons 

Appeal A 

Design 

14. The site is located towards the north western part of the site, adjacent to Riddy 
Brook and to the west of Old Mill House.  The proposal is for two storey 
dwellings similar in style to the dwellings under-construction on Phase 1.  It is 
a roughly triangular site and fronts the main estate access road, Riddy Brook, 
and an internal estate road.  Dwellings 9 & 10 would face towards the main 
estate road and are situated forward of the building line of the proposed 
dwellings on plots 5-8.   

15. The proposed estate road and footpath show a uniform alignment along the 
majority of their length and this is reflected by the proposed dwellings at plots 
39-42 and 5-8.  The proposed dwellings 9 and 10 would be no closer to the 
highway than the previously permitted apartment block B which is situated 
immediately to the south of unit 39.  Due to the alignment of the road Old Mill 
House would be a focal point in views from the south.  The proposed dwellings 
on plots 9 and 10 would not obstruct these views. 

16. The flank elevation of dwelling 9 would be noticeable in views from along the 
length of the access road.  Dwellings 9 and 10 would be of an Arts and Craft 
style design, with a varied roof form.  The flank elevation would be relieved by 
the proposed windows, and brick detailing to the ground floor, as well as the 
porch area to dwelling 9.  The arrangement of the buildings would be 
consistent with the masterplan submitted at the time of the outline application.  
This shows a varied building line along this part of the access road in a manner 
that is not dissimilar from the proposed layout. 

17. The proposed parking would be located to the side and rear of dwellings 9 and 
10 and would allow a more substantial area of landscaping to the front of these 
dwellings.  It would therefore provide some visual relief from the frontage 
parking which characterises the proposed dwellings to the south.  The Council 

Page 28



Appeal Decisions APP/W0530/W/16/3141984 
 

 
5 

suggest that this arrangement is inconsistent with the Design and Access 
Statement (DAS) which accompanied the outline application.  Amongst other 
matters this sought to ensure that Old Mill House could be viewed from central 
locations within the development and that proposals respected the alignment of 
Mill Lane and the access to the Mill and Riddy Brook Bridge.   

18. The alignment of the access road is similar to that shown on the masterplan 
within the design and access statement.  The principal difference is that the 
turning head and access to the employment site has enabled the most northern 
part of the access road to align with Riddy Brook Bridge.  The alignment of the 
access road would permit views of Old Mill House from the central part of the 
overall site in a similar manner to that shown on the masterplan.   

19. The flank elevation of dwelling 14 would face towards Riddy Brook.  This 
boundary would be enclosed by way of a brick wall and the submitted 
landscape scheme indicates substantial landscaping in this area. The Council 
approved a similar arrangement in respect of dwelling 103 which forms part of 
Phase 1.  In my view this dwelling would not contribute to a poor urban 
environment.  

20. The vehicular access to dwellings 1-4 would also extend along the boundary 
with the public open space adjacent to Riddy Brook.  The parking spaces and 
garages associated with these dwellings would be set back behind the 
dwellings.  An area of landscaping would separate the access from the footpath 
by a distance of between 3 and 6 metres.  The submitted landscape scheme 
includes planting to this frontage and would separate it from the wildflower 
area adjacent to the brook.  Therefore whilst the access road and parking areas 
may be noticeable from the footpath, it would not be unduly dominant.  
Moreover, I note that the Council has approved a similar arrangement in 
several other locations throughout the development, including at units 15-19. 

21. The Council consider that the parking spaces and garage between units 4 and 5 
are not well integrated with the street scene.  The boundaries between the rear 
gardens of these properties and the street would be enclosed by a brick wall.  
The proposed landscaping adjacent to unit 5 would be modest in extent.  
Notwithstanding this, these dwellings would be situated opposite a terrace of 4 
dwellings, and when viewed in the context of the street scene as a whole, 
including the area of landscaping adjacent to dwelling 15, I consider that the 
proposal would provide a satisfactory public realm.   

22. I conclude that the proposal would provide the high quality public realm as 
sought by policy DP/2 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Development 
Framework Development Control Policies DPD (adopted 2007) which seeks a 
high quality of design in all new development, and the National Planning Policy 
Framework(NPPF). 

Living Conditions 

23. The Council is concerned that future occupants of the proposed dwellings would 
be subject to an unacceptable degree of overlooking and poor levels of privacy 
due to inadequate back to back distances between some of the dwellings.  

24. Amongst other matters, policy DP/3 requires proposals to avoid harm to 
residential amenity.  More detailed guidance is provided by paragraph 6.68 of 
the District Design Guide: High Quality and Sustainable Development in South 

Page 29



Appeal Decisions APP/W0530/W/16/3141984 
 

 
6 

Cambridgeshire Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) (adopted 2010) 
specifies a minimum distance of 25 metres between rear or side building faces 
containing habitable rooms.  It explains that this distance can be reduced 
where the alignment of opposing windows is significantly off-set. 

25. The distance between dwellings 10 and 1 would be about 21 metres.  Whilst 
this falls short of the requirement specified within the SPD, these dwellings are 
significantly off-set from each other and direct views would be mitigated to 
some extent by the intervening garage to unit 1.  Dwellings 8 and 2 would be 
separated by a distance of about 23 metres, but would be significantly off-set 
from each other, and would therefore comply with the guidance within the SPD.  
I am satisfied that there would be sufficient separation to ensure that the 
future occupants of these dwellings would enjoy an acceptable standard of 
privacy. 

26. The SPD specifies a minimum separation of 12 metres between any blank walls 
and any neighbouring windows that are directly opposite.  Dwelling 11 would 
face towards the end of the rear garden of number 1, whilst dwelling 12 would 
be separated from the flank elevation of the single storey garage of the same 
property by a distance of 10.4 metres.  Whilst this falls short of the standard 
within the SPD, having regard to the pitched roof of the garage there is no 
evidence to suggest that this arrangement would give rise to any significant 
loss of privacy to the occupants of either dwelling. 

27. Whilst in some instances the proposal would fail to achieve the separation 
distances recommended by the SPD, the proposed dwellings would 
nevertheless accord with its aim in that future occupants would benefit from an 
acceptable level of privacy.  I therefore conclude that he proposal would 
provide satisfactory living conditions for future occupants and would not conflict 
with policy DP/3. 

Appeal B 

28. Appeal B is put forward as an alternative to part of phase 1 and phase3.  
Together with the dwellings in the remainder of Phase 1 there would be a total 
of 285 dwellings. 

Effect of the proposal on the setting of the listed building 

29. Old Mill House dates from about 1700.  It is a two storey, L- shaped building 
with an attic.  The significance of the building is derived from its 18 century 
vernacular architecture and its historical interest as part of the group of 
buildings which include the mill race and river.  It is these buildings and 
features that make the greatest contribution towards the setting of the 
building. 

30. Historically the Mill House would have been viewed in the context of the 
farmhouse and farm buildings on the site, and it is probable that these would 
have screened views of the building from the south.  These buildings were 
replaced by the chemical works which were in place from about the 1940s until 
recently.  Based on historical photographs, it would seem that the chemical 
works included a number of large buildings, many of which had the appearance 
of industrial sheds.  A tarmac parking area extended up to the main elevation 
of the listed building.  Whilst these buildings would have replaced the historic 

Page 30



Appeal Decisions APP/W0530/W/16/3141984 
 

 
7 

setting building and would have has a considerable negative effect on its 
setting, they have been removed as part of the redevelopment of the site.  

31. At the present time the appeal site is a cleared site.  Whilst it permits views 
towards the listed building, it does not contribute to its architectural or historic 
significance. 

32. The appeal scheme proposes 4 blocks of flats, each 3 storeys high and 
arranged either side of the access road.  The proposed apartments would be 
located between 40 -60 metres to the south of the building.  The intervening 
area to the east would be occupied by an area of open space, whilst to the 
west the area would be occupied by employment land.  The arrangement of the 
buildings would provide a vista towards Old Mill House. 

33. Due to the position of the blocks and their size, the open space would not form 
part of the vista and would only be apparent in closer views.  The scale of the 
buildings would greatly exceed that of Old Mill House.  Due to the height, 
length and massing of the proposed buildings they would dominate views from 
Old Mill House.   

34. Notwithstanding this, due to the trees adjacent to the Riddy Brook and those of 
the north side of the brook, the proposed flats would not have a significant 
effect on the setting of the listed mill building.  The open space and the 
footpath to the south east of Old Mill House would considerably enhance views 
of the listed building from the proposed footpath adjacent to the brook and 
from the existing public footpath adjacent to Riddy Brook.     

35. Whilst the proposed buildings would not be sympathetic in scale to the listed 
buildings, they would represent a significant enhancement by comparison with 
the building previously on the site and the site at the present time.  It would 
not harm the historic or architectural significance of the building.  Having 
regard to the proposed open space and the distance of the flats from the listed 
buildings, I consider that overall the proposal would enhance the setting of the 
listed buildings by comparison with the existing situation, or the previous 
chemical works.  I therefore conclude that the proposal would not harm the 
setting of Old Mill House. 

Design  

36. The proposal would comprise 4 ‘L-shaped’  blocks arranged in a rectangular 
formation thereby forming a semi-enclosed courtyard area which the Council 
describe as a ‘hollow square’.  Blocks A and B would be separated from C and D 
by an estate road which would provide access to the future employment land.  
A footpath would provide a pedestrian link with Riddy Brook Bridge.  The blocks 
would be located to the north of the access road and would extend from 
Cambridge Road (the A10) up to the proposed public open space adjacent to 
Riddy Brook. 

37. The blocks would be 3 storeys high with curved aluminium roofs and brick and  
render elevations.  They would incorporate projecting balconies and roof 
detailing at the corners which would provide visual interest and reduce the bulk 
of the buildings.  Parking would be located within a semi-basement area.  A 
single storey cycle storage building would be used to link blocks A and B and a 
further cycle store would link blocks C and D.  The cycle stores would screen 

Page 31



Appeal Decisions APP/W0530/W/16/3141984 
 

 
8 

views of the access to the parking area and the surface parking from outside of 
the development. 

38. The proposal would be substituted for part of Phase 1, the remainder of which 
comprises predominantly 2 and 3 storey detached houses.  The appeal site 
would be separated from these dwellings by the play area and ecological area, 
and would be located to the north of the access to the site.  It would be 
adjoined by phase 2, which it is intended would provide extra care housing.  

39. There is an application before the Council in relation to this part of the site, 
which shows a part 3/part 4 storey high, linear building, similar in style to the 
appeal scheme.  Whilst the weight to be afforded to this current application is 
limited, in that there is no certainty that it will be approved, given the nature of 
the proposed use, the outline permission for the site, and the requirement 
within the s106 to provide 70 extra care dwellings, I consider that it is probable 
that any scheme in relation to the extra care housing is likely to be 3 or more 
storeys high. 

40. The Council consider that the appeal site occupies a sensitive rural location 
close to the Green Belt, and due to the contemporary style of proposed 
apartments would not relate to Phase 1 or the existing development within 
Hauxton Village. Policy DP/2 seeks a high quality of design in all development, 
including a good interrelationship between buildings, routes and spaces.  I 
consider this approach to be consistent with paragraph 57 of the NPPF which 
confirms that it is important to plan positively for the achievement of high 
quality and inclusive design for all development, including individual buildings, 
public and private spaces and wider area development schemes.  Whilst 
amongst other matters paragraph 58 states planning decisions should aim to 
ensure that developments should establish a strong sense of place, using 
streetscapes and buildings to create attractive and comfortable places to live, 
work and visit; and  are visually attractive as a result of good architecture and 
appropriate landscaping. 

41. Whilst the wider site extends close to the village boundary, the appeal site is 
separated from the village by a considerable distance.  Having regard to the 
intervening dwellings which comprise part of Phase 1, I consider that the 
proposal would have no appreciable impact on the character or setting of 
Hauxton Village and therefore in this regard it would not conflict with policy 
DP/3.  Having regard to the previous development on the site, and the DAS I 
do not consider that the appeal site occupies a particularly sensitive location.  
It would be separated from the houses to the south by the play area and 
access road.  I therefore consider that a change in the scale and form of 
development on this part of the site is not unacceptable in principle, provided it 
delivers the high quality design sought by policy DP/2 and the NPPF.  

42. Although blocks A and B would have a combined length of 85 metres, in views 
from the A10, due to the separation provided by the cycle store, they would 
appear as two distinct blocks.  The splayed corner feature to each block would 
reduce the apparent length of the blocks as perceived from the A10.   

43. The corner of Block C would extend almost up to the footpath adjacent to Riddy 
Brook.  The ground floor of this block would be elevated above the ground 
level, nevertheless, I consider that the height and proximity of block C to the 
footpath would provide an uncomfortably close relationship for both the 
occupants of these dwellings and those using the footpath.  Through the 

Page 32



Appeal Decisions APP/W0530/W/16/3141984 
 

 
9 

creation of a pinch point block C would interrupt the natural flow of the 
surrounding open space, and would appear as a cramped form of development.  
It would significantly impair the quality of the proposed public open space 
adjacent to Riddy Brook.  

44. The arrangement of the blocks would provide external elevations towards Old 
Mill House, Riddy Brook, the A10 and the housing development to the south.  
The area enclosed by the blocks would provide the amenity area for future 
occupants, and would be bisected by the estate road.  This arrangement would 
provide views towards Old Mill House and the future employment area.  Whilst 
these views would add interest, access to the car parks, the courtyard parking 
and bin stores would detract from these views.  These elements appear to be 
unrelated to the form or layout of the proposal rather than an integral part of 
the design.  Overall, the proposal by virtue of scale and arrangement of the 
blocks the proposal would provide a poor quality public realm and amenity 
space.  

45. I therefore conclude that and would fail to deliver the high quality public realm 
sought by the NPPF and policy DP/2.  

Living Conditions 

46. The opposing north-south windows within this courtyard would face towards 
each other, but would be separated by a distance of about 50 metres, whilst 
the east –west windows would be separated by a distance of about 68 metres.  
In both cases this would considerably exceed the separation distance specified 
by the SPD and occupants of these flats would not be subject to overlooking 
from windows opposite.  Due to the form of the individual blocks there is 
potential for some overlooking between flats, however, the internal the 
arrangement of the flats and the interruption to views provided by balconies 
would avoid any casual overlooking between dwellings. 

47. The floor level of the ground floor flats would be elevated above the courtyard 
level by about half a storey.  Therefore anyone approaching the flats on foot 
would not have a view into the ground floor dwellings.   

48. The majority of the proposed flats would be single aspect.  A number of the 
flats within Blocks A and B would face towards the A10.  However beyond the 
A10 the occupants of these dwellings would overlook open land.  The outlook 
from these dwellings would be comparable with some of the previously 
approved dwellings in Apartment block A and would provide an acceptable level 
of amenity. 

49. The flats facing towards the courtyard would be separated from the proposed 
parking area by a distance of between 7 metres and 16 metres, although in 
some cases there would be intervening refuse storage buildings.  The access to 
the potential employment land would also pass between the proposed blocks. 

50. A number of the proposed dwellings would be north facing, with an outlook 
towards the courtyard, employment land or open space.  Due to the height of 
the proposed buildings, some of the amenity areas and dwellings would be  
overshadowed for a significant amount of the day.   

51. Overall, the scheme would fail to provide an adequate visual or recreational 
amenity area for future residents.  I acknowledge that north facing dwellings 
are not unacceptable in principle.  Nonetheless, many of the proposed 

Page 33



Appeal Decisions APP/W0530/W/16/3141984 
 

 
10 

dwellings are single aspect, and the poor outlook and aspect of some of these 
dwellings, and together with the overshadowing to the amenity areas would 
combine to provide unsatisfactory living conditions.   

52. For the most part there would be sufficient space around the outer elevations 
of the proposed buildings to provide an adequate standard of privacy for those 
wishing to use their balconies, although in some instances it may be necessary 
to modify the landscape scheme in order to provide an appropriate buffer.  
However, the corner of Block C would extend very close to the proposed public 
footpath and the pinch point created by the footprint of the building would be 
likely to significantly impair the privacy and amenity of the occupants of these 
flats.   

53. I therefore conclude that the proposal would fail to provide satisfactory living 
conditions for future occupants and would conflict with NPPF paragraph 57 
which seeks a high quality and inclusive design for all development, including 
public and private spaces. 

Parking 

54. DPD Policy DP/3 requires car parking appropriate to the nature, scale and 
economic viability of the proposal to be kept to a minimum.  Policy TR/2 
requires parking to be provided in accordance with maximum standards, which 
in the case of the appeal scheme would require an average of 1.5 spaces per 
dwelling and would equate to 198 spaces as against the 170 currently 
proposed.  

55. The Council consider that the site is poorly located in terms of services and 
facilities and does not benefit from good transport links.  Therefore it submits 
that provision should be made for 183 parking spaces together with an 
additional allowance for visitors.  

56. The appeal site is situated on the edge of a village, a short distance from the 
Trumpington Park and Ride.  The appeal scheme includes provision for a cycle 
route to the Park and Ride.  In addition, the s106 Agreement in relation to the 
outline permission provides for a subsidised shuttle bus service from the appeal 
site to the Park and Ride site.  The service will operate until late evening 
Monday to Saturday.  There is a shop and primary school within the village, 
and provision for a potential shop within the appeal scheme.  There will also be 
future employment opportunities on the wider site, within the employment land 
area and also within the extra care housing.  I therefore do not consider the 
site to be particularly isolated from services, facilities or employment.  The 
location of the site, together with the shuttle bus service will promote 
sustainable patterns of travel and future residents will not be reliant on the use 
of a car for their journeys. 

57. The proposal would not provide the maximum level of parking sought by policy 
TR/2, however, paragraph 29 of the NPPF states that the transport system 
needs to be balanced in favour of sustainable transport modes, giving people a 
real choice about how they travel.  In my view the location of the appeal site, 
together with the shuttle bus, would provide future residents with a range of 
sustainable travel choices.  I therefore conclude that the proposal would make 
adequate provision for parking and would be consistent with the aim of policy 
DP/3 and the NPPF. 

Page 34



Appeal Decisions APP/W0530/W/16/3141984 
 

 
11 

Play Space 

58. The Council considers that neither proposal makes adequate provision for 
children’s play space.  Policy SF/11 and Local Development Framework Open 
Space in New Developments SPD (Adopted 2009) both set out requirements for 
the provision of open space.  Policy SF/11 requires the provision of 0.8 
hectares of children’s play space per 1,000 people, whereas the requirement 
within the SPD is based on the size of the dwelling and gives rise to a higher 
overall requirement by comparison with policy SF/11.   

59. An SPD can be used to provide further guidance on particular issues, such as 
the provision of open space.  It is therefore capable of being a material 
consideration in planning decisions.  Nevertheless, an SPD is not part of the 
development plan and the policies and guidance within it should not conflict 
with the development plan.  Therefore the open space requirements within the 
SPD cannot replace those within the adopted Local Plan. 

60. The Council’s play space requirement is based on the size of the proposed 
dwellings, whereas the appellant’s calculations are based on the level of 
provision set out at Local Plan policy SF/11.  For the reasons given above, I 
prefer the appellant’s calculations.  

61. The appellant’s calculations indicate that Appeal A would require the provision 
0.268 hectares of children’s play space in respect of the 14 dwellings proposed.  
When taken together with the previously permitted dwellings on the wider site 
the requirement would increase to 0.4303 hectares.  Appeal B would require 
the provision of 0.1422 hectares for the proposed flats.  Together with the 153 
dwellings on Phase 1 there would be an overall requirement for 0.4938 
hectares.   

62. The open space plans submitted by the appellant indicate that a total of 0.5636 
hectares would be provided in the case of scheme A and 0.98 hectares in the 
case of scheme B.  In both cases the level of provision exceeds that required 
by the development plan. 

63. The Council is also critical of the quality of the play space provided.  The play 
area within scheme A is located adjacent to Riddy Brook and adjoins the play 
space provided within Phase 1.  It is overlooked by family dwellings and is 
linked by a footpath to the equipped play area (LEAP) and the kick-about area.  

64. In terms of scheme B, the play area would wrap around the proposed flats.  I 
agree with the Council that the areas adjacent to blocks A and B would not 
provide good quality play space due to their size, proximity to the A10, the 
access road to the development and the employment land.  Nonetheless, even 
if these areas are excluded from the appellant’s calculations the proposed play 
space would still substantially exceed the requirements of policy SF/11. 

65. The majority of the play space would wrap around blocks C and D.  They would 
be generous in size and would include an informal beach area adjacent to Riddy 
Brook.  It would relate well to the play space provided within Phase 1 and other 
recreational land close to the appeal site.  The Council suggest that the area is 
not overlooked by family dwellings, however the proposal includes a number of 
two bedroom flats and the proposed play space would meet the needs of 
children within these flats as well as other children within the development. 

Page 35



Appeal Decisions APP/W0530/W/16/3141984 
 

 
12 

66. Overall, I conclude that both schemes would make satisfactory provision for 
children’s play space and would comply with Local Plan policy SF/11. 

 Overall Conclusion - Appeal A  

67. I have found the appeal proposal to be acceptable in terms of design and 
layout, living conditions for future occupants.  The proposal would also make 
acceptable provision for children’s play space.  I conclude that the proposal 
would comply with the development plan as a whole and would be consistent 
with the outline permission.  I therefore conclude the appeal should be allowed. 

 Overall Conclusion - Appeal B 

68. The proposal would not harm the setting of Old Mill House.  It would also make 
adequate provision for car parking and children’s play space.  As acknowledged 
by the Council, it would make satisfactory provision for renewable energy.  The 
proposal would also deliver benefits in terms of additional housing and would 
permit the completion of development on a site that requires substantial 
remediation.  These considerations add weight in favour of the proposal.  

69. However, the proposal would fail to deliver the high quality design sought by 
national and local planning policies and would not provide satisfactory living 
conditions for future residents.  Furthermore, the delivery of housing and the 
remediation works could be provided by an alternative scheme which would not 
give rise to the harm identified above.  

70. The NPPF sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable development.  
Paragraph 6 explains that regard must be had to the Framework as a whole in 
determining what the concept of sustainability means in practice.  The appeal 
site is accessible to a range of services and facilities, and residents would not 
be unduly reliant on the use of their cars.  The proposal would also allow the 
completion of development on a site which requires remediation, and would 
contribute to the supply of housing.   

71. Economically, the development would bring short-term advantages in respect 
of jobs.  In the longer term it would increase household spending in the area, 
and would support economic growth through the provision of housing and the 
creation of jobs in local services to meet the additional demands arising from 
the development. 

72. The proposal would contribute to the social role of sustainability through the 
through the provision of open space.  Notwithstanding this, the NPPF is clear 
that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is indivisible from 
good planning and should contribute positively to making places better for 
people.  For the reasons given above, the proposal would fail to deliver a high 
quality public realm sought by local and national planning policies.  

73. The Council acknowledges that it is unable to demonstrate a five year supply of 
housing land.  In these circumstances paragraph 49 of the NPPF states that the 
relevant policies for housing should not be considered up to date.  However, in 
the case of the appeal proposal, the principle of the residential development of 
the site is acceptable and there is no alleged conflict with policies for the supply 
of housing.   

74. The NPPF is clear that permission should be refused for development of poor 
design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the character 

Page 36



Appeal Decisions APP/W0530/W/16/3141984 
 

 
13 

and quality of an area and the way it functions.  Looked at in the round, I 
conclude that the proposal does not represent sustainable development. 
Therefore the presumption in favour of sustainable development at paragraph 
14 of the NPPF does not apply. 

75. Taking account of all relevant material considerations, including that the 
housing land supply situation, I conclude that the appeal should be dismissed.  

Conditions  Appeal A 

76. I have considered the suggested conditions in the light of discussions at the 
Hearing, the advice at paragraphs 203 and 206 of the NPPF and the PPG.  I 
agree that the parking and turning areas should be provided before the 
dwellings associated with them are occupied in order to ensure adequate 
parking provision within the development.  In the interests of sustainability I 
agree that the cycle parking should be provided prior to the occupation of the 
dwellings.  A Construction Method Statement is required in order to limit the 
impact of the proposed construction works on the surrounding area, including 
the highway network. 

77. Plan numbers 15006(D) 048 rev B, 15006(D) 073 rev B and 15006(D) 075 do 
not reflect the changes to the layout of the site.  Therefore with the exception 
of plan number 15006(D) 048 rev B, which is a coloured version of the layout, 
a condition is necessary to require the elements shown on these plans, namely 
the boundaries plan and the parking plan to site to accord with the revised 
layout.   

78. Details of the proposed materials are shown on the submitted plans therefore 
as separate condition requiring the submission of these details is not 
necessary.  I have included a condition specifying the relevant drawings as this 
provided certainty. 

Conclusion 

Appeal Ref A : APP/W0530/W/16/3141984 

79. For the reasons given I conclude that the appeal should succeed. 
 
Appeal B Ref: APP/W0530/W/16/3142753 

80. For the reasons given above I conclude that the appeal should be dismissed. 

Lesley Coffey  
INSPECTOR 

 

 

 

Page 37



Appeal Decisions APP/W0530/W/16/3141984 
 

 
14 

 
APPEARANCES 
 
FOR THE APPELLANT: 

Peter Goatley  
David Bainbridge 
Julian Buttel 
Rob Bourn 
Melissa Balk 

Of Counsel 
Planning Partner Bidwells 
Coles Architect 
Orion Heritage 
Planner Bidwells 

 
FOR THE LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY: 

Sarah Ballantyne Way 
Stuart Reid 

SBW  
Solicitor South Cambridge District Council  

 
 
INTERESTED PERSONS: 
Juliette Wilson  
 
DOCUMENTS SUBMITTED AT THE HEARING 
 
1 Letter dated 6 March 2016 notifying interested parties of 

arrangements for the Hearing  
2 
 
3 
4 
 
5 
 
6 
 
7 
8 
9 

Committee Reports dated August and December 2009 submitted 
by appellant  
Heritage Statement submitted by appellant   
Modification to Planning Obligation dated 10 March 2016 
submitted by appellant   
Modification to Planning Obligation dated 24 November 2014 
submitted by appellant  
Front cover to Planning Statement dated November 2008 
submitted by appellant  
Schedule of open space requirement submitted by appellant  
Energy Statement Rev C submitted by appellant  
Forest of Dean DC v SoSCLG and Gladman Developments Ltd 
submitted by appellant  

 
DOCUMENTS  
 
DOCUMENTS SUBMITTED FOLLOWING THE HEARING 
1 List of suggested planning conditions submitted by Council  
2 
 
3 
 
4 
 
5 

Email dated 25 April 2016 regarding play space submitted by 
Council  
Letter dated 27 April 2016 regarding play space submitted by 
appellant 
Email dated 13 May 2016 regarding play space submitted by 
Council  
Email dated 13 May 2016 regarding play space submitted by 
appellant  
 

 
 

Page 38



Appeal Decisions APP/W0530/W/16/3141984 
 

 
15 

PLANS 
 
A 
B 

Plan no 15006(D)0055   Back to Back distances (Appeal A) 
Plan No 15006(D) 056A  Back to Back distances ( Phase 1)  

 

Page 39



Appeal Decisions APP/W0530/W/16/3141984 
 

 
16 

Appeal Ref A : APP/W0530/W/16/3141984 

Schedule of Conditions 
 
 

1) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans: 15006(D) 040 Rev B, 15006(D) 
041,15006(D) 047 Rev F, 15006(D) 074 Rev B, 15006(D) 077 Rev D, 
15006(D) Rev, 15006(D) 078 Rev D, 15006(D) 080 Rev D, 15006(D)200 
Rev C,15006(D)  1050 Rev A, 15006(D) 1053 Rev A, 15006(D) 1054 Rev 
A, 15006(D) 3127 Rev A, 15006(D)  3131 Rev A, 15006(D) 3140 Rev A, 
15006(D) 3141 Rev A, 15006(D) 3142 Rev A, 15006(D) 4080 Rev A, 
15006(D) 4081 Rev A, 15006(D) 4082 Rev A , 11-0515/INF/85 Rev P2 
and 11563 

2) The buildings, hereby permitted, shall not be occupied until parking and 
turning space has been laid out within the site in accordance with Plans 
ref: 15006(D)047 Rev F. 

3) No development shall commence until a method statement has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
detailing the process for construction and any effects this may have on 
the adopted public highway.  Details shall include: 

 A scheme for the control, of mud, debris, dust on the adopted 
highway; 

 Pedestrian and vehicle movements and the control of contractors 
parking; 

 A routing agreement for site deliveries; 
 Timing of deliveries to the site; 
 Location of storage materials; and 
 Point of access to the site (for construction purposes). 

 

The development shall thereafter be constructed and completed in 
accordance with the approved method statement unless otherwise agreed 
in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 

4) Notwithstanding the details shown on plans 15006(D) 073 Rev B and 
15006(D) 075, the layout of the scheme shall accord with layout shown 
on plan number 15006(D)047 Rev F. 

5) The buildings, hereby permitted, shall not be occupied until covered and 
secure cycle parking has been provided within the site in accordance with 
Plan refs: 15006(D) 047 Rev F and 15006(D) 1054 Rev A  

 

Page 40



 
 

 

 
 
 

 www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk 
 

Chief Executive Gillian Beasley 
 

 
 

 
 

 
HIGHWAYS 

MEMORANDUM 
 

To  : James Stringer 
   Asset Information Definitive Map Officer  
From  : Richard Lumley 
   Assistant Director, Highways 
Date  : 12/09/18 
Reference  : P079 
SUBJECT : Proposed diversion of Public Footpath No. 5 Hauxton  
 
With reference to your report of 11th September, I agree with your recommendation that the proposed 
diversion of Public Footpath No. 5 Hauxton is acceptable to Cambridgeshire County Council as Local 
Highway Authority.  
 
This approval should be reported to South Cambridgeshire District Council as Local Planning Authority 
for a final decision. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 41



1

Stringer James

From: Kumar, Krishnaraj <Krishnaraj.Kumar@atkinsglobal.com>
Sent: 16 May 2018 05:38
To: Stringer James
Subject: No Objection: Proposal to Divert Public Footpath No. 5 Hauxton
Attachments: 1133990-517299.pdf; 2017-07-21 Hauxton 5 Plan.pdf; 2018-05-15 Consultation - 

Utilities.pdf

ꢀ
ꢀ
DearꢀSirs,ꢀ
 

NewꢀRoadsꢀandꢀStreetꢀWorksꢀActꢀ1991ꢀ
StoppingꢀUpꢀOrderꢀ/ꢀFootpathꢀDiversionꢀ/ꢀExtinguishmentꢀ/ꢀGatingꢀOrderꢀ

ꢀ
NoꢀObjectionꢀ

ꢀ
Weꢀreferꢀtoꢀtheꢀbelowꢀorꢀattachedꢀorderꢀandꢀconfirmꢀthatꢀweꢀhaveꢀnoꢀobjectionsꢀ

ꢀ
PleaseꢀemailꢀStoppingꢀUpsꢀtoꢀosm.enquiries@atkinsglobal.comꢀ

Toꢀenableꢀusꢀtoꢀprocessꢀyourꢀapplicationꢀasꢀquicklyꢀasꢀpossible,ꢀpleaseꢀensureꢀyouꢀincludeꢀGridꢀReferences.ꢀ
ꢀ
AꢀcopyꢀofꢀtheꢀCableꢀandꢀWirelessꢀprocessꢀ4461ꢀ'SpecialꢀRequirementsꢀrelatingꢀtoꢀtheꢀexternalꢀplantꢀnetworkꢀofꢀCableꢀandꢀWirelessꢀUKꢀServicesꢀLtd'ꢀisꢀavailableꢀ
onꢀrequest.ꢀTheꢀprocessꢀprovidesꢀguidanceꢀonꢀworkingꢀinꢀtheꢀvicinityꢀofꢀCableꢀandꢀWireless'sꢀapparatus.ꢀ

 
IMPORTANT - PLEASE READ = Your Next Step?:- 
Where apparatus is affected and requires diversion, please send all the scheme related proposals that affects the Vodafone Network to 
c3requests@vodafone.com with a request for a 'C3 Budget Estimate'.  Please ensure you include a plan showing proposed works.  (A 
location plan is insufficient for Vodafone to provide a costing).  These estimates will be provided by Vodafone directly, normally within 
20 working days from receipt of your request.  Please include proof of this C2 response when requesting a C3 (using the ‘forward’ 
option).  Diversionary works may be necessary if the existing line of the highway/railway or its levels are altered.  ꢀ
 
 
Plant Enquiries Team 
T: +44 (0)1454 662881 
E: osm.enquiries@atkinsglobal.com 
ꢀ

ATKINS working on behalf of Vodafone: Fixed  
 
This response is made only in respect to electronic communications apparatus forming part of the Vodafone Limited 
electronic communications network formerly being part of the electronic communications networks of Cable & Wireless 
UK, Energis Communications Limited, Thus Group Holdings Plc and Your Communications Limited. 

PLEASE NOTE: 

The information given is indicative only.  No warranty is made as to its accuracy.  This information must not be solely relied upon in the 
event of excavation or other works carried out in the vicinity of Vodafone plant.  No liability of any kind whatsoever is accepted by 
Vodafone, its servants, or agents, for any error or omission in respect of information contained on this information.  The actual position 
of underground services must be verified and established on site before any mechanical plant is used.  Authorities and contractors will 
be held liable for the full cost of repairs to Vodafone's apparatus and all claims made against them by Third parties as a result of any 
interference or damage. 

Please consider the environment before printing this e-mailꢀ
ꢀ

Page 42



2

From:ꢀStringerꢀJamesꢀ[mailto:James.Stringer@cambridgeshire.gov.uk]ꢀꢀ
Sent:ꢀ15ꢀMayꢀ2018ꢀ17:04ꢀ
Subject:ꢀProposalꢀtoꢀDivertꢀPublicꢀFootpathꢀNo.ꢀ5ꢀHauxtonꢀ
ꢀ
DearꢀSirꢀorꢀMadam,ꢀꢀ
ꢀ
CambridgeshireꢀCountyꢀCouncilꢀisꢀconsultingꢀonꢀaꢀproposalꢀtoꢀdivertꢀPublicꢀFootpathꢀNo.ꢀ5ꢀHauxton.ꢀThisꢀ
proposalꢀisꢀbeingꢀconsideredꢀunderꢀsectionꢀ257ꢀofꢀtheꢀTownꢀandꢀCountryꢀPlanningꢀActꢀ1990.ꢀPleaseꢀfindꢀ
attachedꢀaꢀconsultationꢀletterꢀandꢀproposalꢀplans.ꢀꢀ
ꢀ
Pleaseꢀletꢀmeꢀknowꢀanyꢀcommentsꢀbyꢀ12thꢀJuneꢀ2018.ꢀIfꢀthisꢀtimescaleꢀcausesꢀyouꢀdifficultyꢀthenꢀpleaseꢀ
contactꢀme.ꢀꢀ
ꢀ
KindꢀRegards,ꢀꢀ
ꢀ
JamesꢀStringerꢀ
AssetꢀInformationꢀDefinitiveꢀMapꢀOfficerꢀ
AssetꢀInformation,ꢀBoxꢀNo.ꢀSTA2101,ꢀCambridgeshireꢀCountyꢀCouncil,ꢀStantonꢀWayꢀDepot,ꢀHuntingdon,ꢀ
PE29ꢀ6PYꢀ
DirectꢀDial:ꢀ01223ꢀ715520ꢀ/ꢀContactꢀCentre:ꢀ0345ꢀ045ꢀ5212ꢀ

ꢀ
ꢀ
ꢀ
ꢀ
ꢀ
ꢀ
Theꢀinformationꢀinꢀthisꢀemailꢀisꢀconfidentialꢀandꢀmayꢀbeꢀlegallyꢀprivileged.ꢀItꢀisꢀintendedꢀsolelyꢀforꢀtheꢀaddressee.ꢀIfꢀ
youꢀreceiveꢀthisꢀemailꢀbyꢀmistakeꢀpleaseꢀnotifyꢀtheꢀsenderꢀandꢀdeleteꢀitꢀimmediately.ꢀOpinionsꢀexpressedꢀareꢀthoseꢀ
ofꢀtheꢀindividualꢀandꢀdoꢀnotꢀnecessarilyꢀrepresentꢀtheꢀopinionꢀofꢀCambridgeshireꢀCountyꢀCouncil.ꢀAllꢀsentꢀandꢀ
receivedꢀemailꢀfromꢀCambridgeshireꢀCountyꢀCouncilꢀisꢀautomaticallyꢀscannedꢀforꢀtheꢀpresenceꢀofꢀcomputerꢀvirusesꢀ
andꢀsecurityꢀissues.ꢀVisitꢀwww.cambridgeshire.gov.ukꢀꢀ
 

 
This email and any attached files are confidential and copyright protected. If you are not the addressee, any dissemination of this communication is strictly 
prohibited. Unless otherwise expressly agreed in writing, nothing stated in this communication shall be legally binding. The ultimate parent company of the 
Atkins Group is SNC-Lavalin Group Inc. Registered in Québec, Canada No. 059041-0. Registered Office 455 boul. René-Lévesque Ouest, Montréal, 
Québec, Canada, H2Z 1Z3. A list of Atkins Group companies registered in the United Kingdom and locations around the world can be found at 
http://www.atkinsglobal.com/site-services/group-company-registration-details 
 
Consider the environment. Please don't print this e-mail unless you really need to. 

Page 43



Plant Protection 
Cadent 
Block 1; Floor 1 
Brick Kiln Street 
Hinckley 
LE10 0NA 
E-mail: plantprotection@cadentgas.com 
Telephone: +44 (0)800  688588 

 
National Gas Emergency Number: 

0800 111 999* 
 

National Grid Electricity Emergency Number: 
0800 40 40 90* 

* Available 24 hours, 7 days/week. 
Calls may be recorded and monitored. 

 
www.cadentgas.com 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
National Grid is a trading name for: National Grid is a trading name for: Cadent is a trading name for: Cadent Gas Limited 
National Grid Electricity Transmission plc National Grid Gas plc Registered Office: Ashbrook Court, Prologis Park, 
Registered Office: 1-3 Strand, London WC2N 5EH Registered Office: 1-3 Strand, London WC2N 5EH Central Boulevard, Coventry CV7 8PE 
Registered in England and Wales, No 2366977 Registered in England and Wales, No 2006000 Registered in England and Wales, No 10080864 
 

James Stringer 
Cambridgeshire City Council 
Stanton Way Depot 
Huntingdon 
PE29 6PY 
 
 
 
 

Date: 22/05/2018 
Our Ref: EA_TE_Z5_3FWP_041304 
Your Ref: P079 (cjb) 
RE: Formal Enquiry, CB22 5HT, The Mill House, Off A10, Hauxton 
 
Thank you for your enquiry which was received on 15/05/2018. 
Please note this response and any attached map(s) are valid for 28 days. 
 
An assessment has been carried out with respect to Cadent Gas Ltd, National Grid Electricity Transmission 
plc's and National Grid Gas plc's apparatus. Please note it does not cover the items listed in the section "Your 
Responsibilities and Obligations", including gas service pipes and related apparatus. 
For details of Network areas please see the Cadent website (http://cadentgas.com/Digging-safely/Dial-before-
you-dig) or the enclosed documentation. 

Are My Works Affected? 

Searches based on your enquiry have identified that there is apparatus in the vicinity of your enquiry which 
may be affected by the activities specified. 
Cadent and/or National Grid therefore formally objects to these activities pending further 
consultation. 

Cadent and/or National Grid objects to the Order on the grounds that the level of protection currently afforded 
to the apparatus it has in the subject land may be diminished notwithstanding Paragraph 4, Schedule 12, Part II 
of the Highways Act, 1980. 
See Assessment section below for details of how to deal with Cadent and/or National Grid's 
objection. 

Page 44



Due to the presence of Cadent and/or National Grid apparatus in proximity to the specified area, the contractor 
should contact Plant Protection before any works are carried out to ensure the apparatus is not affected by 
any of the proposed works. 

Your Responsibilities and Obligations 

The "Assessment" Section below outlines the detailed requirements that must be followed when planning or 
undertaking your scheduled activities at this location. 

It is your responsibility to ensure that the information you have submitted is accurate and that all relevant 
documents including links are provided to all persons (either direct labour or contractors) working for you near 
Cadent and/or National Grid's apparatus, e.g. as contained within the Construction (Design and Management) 
Regulations. 

This assessment solely relates to Cadent Gas Ltd, National Grid Electricity Transmission plc (NGET) and 
National Grid Gas plc (NGG) and apparatus. This assessment does NOT include: 

● Cadent and/or National Grid's legal interest (easements or wayleaves) in the land which restricts 
activity in proximity to Cadent and/or National Grid's assets in private land. You must obtain details of 
any such restrictions from the landowner in the first instance and if in doubt contact Plant Protection. 

● Gas service pipes and related apparatus 
● Recently installed apparatus 
● Apparatus owned by other organisations, e.g. other gas distribution operators, local electricity 

companies, other utilities, etc. 

It is YOUR responsibility to take into account whether the items listed above may be present and if they could 
be affected by your proposed activities. Further "Essential Guidance" in respect of these items can be found 
on the National Grid Website (http://www2.nationalgrid.com/WorkArea/DownloadAsset.aspx?id=8589934982). 

This communication does not constitute any formal agreement or consent for any proposed development work; 
either generally or with regard to Cadent and/or National Grid's easements or wayleaves nor any planning or 
building regulations applications. 

Cadent Gas Ltd, NGG and NGET or their agents, servants or contractors do not accept any liability for any 
losses arising under or in connection with this information. This limit on liability applies to all and any claims in 
contract, tort (including negligence), misrepresentation (excluding fraudulent misrepresentation), breach of 
statutory duty or otherwise. This limit on liability does not exclude or restrict liability where prohibited by the 
law nor does it supersede the express terms of any related agreements. 

If you require further assistance please contact the Plant Protection team via e-mail (click here) or via the 
contact details at the top of this response. 

Yours faithfully 

Plant Protection Team 

Page 2 of 6

Page 45



ASSESSMENT 

Affected Apparatus 
The apparatus that has been identified as being in the vicinity of your proposed works is: 

● Low or Medium pressure (below 2 bar) gas pipes and associated equipment. (As a result it is highly 
likely that there are gas services and associated apparatus in the vicinity) 

How to deal with Cadent and/or National Grid's objection 

There are two ways of removing this objection for Gas Apparatus: 

1. By granting Cadent and/or National Grid an easement over the affected main(s). To do this you must send a 
cheque for £1,000 + VAT to cover the internal assessment costs. In addition, you will also be responsible for 
paying for the legal fees in connection with completing our standard Deed of Easement. Please inform us of 
your solicitor's contact details. Your solicitor will be advised of Cadent and/or National Grid's legal fees and will 
be required to provide a solicitors undertaking for costs. Please make the cheque payable to Cadent Gas Ltd 
and send to the address above. Upon receipt I will forward your Notice and a copy of this letter to our 
Easement Service Provider who will arrange for the easement to be processed. The objection will only be 
lifted upon completion of the easement. 

2. Alternatively you can request that the affected main(s) are diverted or isolated. These works will be fully 
chargeable. Please send through your development plans so that we can send these off to our diversion team 
to issue you the budget estimate for any necessary works. The objection will only be lifted upon 
completion of these works. 

 

Requirements 

BEFORE carrying out any work you must:

● Carefully read these requirements including the attached guidance documents and maps showing the 
location of apparatus. 

● Contact the landowner and ensure any proposed works in private land do not infringe Cadent and/or 
National Grid's legal rights (i.e. easements or wayleaves). If the works are in the road or footpath the 
relevant local authority should be contacted. 

● Ensure that all persons, including direct labour and contractors, working for you on or near Cadent 
and/or National Grid's apparatus follow the requirements of the HSE Guidance Notes HSG47 - 
'Avoiding Danger from Underground Services' and GS6 – 'Avoidance of danger from overhead electric 
power lines'. This guidance can be downloaded free of charge at http://www.hse.gov.uk 

● In line with the above guidance, verify and establish the actual position of mains, pipes, cables, 
services and other apparatus on site before any activities are undertaken. 

Page 3 of 6

Page 46



GUIDANCE 

Excavating Safely - Avoiding injury when working near gas pipes: 
http://www.nationalgrid.com/NR/rdonlyres/2D2EEA97-B213-459C-9A26-
18361C6E0B0D/25249/Digsafe_leaflet3e2finalamends061207.pdf 

Standard Guidance 

Essential Guidance document: 
http://www2.nationalgrid.com/WorkArea/DownloadAsset.aspx?id=8589934982 

General Guidance document: 
http://www2.nationalgrid.com/WorkArea/DownloadAsset.aspx?id=35103 

Excavating Safely in the vicinity of gas pipes guidance (Credit card): 
http://www.nationalgrid.com/NR/rdonlyres/A3D37677-6641-476C-9DDA-
E89949052829/44257/ExcavatingSafelyCreditCard.pdf 

Excavating Safely in the vicinity of electricity cables guidance (Credit card): 
http://www.nationalgrid.com/NR/rdonlyres/35DDEC6D-D754-4BA5-AF3C-
D607D05A25C2/44858/ExcavatingSafelyCreditCardelectricitycables.pdf 

Copies of all the Guidance Documents can also be downloaded from the National Grid Website: 
http://www.nationalgrid.com/uk/Gas/Safety/work/downloads/ 

Page 4 of 6

Page 47



P
age 48



ENQUIRY SUMMARY 

Received Date 
15/05/2018 
 
Your Reference 
P079 (cjb) 
 
Location 
Centre Point: 543211, 252575 
X Extent: 40 
Y Extent: 131 
Postcode: CB22 5HT 
Location Description: CB22 5HT, The Mill House, Off A10, Hauxton 
 
Map Options 
Paper Size: A4 
Orientation: LANDSCAPE 
Requested Scale: 1250 
Actual Scale: 1:1250 (GAS) 
Real World Extents: 361m x 196m (GAS) 
 
Recipients 
pprsteam@cadentgas.com 
 
Enquirer Details 
Organisation Name: Cambridgeshire City Council 
Contact Name: James Stringer 
Email Address: James.Stringer@cambridgeshire.gov.uk 
Telephone: 0345 045 5212 
Address: Stanton Way Depot, Huntingdon, PE29 6PY 
 
Description of Works 
SU. Town & Country Planning Act, Section 257. DB 
 
Enquiry Type 
Formal Enquiry 
 
Activity Type 
Highways 
 
Notice Types 
Notice Type: Section Notice (Town & Country Planning Act, Section 257) 
 

Page 6 of 6

Page 49



1

Stringer James

From: >Plant Enquiries Team <PlantEnquiriesTeam@virginmedia.co.uk>
Sent: 30 May 2018 15:33
To: Stringer James
Subject: RE: Proposal to Divert Public Footpath No. 5 Hauxton    VM.1106771
Attachments: VM.1106771.pdf; AFFECTED TEMPLATE VM.1106771.doc

ꢀ
ꢀ
DearꢀSir/Madam,ꢀ
ꢀ
Thankꢀyouꢀforꢀyourꢀrecentꢀenquiryꢀregardingꢀtheꢀaboveꢀlocation.ꢀ
ꢀ
TheꢀPlantꢀEnquiriesꢀTeamꢀhasꢀnowꢀcompletedꢀyourꢀsearch,ꢀandꢀtheꢀresultsꢀareꢀattached.ꢀPleaseꢀnoteꢀthatꢀweꢀtryꢀtoꢀ
provideꢀmapsꢀwhereꢀeverꢀavailable.ꢀꢀOnꢀoccasionsꢀwhereꢀourꢀrecordsꢀshowꢀtheꢀareaꢀisꢀnotꢀaffected,ꢀyouꢀmayꢀ
receiveꢀaꢀmapꢀshowingꢀapparatusꢀinꢀtheꢀcloseꢀproximity.ꢀ
ꢀ
Shouldꢀyouꢀrequireꢀanyꢀfurtherꢀassistanceꢀinꢀthisꢀmatter,ꢀpleaseꢀemailꢀ‐ꢀplant.enquiries.team@virginmedia.co.ukꢀ
orꢀcall:ꢀ0870ꢀ888ꢀ3116ꢀ(Optionꢀ2)ꢀ
ꢀ
ꢀ

 

Alason Jennifer Nathan | Field Service Administer 
Virgin Media | Plant Enquiries |  
Mayfair Business Park, Broad Lane, Bradford, BD4 8PW 
T 0870 888 3116 Opt 2 
Plant.enquiries.team@virginmedia.co.uk  
 

ꢀ
ꢀ
From: Stringer James [mailto:James.Stringer@cambridgeshire.gov.uk]  
Sent: 23 May 2018 16:07 
To: >Plant Enquiries Team 
Subject: RE: Proposal to Divert Public Footpath No. 5 Hauxton VM.1106771 
ꢀ
DearꢀStephy,ꢀꢀ
ꢀ
TheꢀnearestꢀgridꢀreferenceꢀisꢀTLꢀ43199ꢀ52659,ꢀpostꢀcodeꢀCB22ꢀ5FP.ꢀꢀ
ꢀ
PleaseꢀnoteꢀthatꢀthisꢀconsultationꢀisꢀregardingꢀtheꢀlegalꢀdiversionꢀofꢀaꢀPublicꢀRightꢀofꢀWay.ꢀItꢀisꢀnotꢀaꢀconsultationꢀofꢀ
anyꢀphysicalꢀworksꢀorꢀconstruction.ꢀThereforeꢀyouꢀresponseꢀshouldꢀnoteꢀwhetherꢀtheꢀdiversionꢀwillꢀimpactꢀyouꢀinꢀ
termsꢀofꢀaccessꢀtoꢀundergroundꢀcables/pipesꢀandꢀwhetherꢀeasementsꢀand/orꢀwayleavesꢀareꢀaffected.ꢀꢀ
ꢀ
Thanks,ꢀꢀ
ꢀ
JamesꢀStringerꢀ
AssetꢀInformationꢀDefinitiveꢀMapꢀOfficerꢀ
AssetꢀInformation,ꢀBoxꢀNo.ꢀSTA2101,ꢀCambridgeshireꢀCountyꢀCouncil,ꢀStantonꢀWayꢀDepot,ꢀHuntingdon,ꢀ
PE29ꢀ6PYꢀ
DirectꢀDial:ꢀ01223ꢀ715520ꢀ/ꢀContactꢀCentre:ꢀ0345ꢀ045ꢀ5212ꢀ

ꢀ
ꢀ

Page 50



2

From:ꢀ>PlantꢀEnquiriesꢀTeamꢀ[mailto:PlantEnquiriesTeam@virginmedia.co.uk]ꢀꢀ
Sent:ꢀ21ꢀMayꢀ2018ꢀ11:53ꢀ
To:ꢀStringerꢀJamesꢀ<James.Stringer@cambridgeshire.gov.uk>ꢀ
Subject:ꢀRE:ꢀProposalꢀtoꢀDivertꢀPublicꢀFootpathꢀNo.ꢀ5ꢀHauxtonꢀ
ꢀ
Hi,ꢀ
ꢀ
Manyꢀthanksꢀforꢀyourꢀemail,ꢀ
ꢀ
Wouldꢀyouꢀpleaseꢀhelpꢀusꢀwithꢀtheꢀpostꢀcodeꢀandꢀgridꢀreferenceꢀforꢀtheꢀbelowꢀenquiry,ꢀsoꢀthatꢀitꢀwillꢀbeꢀhelpfulꢀforꢀ
usꢀtoꢀsendꢀyouꢀtheꢀresults.ꢀ
ꢀ
ꢀ

 

Stephy Jaison 
Virgin Media | Plant Enquiries |  
Mayfair Business Park, Broad Lane, Bradford, BD4 8PW 
T 0870 888 3116 Opt 2 
Plant.enquiries.team@virginmedia.co.uk  
 

ꢀ
ꢀ
ꢀ
ꢀ
ꢀ
ꢀ
From: Stringer James [mailto:James.Stringer@cambridgeshire.gov.uk]  
Sent: 15 May 2018 12:34 
Subject: Proposal to Divert Public Footpath No. 5 Hauxton 
ꢀ
DearꢀSirꢀorꢀMadam,ꢀꢀ
ꢀ
CambridgeshireꢀCountyꢀCouncilꢀisꢀconsultingꢀonꢀaꢀproposalꢀtoꢀdivertꢀPublicꢀFootpathꢀNo.ꢀ5ꢀHauxton.ꢀThisꢀ
proposalꢀisꢀbeingꢀconsideredꢀunderꢀsectionꢀ257ꢀofꢀtheꢀTownꢀandꢀCountryꢀPlanningꢀActꢀ1990.ꢀPleaseꢀfindꢀ
attachedꢀaꢀconsultationꢀletterꢀandꢀproposalꢀplans.ꢀꢀ
ꢀ
Pleaseꢀletꢀmeꢀknowꢀanyꢀcommentsꢀbyꢀ12thꢀJuneꢀ2018.ꢀIfꢀthisꢀtimescaleꢀcausesꢀyouꢀdifficultyꢀthenꢀpleaseꢀ
contactꢀme.ꢀꢀ
ꢀ
KindꢀRegards,ꢀꢀ
ꢀ
JamesꢀStringerꢀ
AssetꢀInformationꢀDefinitiveꢀMapꢀOfficerꢀ
AssetꢀInformation,ꢀBoxꢀNo.ꢀSTA2101,ꢀCambridgeshireꢀCountyꢀCouncil,ꢀStantonꢀWayꢀDepot,ꢀHuntingdon,ꢀ
PE29ꢀ6PYꢀ
DirectꢀDial:ꢀ01223ꢀ715520ꢀ/ꢀContactꢀCentre:ꢀ0345ꢀ045ꢀ5212ꢀ

ꢀ
ꢀ
ꢀ
ꢀ
ꢀ
ꢀ
The information in this email is confidential and may be legally privileged. It is intended solely for the 
addressee. If you receive this email by mistake please notify the sender and delete it immediately. Opinions 

Page 51



3

expressed are those of the individual and do not necessarily represent the opinion of Cambridgeshire County 
Council. All sent and received email from Cambridgeshire County Council is automatically scanned for the 
presence of computer viruses and security issues. Visit www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk  

 
-------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Save Paper - Do you really need to print this e-mail? 

Visit www.virginmedia.com for more information, and more fun. 

This email and any attachments are or may be confidential and legally privileged and are sent solely for the 
attention of the addressee(s). 
 
Virgin Media will never ask for account or financial information via email. If you are in receipt of a 
suspicious email, please report to www.virginmedia.com/netreport  
 
If you have received this email in error, please delete it from your system: its use, disclosure or copying 
is unauthorised. Statements and opinions expressed in this email may not represent those of Virgin Media. 
Any representations or commitments in this email are subject to contract.  

Registered office: Media House, Bartley Wood Business Park, Hook, Hampshire, RG27 9UP 
Registered in England and Wales with number 2591237 

The information in this email is confidential and may be legally privileged. It is intended solely for the 
addressee. If you receive this email by mistake please notify the sender and delete it immediately. Opinions 
expressed are those of the individual and do not necessarily represent the opinion of Cambridgeshire County 
Council. All sent and received email from Cambridgeshire County Council is automatically scanned for the 
presence of computer viruses and security issues. Visit www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk  

 
-------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Save Paper - Do you really need to print this e-mail? 

Visit www.virginmedia.com for more information, and more fun. 

This email and any attachments are or may be confidential and legally privileged 
and are sent solely for the attention of the addressee(s). 
 
Virgin Media will never ask for account or financial information via email. If you are in receipt of a 
suspicious email, please report to www.virginmedia.com/netreport 

If you have received this email in error, please delete it from your system: its use, disclosure or copying 
is unauthorised. Statements and opinions expressed in this email may not represent those of Virgin Media. 
Any representations or commitments in this email are subject to contract.  

Registered office: Media House, Bartley Wood Business Park, Hook, Hampshire, RG27 9UP Registered in 
England and Wales with number 2591237 

Page 52



Hauxton FP5 – Current Route 

 

Photo A – Point B looking south-west towards Point A.  

 

 

Photo B – Looking towards Point A and egress onto Cambridge Road 

Page 53



Subject area Criteria
Maximum 
available 

score
Scheme Notes

No. Item
(SOA = Statement of Action in ROWIP) Hauxton 5

Consultations 1 Pre-application consultations have been carried
out with the prescribed bodies. Pass or Fail Pass Pre-app undertaken in June 2017

Consultations 2

The existing route is available for use and any
‘temporary’ obstructions have been removed, in
order to allow a comparison to be made. Any
request for exemption will be decided by the
Director Highways & Access as to whether or not
that is appropriate.

Pass or Fail Pass The existing route is current open and 
available for public use. Redrow have erected 
fencing along the route to keep users out of 
the adjacent building site

Consultations 3

No objections are received to the proposals during
the statutory consultation period prior to making
an order. However, the County Council will review
this criterion in individual cases in light of
objections and potential public benefit of the
proposal. If the County Council consider the
objection to be irrelevant, this will class as a
pass.  

Pass or Fail Pass A objection was received from the British 
Horse Society to the proposed route. 
However following a site meeting between 
Redrow and the BHS, their objection was 
withdrawn

Width 4

A minimum width of 2m is provided for a diverted
footpath, and a minimum width of 4m for a
diverted bridleway. In exceptional cases, e.g.
cross-field paths, the County Council may, taking
into account all the available facts, require such a
width as it considers reasonable and appropriate.

Pass or Fail Pass

The proposed route will be 2 metres wide 
throughout

Maintenance & 
Financial 5

If maintenance liability is significantly greater than
existing, the landowner has agreed to undertake
or fund future maintenance. 

Pass or Fail Pass The proposed route will be constructed to the 
County Council Highway Specification

Equalities impact 
- Gaps & Gates 6

The proposed route would have no stiles or gates,
or allows for access for people with mobility
issues.

Pass or Fail Pass
No gates or stiles are proposed

Equalities impact 7 Significant negative impact on a class of user - 
Equalities Act -2 0 There are no gates, stiles, large gradients or 

any other impediment proposed

Equalities impact 8 Significant increase in accessibility - Equalities 
Act 2 1

The proposed route will be of a bound 
construction. This will provide a smooth 
surface which would be an improvement on 
the unbound surface of the existing route

Maintenance & 
Financial 9 Resolves long-term maintenance problems 3 0

There is no known maintenance issues with 
the existing route that would be resolved by 
this proposal 

Maintenance & 
Financial 10 The proposed new route is not less convenient for 

maintenance than the original. 2 2

The proposal built to the County Council's 
Highway Specification should provide the 
County Council with a route with a lifespan of 
several decades. It is envisaged that minimal 
maintenance  

Use of Land 11
The effect the order would have on the land
served by the existing path and also the land
across which the new path would run.

2 2 This diversion is required to allow Redrow to 
deliver approved planning permission 

Connectivity 12 The proposed new route is substantially as
convenient to the public as the original. 3 3

The proposed route would follow broadly the 
same route to the existing plan. The two 

termination points would remain unchanged

Connectivity 13 User enjoyment is similar to the existing route or is 
enhanced by the proposal 3 3

The existing route previously run adjacent to 
an industrial chemical site. The route would  
follow the adopted footway around the 
residential and commercial development. It is 
therefore not considered that user enjoyment 
will be affected by this proposal.

Connectivity 14 There are no other reasonable or viable 
alternatives 2 2 The approved planning layout does not allow 

for any reasonable or viable alternative route
Connectivity & 

Enjoyment 15 A suitable alternative path is provided for every 
path that is to be diverted. 1 1

Connectivity & 
Enjoyment 16 The proposal maintains or improves usefulness of 

the Rights of Way Network 2 1 The alignment is broadly unchanged as our 
the termination points. 

Total Score out of 20  (Pass mark 70% ie 14) 20 15

Scoring notes: A scheme must reach the threshold of 70% of maximum score in order to be adopted. However, schemes will still have to undergo their relevant 
legal process e.g. Public Path Orders through the formal consultation process, and may later be abandoned in accordance with the Council's Public Path Order 
Policy.

There are six Pass/Fail criteria relating to County Council requirements that must be met in order for an application to be considered. If an application fails one of 
these criteria, it fails regardless of its numerical score. Officers will then revert to the applicant to discuss their options. 

For the numerically scored criteria, a 70% threshold must be met in order for an application to be taken forward. If an application passes the Pass/Fail criteria but 
fails the 70% numerical threshold, it will not proceed and officers will revert to the applicant to discuss their options.

If the maintenance liability incurred would be significantly greater than the existing, an application may still pass if a solution is agreed, such as a commuted sum or 
an agreement for a third party to maintain the route instead.

Non-Motorised User Routes Adoption Criteria - Public Path Diversion Applications under S119 Highways Act 1980 and S257 Town and County Planning 
Act 1990

Page 54



 
 
  
REPORT TO: Planning Committee 14 November 2018 

LEAD OFFICER: Joint Director of Planning and Economic Development  
 

 
 

Local Plan Affordable Housing Threshold (Policy H/10 Affordable Housing) 
 

Purpose 
 
1. To inform Committee about the differences between the affordable housing threshold 

set out in the Local Plan 2018 (in policy H/10 affordable housing), and that in the new 
National Planning Policy Framework 2018 (NPPF)  and recommend that significant 
weight be given to the national threshold in planning decision making and when 
planning advice is given. This is not a key decision.  

 
Recommendations 

 
2. It is recommended that Planning Committee: 

a) take note of the different affordable housing thresholds between the adopted 
Local Plan 2018 (policy H/10) and the National Planning Policy Framework 2018 
(at paragraph 63 and the glossary); and 

b) agree that for the reasons set out in this report in paragraphs 5-16 that when 
determining planning applications and when giving pre-application advice that 
significant weight will be given to the affordable housing threshold policy set out in 
the National Planning Policy Framework 2018 (at paragraph 63 and the glossary).  

 
Reasons for Recommendations 

 
3. Through the course of the examination of the plan the Local Plan Inspector’s have 

sought to ensure that the affordable housing threshold included in the Local Plan was 
in conformity with national planning policy and the modifications to the plan proposed 
in January 2018 about this were in conformity with national planning policy as it then 
stood. However in July 2018 just before the Inspector’s report was published in 
August 2018 a new National Planning Policy Framework was published which 
included a different national affordable housing threshold.  
 

4. The NPPF 2018 states at paragraph 214 that the previous NPPF from 2012 will 
continue to apply for the purpose of examining plans submitted for examination 
before the 24th January 2019. Our Local Plan was submitted for examination in 2014 
and so it is understandable that the Local Plan Inspector’s Report makes no 
reference to the NPPF 2018. Nevertheless the Local Plan Inspector in recommending 
plan modifications needed to ensure soundness had sought to ensure that the Local 
Plan affordable housing threshold was consistent with that set out in national policy 
as then stated in the Written Ministerial Statement 2014. 

 
Background 

 
5. When our Local Plan was submitted for examination in 2014 the proposed affordable 

housing threshold in policy H/9 ‘affordable Housing’ was 3 dwellings or more (with 
such developments having to provide an affordable housing contribution). This was 

Page 55

Agenda Item 6



very similar to the threshold included in our then adopted Development Control 
Policies plan.  
 

6. In 2014 a Written Ministerial Statement (WMS) was published stating: 
 
“Due to the disproportionate burden of developer contributions on small scale 
developers, for sites of 10-units or less, and which have a maximum combined 
gross floor space of 1,000 square metres, affordable housing and tariff style 
contributions should not be sought.”  (bold emphasis added) 
 

7. Between 2014 and 2017 this Council had some success in defending the lower 
affordable housing housing threshold in its adopted Development Control policies 
plan through a series of planning appeals. However in January 2017 the Local Plan 
Inspector wrote to the Council on this threshold issue following the Local Plan hearing 
into policy H/9 ‘Affordable Housing’ stating:  
“the application of the threshold of 3 or more dwelling units across the District 
represents a substantial departure from the WMS”.  
The letter went on to note that local affordable housing delivery would be reduced as 
a consequence of the need (for the Local Plan) to be consistent with the minimum 
threshold in the WMS. Officers sought to advance reasons why the WMS should not 
be followed locally but were not successful, the Inspector’s eventually concluding in 
October 2017: 
“We are therefore inviting the Council to amend the wording of the policy in order to 
remove the conflict with the WMS.”  
 

8. Appropriate modifications to this effect was included in the January 2018 Main 
Modifications which can be read in Appendix 1 to the Inspector’s Report (Mod 
numbers SC194 and SC195 and as included in Appendix A to this report). The 
modifications were required to be made to the Local Plan in order for it to be found 
‘sound’ by the Inspector’s. Paragraph 114 of their report stating:  
“Policy H/9 requires all developments which increase the net number of homes on a 
site by 3 or more to provide affordable housing. For the reasons given in our interim 
findings (RD/GEN/390) SC194 and SC195 are necessary to increase the threshold to 
ensure conformity with national policy which requires that affordable housing should 
not be sought from developments of 10 units or less.” 
 

9. In the Local Plan adopted on the 27th September policy H/9 is now numbered as 
policy H/10. The threshold in the policy is consistent with that given in the Inspector’s 
Report Appendix 1 whereby developments of 11 or more homes are required to 
provide affordable housing which wording is also consistent with that in the WMS of 
2014. 
 

10. In July 2018 the new NPPF was published coming into immediate effect. Relevant 
extracts from the NPPF are included in this report as Appendix B. When the policy 
text in paragraph 63 and the definition of ‘Major Development’ given in the glossary 
are read together it can be seen that national planning policy towards affordable 
housing thresholds has evolved away from that given in the WMS. National planning 
policy is now that affordable housing should not be sought from developments that 
are not major development and the definition of which given in the glossary of the 
NPPF only relates to housing developments of 10 or more homes or where the site 
has an area of 0.5 hectares. This policy formulation is not consistent with the Local 
Plan Inspector’s intention to ensure that our Local Plan policy was consistent with 
national planning policy.  
 

Page 56



11. It follows that the affordable housing threshold given in policy H/10 is no longer 
consistent with national planning policy towards affordable housing both in terms of 
the Local Plan policy threshold being 11 or more homes (as opposed to the NPPF 
threshold of 10 or more), and in its inclusion of a 1,000 sqm housing floorspace 
threshold (as opposed to a site area threshold of 0.5 hectares in the NPPF).  

 
Considerations 

 
12. Planning law requires that applications for planning permission have to be determined 

in accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise (the development plan includes our Local Plan 2018). However the NPPF 
2018 states at paragraph 212 that “The policies in this Framework are material 
considerations which should be taken into account in dealing with applications from 
the day of its publication”. And paragraph 213 of the NPPF 2018 states: “ 
“However, existing policies should not be considered out-of-date simply because they 
were adopted or made prior to the publication of this Framework. Due weight should 
be given to them, according to their degree of consistency with this Framework (the 
closer the policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight 
that may be given).  
 

13. In regard to the affordable housing threshold set out in policy H/10 of the adopted 
Local Plan 2018 it is clear that it is not consistent with the policy set out in the NPPF 
2018. It follows that in planning decision making and when giving pre-application 
advice significant weight needs to be given to the affordable housing threshold set out 
in the National Planning Policy Framework 2018 (at paragraph 63 and the glossary).  
This point is reinforced by the fact that the Local Plan Inspector in recommending 
plan modifications needed to ensure soundness had sought to ensure that the Local 
Plan affordable housing threshold was consistent with that set out in national policy 
as stated in the WMS 2014.  
 

14. Furthermore it can be noted that the Local Plan Inspector did not disagree with the 
viability evidence officers advanced in evidence to the Inspector’s that a lower 
affordable threshold than that in the WMS was normally viable across much of South 
Cambridgeshire or that there was not significant affordable housing need across the 
district (see Background Papers RD/GEN/530).  On this basis there is no risk that 
applying the lower affordable housing threshold set out in the NPPF 2018 would have 
any negative impacts on the viability of housing delivery in South Cambridgeshire 
compared to the marginally higher threshold set out in the Local Plan at policy H/10.  
 

15. It is therefore appropriate and necessary that when making planning decisions and 
when giving pre-application advice that significant weight is given to the affordable 
housing threshold policy set out in the NPPF.  

 
Options 

 
16. The only alternative option would be to seek to continue to apply the affordable 

housing thresholds set out in the Local Plan at policy H/10. This is not recommended 
as it would not be consistent with the NPPF 2018 and because to do so could lead to 
a small loss of much needed local affordable homes.   

 
Implications 
 

17. In the writing of this report, taking into account financial, legal, staffing, risk 
management, equality and diversity, climate change, community safety and any other 
key issues, the following implications have been considered: - 

Page 57



 
Equality and Diversity 
 

18. Access to affordable and quality housing can make an important contribution to 
household health, education and employment. Application of the national affordable 
housing threshold will make a marginal improvement to the provision of affordable 
housing in Greater Cambridge and so can be expected to have a beneficial impact on 
social equality. 
 
Consultation responses  

 
19. There has been no formal consultation involved in the preparation of this report.  
 

Effect on Strategic Aims 
 
A. LIVING WELL Support our communities to remain in good health whilst 

continuing to protect the natural and built environment 
20. Access to affordable, sustainable and quality housing can make an important 

contribution to household health.  
 
B. HOMES FOR OUR FUTURE Secure the delivery of a wide range of housing 

to meet the needs of existing and future communities 
21. The provision of additional affordable housing across Greater Cambridge will help to 

meet the housing needs of households whose needs are not being adequately met by 
the market. 

 
Background Papers 
 
The following background papers were used in the preparation of this report: 
 
House of Commons: Written Statement (HCWS50) 
Written Statement made by: The Minister of State for Housing and Planning on 28 Nov 2014. 
https://www.parliament.uk/documents/commons-vote-
office/November%202014/28%20Nov%202014/2.%20DCLG-
SupportForSmallScaleDevelopersCustomAndSelf-Builders.pdf 
 
Letter from the Local Plan Inspectors to South Cambridgeshire District Council regarding 
policy H/9 Affordable Housing (19/1/2017) RD/GEN/390 
https://cambridge.blob.core.windows.net/public/ldf/coredocs/RD-GEN/rd-gen-390.pdf 
 
Letter from the Local Plan Inspectors to South Cambridgeshire District Council regarding 
policy H/9 Affordable Housing (20/10/2017 at page 20) RD/GEN/530 
https://cambridge.blob.core.windows.net/public/ldf/coredocs/RD-GEN/rd-gen-530.pdf 
 
South Cambridgeshire Local Plan Inspector’s Report (2018) & 
Main modifications recommended by the Inspector’s (Appendix 1 of the Inspector’s Report) & 
South Cambridgeshire Local Plan (2018) 
http://www.scambs.gov.uk/planning/local-plan-and-neighbourhood-planning/the-adopted-
development-plan/south-cambridgeshire-local-plan-2018/ 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (2018) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2 
 
Report Author:  David Roberts – Principal Planning Policy Officer 

Telephone: (01954) 713348 

Page 58

https://www.parliament.uk/documents/commons-vote-office/November%202014/28%20Nov%202014/2.%20DCLG-SupportForSmallScaleDevelopersCustomAndSelf-Builders.pdf
https://www.parliament.uk/documents/commons-vote-office/November%202014/28%20Nov%202014/2.%20DCLG-SupportForSmallScaleDevelopersCustomAndSelf-Builders.pdf
https://www.parliament.uk/documents/commons-vote-office/November%202014/28%20Nov%202014/2.%20DCLG-SupportForSmallScaleDevelopersCustomAndSelf-Builders.pdf
https://cambridge.blob.core.windows.net/public/ldf/coredocs/RD-GEN/rd-gen-390.pdf
https://cambridge.blob.core.windows.net/public/ldf/coredocs/RD-GEN/rd-gen-530.pdf
http://www.scambs.gov.uk/planning/local-plan-and-neighbourhood-planning/the-adopted-development-plan/south-cambridgeshire-local-plan-2018/
http://www.scambs.gov.uk/planning/local-plan-and-neighbourhood-planning/the-adopted-development-plan/south-cambridgeshire-local-plan-2018/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


David.roberts@scambs.gov.uk 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix A – Extract from the Inspector’s Report Appendix 1 showing modifications to the 

policy for affordable housing (was policy H/9 now policy H/10).  
Appendix B – Extracts from the NPPF 2018 

Page 59

mailto:David.roberts@scambs.gov.uk


Appendix A – Extract from Appendix 1 of the Inspector’s Report  
 

Mod No. Local 
Plan 
Page 

Policy / 
Paragraph 

Proposed Modification 
‘ 

SC194 141 Policy H/9: 
Affordable 
Housing 

Amend part 1 of Policy H/9 to read: 
‘1. All developments which increase the net 
number of homes on a site by 3 of 11 dwellings or 
more, or on development sites of less than 11 
units if the total floorspace of the proposed units 
exceeds 1,000 sqm, will provide affordable housing 
as follows:’ 
Note: criteria a, b and c to part 1 are unchanged. 

SC195 142 Paragraph 7.35 Amend paragraph 7.35 to read: 
‘7.35 The Council has previously operated a 
threshold of 2 properties, but has raised this 
threshold to 3 has been raised in line with the 
Written Ministerial Statement of 28 November 
2014, to encourage more very small scale 
developments to come forward development on 
smaller brownfield sites and to help diversify the 
house building sector by providing a boost to 
small and medium sized developers. Affordable 
homes should be integrated with market homes in 
small groups or clusters to create sustainable, 
inclusive and mixed communities. Note that a 
vacant building credit may apply to 
developments bringing vacant buildings on site 
back into lawful use or where such buildings are 
demolished as part of a development. If a vacant 
building credit is allowed the effect would be to 
reduce the expected affordable housing 
contribution from a site.’ 

 
Changes shown in bold text. Deletions struck through. New text underlined.  
 

Page 60



Appendix B – Extracts from the NPPF 2018 
 

63. Provision of affordable housing should not be sought for residential developments 
that are not major developments, other than in designated rural areas (where policies 
may set out a lower threshold of 5 units or fewer). To support the re-use of brownfield 
land, where vacant buildings are being reused or redeveloped, any affordable housing 
contribution due should be reduced by a proportionate amount

28
.  

 
28

 Equivalent to the existing gross floorspace of the existing buildings. This does not apply to vacant 
buildings which have been abandoned.   
 

Note that South Cambridgeshire is not a designated rural area.  
 
Annex 2 Glossary  
 

Major development70: For housing, development where 10 or more homes will be 
provided, or the site has an area of 0.5 hectares or more. For non-residential 
development it means additional floorspace of 1,000m2 or more, or a site of 1 hectare or 
more, or as otherwise provided in the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015. 
 
70 Other than for the specific purposes of paragraphs 172 and 173 in this Framework.   
 

Note that paragraphs 172 and 173 relate to National Parks, Areas of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty  and Heritage Coastal areas only.  
 

Page 61



This page is left blank intentionally.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

  
REPORT TO: Planning Committee 14 November 2018 

AUTHOR/S: Joint Director for Planning and Economic Development 
 

 
 
Application Number: S/1486/18/FL  
  
Parish(es): Histon and Impington 
  
Proposal: The erection of 26 dwellings with associated access, car 

and cycle parking, open space and landscaping 
  
Site address: Land to north of Impington Lane (to rear, Land to the rear 

of 49-83 (odds) Impington Lane, Impington, Cambridge, 
CB24 9NJ 

  
Applicant(s): Hill Residential Ltd 
  
Recommendation: Delegated approval subject to s106 agreement 
  
Key material considerations: Principle of development 

Affordable Housing and Housing Mix 
Impact on the character of the area and landscape 
Residential Amenity 
Highway Safety 
Drainage and Flood Risk 
Biodiversity 

  
Committee Site Visit: 9 October 2018 
  
Departure Application: No  
  
Presenting Officer: Rebecca Ward, Principal Planning Officer 
  
Application brought to 
Committee because: 

Significant public interest and member call-in.  
Parish Council recommendation of refusal conflicts with 
officer recommendation. 

  
Date by which decision due: 14 November 2018 
 
 Executive Summary 
  
1. 
 
 
 
 
2.  
 
 
 

In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2018) paragraph 11, 
decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development. For 
decision taking this means approving development proposals that accord with an up-
to-date development plan without delay.  
 
The site has been allocated for development in the newly adopted Local Plan under 
policy H/1(d) and the scheme includes both market and affordable houses that accord 
with the respective policies in the Plan. These dwellings will contribute to maintaining 
the Councils five-year housing land supply and should be given full weight in the 

Page 63

Agenda Item 7



 
 
 
 
 
3. 
 
 
 
 
4. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5. 
 
 
 
 
 
6.  

determination of this application. The sustainability of the location for the number of 
dwellings has been tested through the Local Plan examination and was deemed to be 
an acceptable one to develop. The sustainability of the village is also reflected 
through its allocation as a Rural Centre in the adopted Local Plan.  
 
During the consultation process a significant number of third party objections were 
received raising various material planning considerations. These have been 
summarised in this report and amendments have been made to overcome these 
objections where it was necessary. 
 
Following amendments during the consultation process, the layout, scale and 
appearance of the development are considered acceptable and presents a good 
quality scheme that will preserve the character and appearance of the area, 
landscape setting and be acceptable in relation to the impact on existing residential 
amenity. Officers consider that all the statutory consultee holding objections have 
been overcome to an acceptable degree and through the use of planning conditions. 
 
A s106 agreement will need to be secured for contributions toward off-site provision, 
affordable housing, landscape and road maintenance plans and custom-build 
provision. Conditions will also need to be applied to any decision notice to ensure 
there is a suitable means of drainage from the site and the access is built in 
accordance with the requirements from the Local Highways Authority.  
  
For the above reasons, the proposal would accord with the development plan and 
therefore officers advise the scheme should be approved without delay.  

  
 Site and Surroundings  
 
7.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
8. 
 
 
 
 
 
9.  
 
 
 
 
10. 
 
 

The site is situated north of Impington Lane on the northern edge of Impington. The 
site is 1.21 ha and is relatively level with a slight fall from the south west to north 
west. Following the adoption of the Local Plan on 27 September 2018, the site has 
been removed from the Green Belt and is a site allocated for housing development. 
The site is now therefore designated as being within the village development 
framework.  
 
The site is former horticultural land and previously used a nursery associated with 
Unwin Seeds. There is some remaining hardstanding on the site and existing 
agricultural buildings lie adjacent to the eastern boundary. During the course of the 
application process the existing landowner has proceeded to demolish one of these 
buildings.  
 
The site is bounded to the west by Merrington Place properties and their garden 
areas. To the north is open grassland boarded by mature hedgerows and trees. To 
the south the boundary abuts the existing residential properties 49-83 (odds) and their 
gardens.  
  
There are currently two vehicular access points into the site, between No.51 and 
No.67 Impington Lane (however this is currently obstructed by a hedge) and between 
No.83 and No.87.  

 
 Planning History  
 
11. S/0558/84/F Warehouse – Unwins Seeds Limited – Approved (1984) 
  
 PRE/0437/17 (2017) Pre-application advice for proposed residential development of 

Page 64



28 houses with associated access, roads 
  
 Design Enabling Panel (November 2017)  Proposed residential development of 28 

dwellings and associated access and landscaping.  
 
 Planning Policies 
 
12. National Planning Policy Framework 2018 (PPG) 

National Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 
  
13. South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018 
 
 S/1 Vision 

S/2 Objectives of the Local Plan 
S/3 Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development 
S/5 Provision of New Jobs and Homes 
S/6 The Development Strategy 
S/7 Development Frameworks 
S/8      Rural Centres 
CC/1 Mitigation and Adaptation to Climate Change 
CC/3 Renewable and Low Carbon Energy in New Developments 
CC/4 Sustainable Design and Construction 
CC/6 Construction Methods 
CC/7 Water Quality 
CC/8 Sustainable Drainage Systems 
CC/9 Managing Flood Risk 
HQ/1 Design Principles 
H/7 Housing Density 
H/8 Housing mix 
H/9  Affordable Housing  
NH/2 Protecting and Enhancing Landscape Character  
NH/4 Biodiversity  
NH/5 Sites of Biodiversity or Geological Importance 
SC/2 Health Impact Assessment 
SC/7  Outdoor play space, informal open space and new developments 
SC/8  Open space standards 
SC/10 Lighting Proposals 
SC/11 Noise Pollution 
SC/12 Contaminated Land 
SC/13 Air Quality  
TI/2 Planning for Sustainable Travel 
TI/3 Parking Provision 
TI/8 Infrastructure and New Developments 
 
Saved South Cambridgeshire LDF (2007) Supplementary Planning Documents 
(SPD): 
Affordable Housing 
Trees and Development Sites – Adopted January 2009 
Biodiversity – Adopted July 2009 
District Design Guide – Adopted March 2010 
Landscape in New Developments – Adopted March 2010 
Health Impact Assessment – Adopted March 2011 
Cambridgeshire Flood and Water – Adopted November 2016 

 
 Consultation  

Page 65



 
14. Histon and Impington Parish Council - Comments dated 4 June 2018. All agreed to 

make a recommendation of refusal, commenting:  
 
- Prematurity of application, noting status of land proposed for application currently 
Green Belt 
- Inadequate access, need for further traffic survey data  
- Inadequate housing mix, contrary to findings of Neighbourhood Plan Survey  
- Noting Green Belt status, insufficient screening/planting belt for neighbouring 
properties Impington Lane and Clay Close Lane  
 
Conditioning:   
- Archaeological survey to be undertaken  
- Revised landscaping scheme to enhance screening 
- Protection of wildlife  
- Re-siting of play area to make more accessible   
- Revised visibilities splays   
- Road to be of adoptable standards and to be adopted on completion  
All agreed to request determination of application by SCDC Planning Committee   
 
Comments dated 5 September 2018: 
Green Belt status/prematurity of application - noting status of land being decided as 
part of the Local Plan Consultation, current status is Green Belt. No exceptional 
circumstances are demonstrated within this application to demonstrate the need to 
build on this site.  
 
Mitigation measures (screening/planting) for neighbouring properties on Impington 
Lane, Merrington Place, Clay Close Lane and the pumping station has yet to be 
addressed. 
 
Inadequate Access - dependant on maintenance of neighbouring properties 
vegetation. Safety concerns secondary access noting conflict of users (pedestrians, 
cyclists and reversing maintenance vehicle).   
 
Housing Mix -  contrary to findings of Neighbourhood Plan Survey and SCDC policy  
 
Affordable Housing - shown as grouped, noting policy requirement or them to be 
distributed throughout the site  
 
Road not constructed to an adoptable standard, contrary to policy in emerging 
Neighbourhood Plan  
 
Drainage inadequate and contrary to Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD “design 
and layout should seek to manage and convey surface water above-ground avoiding 
the use of underground piping as far as possible noting the intention for underground 
piping discharging into the award drain. Noting issues raised, all in favour to make a 
recommendation of refusal   
 
Conditioning - as above. Agreed to request application to be considered by SCDC 
Planning Committee.    
 
Update comments dated 3 October 2018: See appendix 2 
 

15. Urban Design Officer - The scheme (a superseded layout) was presented to the 
Council’s Design Enabling Panel (DEP) on 30 November 2018.  The key areas for 

Page 66



amendments on this application should include: 
- larger LAP area and allow the flats to have a positive frontage and views 

towards to the LAP and Green Belt beyond 
- Private flats should have private garden spaces 
- creation of a footpath between plots 14 and 15 
- move plots 7 to 13 further north and move plots 16 to 26 north to reduce the 

impact of overshadowing 
 

16. Landscape Officer – Update comments following amendment: No objections with the 
proposed development. Drawings and documents considered with this application: 
Proposed site layout 094-PL10 Rev AH. No objections with the revised Site Layout. 
Relocating plots 21- 26 from the southern boundary has reduced the impact of 
permanent shade within their rear gardens.  Recommended planning conditions for 
detailed hard and soft landscape specification and boundary treatments. 
 

17. Affordable Housing Officer - This proposed scheme is for 26 dwellings; therefore 10 
would need to be Affordable. The tenure mix for affordable housing in South 
Cambridgeshire District is 70% Rented and 30% Intermediate housing. The S106 
agreement for this application, if given consent, should confirm that Affordable Rented 
Housing is to be provided within the Local Housing Allowance (LHA) cap. 
 
The S106 agreement for this application, if given consent, should confirm that 
Intermediate Housing is to be provided as Shared Ownership Dwellings through a 
Registered Provider, unless agreed otherwise with the Council as other forms of 
Intermediate Housing (as described in the NPPF definition above). 
 
The applicants mix is weighted in favour of 1 bed dwellings, due to previous advice 
from a housing development officer at the pre app stage. Although there is significant 
demand locally for 1 bed affordable rented accommodation, almost half of that is from 
households over the age of 60. All of the house types should meet the Nationally 
Described Space Standards (NDSS). 
 

18. Education and Growth Team (Cambridgeshire County Council - Early years; 
Child yield 6 (4 of which are entitled to free school provision), catchment setting 
Histon and Impington Infant School. The school is currently full. A contribution of 
£18,462 x 4 total of £73,848 has been required towards the new 52 place early years 
facility at Buxall Farm Primary School. 
 
Primary years; Child yield 6, catchment setting Histon and Impington Primary School. 
The school is currently full. A contribution of £16,666x6 total of £99,996 is required 
towards a new 2FE primary school at Buxhall Farm to replace the infant school. 
 
Secondary years; Child yield 4, catchment setting of Impington Village College. 
Spaces available.  
 
Libraries and life-long learning; Histon Library is at capacity. County Councils solution 
to mitigate the impact to the service is to pool contributions of £2485.08 towards 
additional books resources and equipment.  
 
Strategic Waste; Milton HRC is currently at capacity. The HRC already has 5 pooled 
S106 contributions and therefore the County Council is prevented from seeking further 
s106 strategic waste contrition.  
 

19. Health Impact Officer - The assessment met criteria D and is not satisfactory as 
there was significant omissions or inadequacies in some of the important tasks 

Page 67



including the description of the site and context, management, assessment and 
reporting.  

20. Archaeology Officer (Cambridgeshire County Council) -  Our records indicate that 
the proposed development site lies in an area of high archaeological potential, 
situated immediately adjacent to previous archaeological evaluation and excavation 
areas at the former Unwins site off Impington Road in 2009 (Cambridgeshire Historic 
Environment Record references ECB3186 and ECB3232) which produced material of 
predominantly Late Iron Age/Roman date.  

 
We therefore do not object to development from proceeding in this location but 
consider that the site should be subject to a programme of archaeological 
investigation secured through the inclusion of a negative condition. 
 

21. Air Quality Officer - A minimum of 5% car park spaces will have electric vehicle 
charge points, with provision of electrical infrastructure to facilitate the future 
installation of an additional 15% EV charge points. The development shall utilise low 
NOx boilers that meet the NOx emission rating of 40 mg/kWh. 
 

22. Environment Agency - Standing comments in regards to the discharge of water and 
pollution control. Foul drainage from the proposed development shall be discharged to 
the public foul sewer unless it can be satisfactorily demonstrated that a connection is 
not reasonably available. 
 

23. Drainage Officer - The development is acceptable subject to conditions for surface 
and foul water drainage. 
 

24. Lead Local Flood and Water Authority (Cambridgeshire County Council) - 
Following a holding objection, an amended document ‘Flood Risk and Drainage 
Strategy Report (Walker Associates Consulting) has been reviewed. The document 
now demonstrates that surface water from the proposed development can be 
managed through the use of permeable paving and geocellular storage units, 
restricting surface water discharge to 2.5 l/s into the award watercourse.   
Based on the revised details the LLFA have no objection in principle to the proposed 
development subject to a planning condition for a detailed surface water drainage 
strategy. 

 
25. Anglian Water - No in principle objections to the application, however a detailed foul 

water drainage strategy condition would need to be imposed to ensure the 
development would not cause an unacceptable risk of flooding down stream  
 

26. Contaminated Land Officer - The above site comprises a former Nursery which has 
potential for contamination to be present and the proposal is for a sensitive end use 
(residential). A Phase 1 report by Enzygo dated Dec 2017 has been submitted in 
support of the application. 
 
An additional phase of investigation is required to determine whether the site is 
suitable for its proposed end use. It is likely that some spot-check confirmatory soil 
sampling in any proposed garden areas will also be employed to ensure the quality of 
soils are suitable for continued use as modern domestic gardens. 
 
A planning condition is recommended for further investigations to be undertaken prior 
to the implementation of the development to ensure risks from land contamination to 
future users and neighbouring land are minimised.  
 

27. Minerals and Waste Planning Authority (Cambridgeshire County Council) - The 

Page 68



application site lies within a Mineral Safeguarding Area for sand and gravel. The site 
area is limited and there are dwellings close to the boundary. Even if sand and gravel 
of a suitable quality is located within the site it is unlikely to be viable to extract the 
mineral prior to development. An informative should be applied to any planning 
permission.  
 
In terms of waste minimisation, re-use and recovery, the application does not appear 
to have addressed the matter of waste management. The following condition should 
therefore be applied; Waste Management Audit and Strategy.  
 

28. Local Highways Authority (Cambridgeshire County Council) - Following a holding 
objection an amended document ‘Pumping Station Access SP03’ has been 
considered and no objections raised to the proposal in terms of highway safety 
subject to the following conditions: 
 

- In its current form the road will not be adopted – letter should confirm this. 
- Maintenance and management condition for roads 
- Modify the traffic order in respect of traffic calming features (speed cushion) 
- The junction of the access with the highway shall be laid out with 6m radius 

kerbs 
- Falls and levels are such that there is no water run-off into the public highway 
- Access is constructed using a bound material 
- Traffic Management Plan condition 
- Driveway lengths should be divisible by 5m 
- Vehicular access to the parking court should be constructed using dropped 

kerbs 
- 2x2m pedestrian visibility splays should be provided on the drawings 

 
29. Ecology Officer - Original holding objection to the application: The site layout 

(drawing number 094-PL11 Rev AC) shows a narrow strip of vegetative boundary to 
the north of the site and retained (likely reduced) hedgerows. I am not convinced this 
represents a gain in biodiversity for the reptiles and I do not believe it shows an 
overall gain in biodiversity for the site. Requirement to dismantle existing buildings by 
hand under the supervision of a suitably qualified ecologist as absence has no been 
proven. 
 
Updated comment: Holding objection removed.  The revised details will include (but 
not limited to) hedgehog connectivity, bat and bird nesting boxes, and a greater extent 
of wild grassland planting within the margins, communal garden, and public open 
space.  SCDC have also stated their preference for the area surrounding the pumping 
station to be wild grassland seeded, this should not interfere with maintenance 
access.  Maintaining the north/ south corridor in the centre of the site was also 
discussed along with plug planting and enhancing current hedgerows.  
  
Considering the space constraints on site and minimal areas available for ecologically 
enhanced habitat, I would recommend that the developer install integrated bat and 
bird boxes on all 26 dwellings, increase reptile hibernacula prevision from three to four 
(utilising the area around the pumping station for example), and provide hedgehog 
connectivity throughout the site and make sure that all boundaries are permeable. 
These provisions can be secured through pre-commencement condition, so I don’t 
believe there is further requirement for clarifications of amendments. 
 
A CEMP and Landscape and Ecological Plan should be conditioned on any planning 
permission.  
 

Page 69



In regards to the building identified as having low suitability for bat roosting, it is my 
understanding that the land owner has now removed this building.  The incident has 
been reported to the SCDC Planning Enforcement team who I assume have now 
taken appropriate action.  If at any time there is evidence that an illegal act was 
undertaken (i.e. the removal of a bat roost without a licence) then the evidence should 
be taken to the Local Wildlife Liaison Officer at the Cambridgeshire Police 
Constabulary.   
 

30. Tree Officer - Original comments: There are no Conservation Areas or TPO’s on or 
directly adjacent to the site. However, from a quick desk study it is likely that some of 
the hedgerows on and adjacent to site would qualify as ‘important hedgerows’ under 
the Hedgerow Regulations 1997. It is very disappointing that these features have not 
been kept intact within open spaces or green infrastructure. There seems to be no 
reason not to retain as long a length of hedgerow as possible.  
 
An Arboricultural Survey (dated 7 October 2016) has been submitted. This document 
does not appear to have considered the trees and hedgerows adjacent to site in 
neighbouring land. Some of these features are quite large and will impact on the 
development and future residents. I would have also expected a more detailed look at 
the quality of the constituent parts of G3 once it had been determined that this was a 
feature that would be retained in part. 
 
I also have concerns over the other units where the boundary trees, or those on 
adjacent will stand due south of the proposed rear gardens. It would be helpful to be 
supplied for a shade diagram once the sites tree and hedgerow survey has been 
updated. 
 
Update comments: Following amendments to the layout (larger LAP to retain the G3 
trees), moving the dwellings off the boundary) and details of shadowing; the 
development is considered to be acceptable. A tree protection condition should be 
included on any planning application to ensure third party trees and trees to be 
retained on site are protected during the course of construction. 
 

31. Environmental Health Officer - The EHO has reviewed the Impington Lane, Histon, 

Cambridge, Noise Assessment, Reference: FV/JEB/P18‐1419/02 and dated February 
2018. The submitted noise assessment is sufficient to demonstrate the suitability of 
the site for residential development on noise grounds. 
 
The effect of increased vehicle movements on Impington Lane in the vicinity of the 
proposed development and at the vehicular access road was also considered in the 
Noise Assessment. This assessment indicated that there would not be any significant 
impact from increased vehicle movements. Where a perceptible increase in noise has 
been indicated, the inclusion of a 1.8m high fence would be sufficient mitigation. 
 
On balance we have no objection in principle to the proposals, but the following 
environmental health issues / health determinants need to be considered and 
effectively controlled subject to the following conditions; 
 

- Delivery times 08:00 to 18:00 on Monday to Friday and 08:00 to 13:00 on 
Saturday. No construction work or deliveries on Sunday or bank holidays.  

- Prior to development details of any piling activity should be submitted 
- Programme to minimise the spread of airbourne dust 
- Construction programme should be submitted 
- Noise insulation scheme should be submitted and comply with the British 

Standards 

Page 70



- Lighting scheme 
 
32. Representations  

 
Following public consultation on the original application and subsequent amendments, 
approximately 96 letters of objection have been received on this planning application. 
The comments received during the consultation process are viewable on the Councils 
website but the material planning considerations have been summarised below: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Flooding and drainage 
- Application site and area surrounding No.85 Impington Lane is subject to 

flooding. Site specific flood modelling should be requested.  
- The Cambridgeshire County Council Surface Water Management Plan reports 

an ongoing issue with surface water drainage in the village and the 
Cambridgeshire County Council Flood Risk and Drainage Report outlined 
concerns about the proposed below-ground surface water system.  

- Land to the north of the site is in a Flood Zone 2/3.  
- Award drain to the north of the site feeds into The Brook (adjacent to the 

Green) which often floods. 
- Development on the site will increase flood risk elsewhere 
- Waste water pumping station is overused 

 
Ecology/Biodiversity 

- Loss of proposed hedgerow along the northern boundary of the site - ecology 
and biodiversity 

- Plans do not demonstrate a “no net loss or no net gain” to biodiversity  
- Loss of wildlife will be irreparable  
- The site contains a range of different species such as bats, butterflies, 

amphibians, fox, owls, reptiles, insects, deer, hedgehogs, badgers, birds and 
other wild life. 

- Removal of valued hedgerows and trees 
- Removal of outbuilding without consent 
- Loss of bat habitat 
- Requirement to protect hedgerows over 30 years old under the Hedgerow 

Regulations 1997. 
 
Access and Highway safety 

- Highway safety concerns with additional traffic to Impington Lane (primary 
route). Busy road with teenagers commuting to the village college 
(pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles).  

- Visibility splay on the latest plan show the applicants ownership of the land. 
The visibility splay is insufficient and does not meet legal requirements. 

- Visibility splays cut through third party land (trees and hedges). Cannot rely on 
hedgerows to be retained. 

- Pedestrian footway has not been included along the secondary access.  
- Movement of large vehicles to serve the pumping station will be dangerous. 
- Amendment plan shows the raddi to be 5.9m rather than 6.0m as quoted in the 

highway report 
- Vehicles will not be able to continue to park on the other side of Impington 

Lane (opposite the site access) 
- No deliveries should be made during the times when students will be using the 

roads at peak hours 
- Access should be located at Ambrose Way 
- Queuing and knock on impact to the lights on the junction on Impington Lane 

 

Page 71



Demolition  
- The developer/landowner has demolished one of the sheds on the site. 

 
Residential amenity 

- Additional screening needed on the boundary with plots 13 and No.14  
- Loss of privacy to No.85 Impington Lane, garden areas to the rear of 

Merrington Place and garden areas to the rear of Impington Lane 
- Overbearing and overlooking impact to properties on Merrington place. 

Distances are under the District Design Guide SPD. 
- Overlooking between internal plots 7 and plot 16 
- Tree survey plans need to be updated 
- Extension to No.69 has not been included on the plan, however, an outbuilding 

to No.71 has been included 
- Outbuilding to No.71 should not be material to the determination of this 

application 
- Solar panels will reflect into properties along Merrington Place 
- South facing gardens will get no sunshine 

 
Environmental  

- Noise and traffic pollution 
- Increased noise impacts to the side of existing residential units 

 
Trees  

- Trees around the perimeter require root protection 
- Proposed south facing gardens will not benefit from sunshine from midday to 

until early evening.  
- Plots 11, 17-18, 19-20 showing existing trees almost touching the proposed 

dwellings. The proximity of the dwellings to trees will create significant issues 
for the owners of the plots.  

- Existing trees are not accurately shown on the plans in terms of placement.  
 
Green Belt and housing provision 

- The Neighbourhood plan is imminent and should reflect this proposal 
- Green Belt and therefore development is inappropriate  
- No very special circumstances  
- District Council can demonstrate a five year housing land supply 
- Development on the site is not required to meet housing demand 

 
Legal 

- Boundaries of the site do not accurately reflect the actual boundaries 
 
Other Matters 

- Communal garden area should be located in the centre of the site with shared 
and accessible access 

- The local facilities  (school, doctors etc) will not be able to meet the demand of 
the development 

- There is insufficient play space within the village 
- Housing mix is not in accordance with the Local Plan 
- Site delivers under 40% affordable homes 
- No community involvement and no local residents have been consulted of the 

forthcoming application 
- Archaeological investigation should be carried out following findings from the 

Merrington Place development 
- Public art should be provided onsite like the Merrington Place development 

Page 72



- Noise during construction phases and impact to health 
  
 Planning Assessment 
 
33. 

 
During the application process three rounds of amendments were consulted on to 
address concerns brought up during the consultation process. The following 
amendments were made: 

- Site layout - including landscaping 
- Access arrangements 
- Ecology reports 
- Drainage report  
- Red-line site plan 
- Custom-build plot 
 

The following assessment takes into account the amendments. 
 
 Principle of development and sustainability of the site 
  
34. 
 
 
 
 
35. 
 
 
 
 
 
36. 
 
 
 
 
 
37. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
38. 
 
 
 
 
 
39. 

The 1.21ha site is within the village development framework of Histon and Impington 
and has been allocated for residential development in the newly adopted Local Plan. 
The site is no longer in the Cambridge Green Belt. The proposal seeks full planning 
permission for 26 dwellings.  
 
The provision of 26 dwellings will contribute towards the district housing need. In 
accordance with the Housing Trajectory (Annual Monitoring Report 2016-2017) the 
homes are due to be delivered in 2019/2020. They will contribute towards maintaining 
the Councils Five Year Housing Supply. The applicant has continued to show 
commitment to delivering within this timeframe. 
 
Policy H/1 states that the site should be developed in accordance with the relevant 
Local Plan policy requirements and proceeds to state that the number of homes 
granted permission on the site may be higher or lower than the indicative capacity and 
should be determined through a design-led approach and contributions made towards 
any necessary additional infrastructure.  
 
Site specific policy H/1(d) states that the site has an indicative capacity of 25 
dwellings. The proposal seeks to introduce 26 new dwellings the number of units 
would therefore comply with this part of the policy. The policy also requires the 
development to:  
 

- create a significant landscape buffer along the boundary of the site where it 
adjoins or could be seen from the open countryside to provide a soft green 
edge 

- design to mitigate the impact on the conservation area and nearby listed 
buildings 

- no built development to take place in flood zone 2 or 3 
 
The development has been assessed against these criteria under the relevant 
sections in this report. The principle of development, including its sustainable location 
has been supported by the District Council and the inspector through the Local Plan. 
The sustainability of Histon and Impington is also reflected in its allocation as a Rural 
Centre.  
 
The development can no longer be said to be premature and would accord with the 
main aims of policy H/1 and H/1(d) of the adopted Local Plan (2018). These matters 

Page 73



should be given full weight and regard to in the determination of this application. 
  
 
 
40.  
 
 
 
41. 
 
 
 
 
 
42. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
43. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
44. 
 
 
 
 
45. 

Education provision 
 
Policy TI/9 states that developers should engage with the Children Services 
Authorities at the earliest opportunity to ensure the appropriate mitigation is identified 
and can be secured. 
 
Several third party comments have raised concerns to the capacity of the local 
schools. Cambridgeshire County Council Education department (children’s services) 
have review the scheme in terms of the impact of the development on early, primary 
and secondary schools in the catchment. The catchment setting for early years for the 
proposed development is Histon and Impington Infant School.  
 
The proposed development will generate an early years child yield of 6 (four of which 
will be entitled to free school provision). The CCC have confirmed there is no capacity 
to take on students from the proposed development and therefore mitigation towards 
an offsite project is required. A new 52 place early years facility is being built at 
Buxhall Primary School. Based on the child yield of 4 students, the proposed 
development will need to contribute £73,848. 
 
The catchment setting for primary years for the proposed development is Histon and 
Impington Primary School. The proposed development will generate a primary year 
child yield of 6 students. The CCC has confirmed there is no capacity to take on the 
students from the proposed development and therefore mitigation towards an offsite 
project is required. A new 2FE primary school at Buxhall Farm is being built to replace 
the infant school. Based on the child yield of 6 students, the proposed development 
would need to contribute £99,996.  
 
The catchment setting for secondary school years for the proposed development is 
Impington Village College. The proposed development will generate a secondary yield 
of 4 students. The CCC has confirmed there is capacity to take on the students from 
the development and therefore a contribution is not required. 
 
The developer has agreed to provide contributions toward early years and primary 
years in accordance with the comments above and they will be secured via the s106 
agreement. The contributions are considered to be directly related, reasonable and 
necessary to mitigate the impact of development and therefore would accord with the 
CIL regulations. In addition to this the infrastructure payment would accord with the 
requirements of site specific policy H/1 of the Local Plan. 

  
 
 
46. 
 
 
 
47. 
 
 
 
 
 
48. 
 

Health Care and Impact Assessment 
 
The site is located in close proximity to Firs House Surgery. A development of this 
scale would not generate a significant number of residents that would warrant a 
contribution towards the expansion of the surgery NHS England.  
 
Given the scale of the scheme the application is accompanied by a rapid HIA. Policy 
SC/2 of the Local Plan states that new development should have a positive impact on 
the health and wellbeing of new and existing residents. For developments between 20 
and 100 the policy states that the Health Impact Assessment should be a rapid 
assessment that is appropriate to the scale and nature of the proposed development. 
 
The HIA is a method of considering the positive and negative impacts of development 
on the health of different groups in the population, to enhance the benefits and 

Page 74



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
49. 
 
 
 
 
50. 

minimise any risks to health. The HIA recognises that during construction there will be 
an 18-month period where activities might give rise to short term negative impacts. 
However, concludes that this can be mitigated through the use of planning conditions 
to control activity. The HIA goes onto recognise that the scheme will also bring health 
benefits for future occupiers for being in a sustainable location and provision of high 
quality more sustainable housing. 
 
The Heath Impact Officer has marked the document down as it was absent on a 
number of details including; site description and its surroundings, context of the site 
and highlighting policies in the Local Plan and National Framework. It goes onto 
states that more work needs to be undertaken to asses the impact. 
 
Whilst this level of information would be desirable to get an in-depth picture, the 
scheme is for only 26 dwellings and therefore officers consider the rapid assessment 
undertaken when read alongside the planning statement and design and access 
statement as part of this application, the information would be sufficient and would 
accord with the requirements of policy SC/2 of the Local Plan and would be a suitable 
form of development that will have a positive impact on the health and wellbeing of 
new and existing residents. 

  
 
 
51. 
 
 
 

Housing Density 
 
The overall density of the development is an average of 23 dwellings per hectare. 
Whilst this is below the threshold of 30 dwellings per hectare set in adopted policy 
H/7, local circumstances including the shape of the site and the location of existing 
residential amenity dictate that a lower density is needed. The indicative density was 
accepted as part of the sites allocation. 

  
 
 
52. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
53. 
 

Affordable housing  
 
Adopted policy H/9 states that all developments which increase the net number of 
homes on a site by 10 or more should provide 40% affordable housing on-site. The 
proposal would meet this policy requirement and includes 10 affordable housing units 
(40%) on plots 17-26. The tenure spit of the affordable units is as follows to meet 
identified local need: 
 

- 6x 1bedroom apartments 
- 2x 2bedroom dwelling 
- 2x 3bedroom dwelling 

 
The tenure mix of these 10 units is in accordance with the Council’s Affordable 
Housing SPD, which is 70% affordable rented (plot 17-20, 21-22) and 30% 
intermediate/shared ownership housing (plot 23-26). The units will be secured in a 
S106 agreement. The proposed development is in accordance with policy H/9 of the 
Local Plan together with guidance contained within the Council’s Affordable Housing 
SPD. The Councils Housing Officer has supported the proposal. All of the house types 
meet the Nationally Described Space Standards (NDSS) accordance with policy H/12 
of the Local Plan. 

  
 
 
54. 
 
 
 

Housing mix  
 
Adopted policy H/9 requires development to deliver a wide choice, type and mix of 
homes to meet the needs of different groups in the community. Market homes should 
consist of 30% 1-2 bedrooms, 30% 3 bedrooms, 30% 4 or more homes with 10% 
flexibility.  

Page 75



 
55.  
 
 
 
 
56. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
57. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
58. 
 
 
59. 
 
 

 
The policy also requires that on all sites of 20 or more dwellings developers will supply 
dwelling plots for sale to self and custom builders and that 5% of market homes in a 
development should be built to the accessible and adaptable dwellings M4(2) 
standard (rounding down to the nearest whole property).  
 
The proposal includes the provision of 16 market dwellings. In accordance with the 
policy the 30% requirement each dwelling type should be at least 4.8 units. The 
proposed mix includes: 

- 4 x 2bedroom unit (one of which will be for custom-build)  
- 6x 3bedroom unit (one of which will be an adaptable dwelling M4(2) 
- 6 x 4/5bedroom unit  

 
At this stage, the housing mix policy does not set criteria for how many self-
build/custom build units are to be provided within a development. The proposal would 
introduce one custom-build unit (plot 1). Two optional layouts have been put forward. 
This will equate to 6% of the market mix. This provision would accord with the 
standards that are being set by other local authorities in the country. This plot will be 
secured in the s106 agreement and the appropriate marketing of the plot will be 
undertaken in accordance with the agreed details and in consultation with our housing 
strategy officers. Plot 16 has been designed to M4(2) accessible and adaptable 
standard. This provision has been rounded down to the nearest whole in accordance 
with the terms of the policy. A compliance condition will be included on the decision 
notice to ensure it is finished to this specification.  
 
All of the house types meet the Nationally Described Space Standards (NDSS) in 
accordance with policy H/12 of the Local Plan. 
 
The proposed market mix for two-bedroom units would fall short of being compliant 
with the criteria by 0.8 units. Officers requested an amendment to the application; 
however, the applicant has chosen not to make any amendments to the housing mix. 
On this basis officers have to consider the scheme on it merits in light of this shortfall.  
Despite the fact this is a small scheme, the agent has overall still demonstrated that a 
wide choice of homes will be delivered on the site with a mixture of market homes and 
would therefore comply with the main aims and objectives of policy H/9 and paragraph 
61 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

  
 
 
60.  
 
 
 
61.  
 
 
 
 
62. 
 
 
 
63. 
 
 

Impact on the character of the area and landscape  
 
Most of the proposed development is located behind existing properties that front onto 
Impington Lane and Merrington Place. The heights of the dwellings will be limited to 
two-storey with some of the larger units being two-half storey.  
 
Views into the site will be limited to the proposed access points, views from private 
gardens and glimpses between properties along the street-scenes. Given the existing 
established landscape boundary to the north, views from the wider landscape setting 
will be more limited. 
 
Beyond the northern boundary is the remainder of the two fields which are then 
bounded by dense mature hedgerows with hedgerow trees. This thick hedgerow 
screens any views to the other agricultural fields in the wider landscape to the north. 
 
A landscape buffer will span across the northern boundary connecting to the existing 
buffer along the rear boundary of Merrington Place. It will be 5m in depth for the 
majority, however, it will go down to 2m on the central section to ensure sufficient 

Page 76



 
 
 
 
 
64. 
 
 

room is given between the new units and the garden amenity area of properties along 
Impington Lane. Most of the dwellings, apart from plot 6 and plot 15, will be set a 
further 8m from the edge of the buffer and this will also help in limiting the sites impact 
on the surroundings.  
 
The proposal would therefore continue to preserve the character of the local area and 
would provide a significant landscape buffer that would mitigated the impact of the 
development to the open countryside in accordance with criteria in site specific policy 
H/1(d) and HQ/1(a) of the adopted Local Plan. 

  
 
 
65. 

Heritage Assets 
 
Policy H/1 (d) allocating the land for development requires the design of the 
development to ‘mitigate impact on the conservation area and nearby listed buildings’.  
The proposed site is not within a conservation area. Due to the mass and density of 
the boundary vegetation along the eastern boundary of the site, which is to be 
retained, views of the development will be limited from Clay Close Lane.  Views along 
Impington Lane would also be seen within the context of the existing village edge and 
other housing development. The proposal would therefore preserve the setting of the 
Conservation Area and nearby listed buildings in accordance with H/1(d) and HQ/14 
of the Local Plan. 

  
 
 
66.  
 
 
 
 
67. 
 
 
 
68.  
 
 
 
 
69. 
 
 
70. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
71.  
 
 

Layout  
 
A full set of technical studies have been submitted with the application and have 
informed the proposed layout and design of the scheme. This includes climate change 
mitigation and adaption. The scheme has also been discussed at pre-application 
stage and with the Councils Design and Enabling Panel. 
 
The proposed layout and design of the development has been amended during public 
consultation to minimise the impact on the adjoining residential properties and to 
improve the public open space.    
 
The existing access between 51 and 67 Impington Lane will be upgraded and provide 
access to the site with a new road within the development. Appropriate turning areas 
for emergency, refuse and service vehicles have been incorporated into the proposed 
layout. 
 
The affordable housing is in the centre of the site and will comprise 10 units (6 of 
which are apartments). This will also include the shared ownership tenure units.  
 
Based on the previous Local Development Framework, the Affordable Housing policy 
HG/3 (in paragraph 4.13) advised clusters should typically be around 6-8 units. An 
appeal inspector at for a development of 35 dwellings with 14 affordable units in one 
area at Greenacres Duxford (September 2017) found that the policy and SPD should 
not be applied rigidly or exclusively when material consideration indicate an exception 
may be necessary. They found that the separate tenure groups of affordable housing 
were not contiguous and were separated by integral roads, parking and landscaping. 
The development would also be tenure blind as thus would be well integrated. There 
was also support from a Housing Provider who stated they would be better managed 
in that format.  
 
The newly adopted policy H/10 states that affordable housing should be provided in 
small groups or clusters distributed through the site. Paragraph 7.48 of policy H/10 
states that affordable homes should be integrated with market homes in small groups 

Page 77



 
 
 
72.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
73.  
 
 
74.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
75.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
76.  
 
 
 
77.  
 
 
 
 
 
78. 
 
 
 
79. 
 
 
 
 
80. 
 
 
 
 

or clusters to create sustainable communities. The policy does not now define what a 
suitable size cluster is.  
 
Whilst some concern has been made raised to clustering in the consultation process, 
there would still be a mixture of tenure types within this area. This includes their 
location adjacent to the boundaries market units along Impington Lane and on the 
site, the variation of housing types within the cluster (1 bedroom flats - 2 bedroom 
houses) and in inclusion of shared ownership units. In addition the overall design 
would be tenure blind so materials used in the external surfaces would be compatible 
with the other dwellings on the site. Officers are also mindful that an Registered 
Provider has shown interest in taking on the properties subject to planning permission. 
  
As such a mixed and balanced community would be created in accordance with the 
adopted policy H/10 and National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
To overcome concerns of the urban design officer, the open space/LAP in the centre 
of the site has been made larger to create a more inclusive form of development with 
views out to the green belt. The agent has considered the comments about the 
footpath additional connection to the south-west of the site but due to the site 
constraints was not able to fit this in around the pumping station. Notwithstanding this, 
due to the small scale size it is still considered reasonable for occupiers 15 to use the 
main access and is unlikely to put them off walking or cycling to get to facilities close 
by.  
 
Several third-party comments have raised concerns to the location of the ‘communal 
garden’ in the south western corner of the site with concerns over security. This area 
will be a private space and will solely serve the residential flats of plot 17-21. The 
applicant has submitted an amended landscape proposal for this area which includes 
low level fencing and additional planting reflecting its intended use. The precise 
details can be secured via a landscape planning condition.  
 
Within the layout of the scheme provision is made for informal open space with 
proposed tree planting. Following amendments this area was made larger so existing 
trees/hedgerow could be retained and work alongside a LAP.  
 
In terms of renewable energy, the southerly aspect of the site has been utilised with 
modest sized rear gardens facing south with most houses being able to achieve 
higher levels of passive solar gain.  
 
Scale and Appearance 
 
The proposed 26 homes are contained within two-storey-two-half storey buildings, 
following traditional forms. The scale of the development is reflective of other 
domestic dwellings found within the wider context of Histon. 
 
The DEP and Urban Design Officer felt that the design of the adjoining Merrington 
Place had many good features. As this site is a continuation of that development, the 
spatial, material and massing qualities of Merrington Place should be reflected in the 
proposed development. 
 
The Design and Access Statement (Hill Residential) includes an analysis of 
Merrington Place and how the key design principles have been used in the proposed 
scheme. This includes but not limited to; mixture of eaves and gable ends facing the 
road, minimal front gardens and off-road parking, use of vernacular materials 
including brick timber, cladding and render and contemporary style windows. 

Page 78



 
 
 
81. 
 
 
 
82. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
83. 
 
 
 
 
 
84. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
85. 
 
 
 
86. 
 
 
 
 
87. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
88. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Landscape and trees 
 
The application is accompanied by a Typographical Survey, Arboricutural Survey and 
the Root Protection Areas plotted on the Tree Constraints Plan. This has informed the 
proposed layout.  
 
Within the site a category B hedgerows (moderate quality and value making a 
contribution for more than 20 years) was identified running north to south through the 
centre of the site. The trees within this hedgerow are currently obscured by dense 
scrub, ivy and vegetation. The buffer with some of the trees has been plotted in an 
approximate location on the typo survey and laid over the proposed site layout plan. 
The buffer is approximately 11m wide. Some of the buffer is within the ownership of 
the applicants and some within third party land. 
 
The Countryside Hedgerows: Protection and Management guidance by Natural 
England (August 2017) which underpins the Hedgerows Regulations 1997, states that 
applicants are not required to apply to the Local Planning Authority to remove the 
hedgerow from an area that benefits from a planning permission. As such the loss of 
part of the hedgerow should be considered on it merits in relation to this application. 
 
The applicant proposes to narrow and remove part of the category B hedgerow 
running north to south through the site to accommodate the proposed development. 
There will also be parts of the hedgerow that will need to be managed and cut back 
that are close to residential properties, in particular those that are close to plots 17-20. 
The typo survey demonstrates that most of the trees with the hedgerow are likely to 
be retained, apart from one, adjacent to plot 10.  
 
During the consultation process, the LAP on the site has been increased to allow 
more of the hedgerow to be retained and there is some flexibility on retaining the 
hedgerow around the communal garden area.  
 
In addition, the applicant proposes to remove the hedgerow (to accommodate the 
access) adjacent to Impington Lane. Part of the hedgerow in the centre of the site (to 
accommodate the road and LAP area) and part of the hedgerow near the existing 
barns (to accommodate the pumping station).  
 
To mitigate the impact and loss of part of the hedgerow, a 5m, reducing down to 2m at 
the central section, landscape buffer will span along the northern boundary (approx. 
185m) which can comprise of mixed native hedgerow species, small trees and 
species of rich wildflower grass. This will connect the existing landscape buffer to the 
rear of Merrington Place and the established hedgerow to the east. Additional 
tree/shrub planting will line the streets. Unlike the existing, the hedgerows will be 
maintained by the management company on the site in perpetuity. 
 
The types, species, location, stock and details of planting to be retained and new 
planting will be requested via planning condition. A tree protection plan will also be 
required by planning condition to ensure trees around the boundary in third party 
ownership are protected during construction. 
For the above reasons that proposal is therefore considered to comply with policy 
HQ/1(a) of the Local Plan which seeks to ensure developments are of a high quality 
and sympathetic to the surroundings. 
 
Renewable Energy and Water Consumption 
 

Page 79



89. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
90. 

A renewable energy statement supports the application. The SAP calculations 
demonstrate the development would achieve 10.8% reduction of the schemes 
predicted energy requirements and reduce onsite regulated C02 emissions by 
22.32%. This recommends a combination of demand-reduction measures, energy 
efficient measures and renewable energy (including photovoltaic panels on unshaded 
parts of the roof) will deliver the requirement for on-site CO2 reductions. The Councils 
Sustainability Officer has concluded that the proposal in the statement would make 
the scheme fully compliant with Local Plan policy CC/3 in reducing carbon emissions 
by a minimum of 10%. 
 
In terms of water consumption, the application has set out details of how the 
development would achieve levels below 105 litres/person/day. This includes dual 
flush WC, volume baths, water consumption appliances. This provision would accord 
with policy CC/4 of the adopted Local Plan.  A condition will be applied to the decision 
notice for a full water conservation and management plan to ensure the applicant 
complies with the requirements of the policy. 

  
 
 
91.  
 
 
 
 
 
92.  
 
 
 
93.  
 
 
 
94.  
 
 
 
 
95. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
96. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
97. 
 

Residential Amenity  
 
Policy HQ/1 (n) seeks to protect the health and amenity of occupiers and surrounding 
uses from development that is overlooking, overbearing or results in a loss of daylight 
which avoids unacceptable impacts such as noise, vibration, odour, emissions and 
dust. The Council also has a District Design Guide which also seeks to guide 
development in the area.  
 
The gardens to the dwellings will be a minimum of 50 square meters and the 
apartments 30 square meters and therefore would provide a suitable level of private 
residential amenity for future occupiers. 
 
The trees around the edge of the site but outside the redline boundary are in third 
party ownership and therefore due regard has to be given to them in assessing the 
impact they might have on proposed garden areas.  
 
In addition to the above the tree officer raised concern about the potential 
overshadowing of the garden areas serving plots 23 & 24 by the tall hedgerow/trees 
that run along the southern boundary (outside of the ownership of the applicant). In 
response to this the agent, undertook a tree shadow diagram.  
 
The diagram demonstrates that during the summer months the garden areas will 
receive a good degree (approximately 50% coverage) of direct sunshine, however, 
during winter months this coverage will decrease in the afternoons to the area outside 
the back doors. On balance officers consider a reasonable level of sunlight will enter 
the garden areas through the year and would not be significantly harmful to their 
residential amenity. Reflection from solar panels is not considered to cause a 
detrimental impact to residential amenity given the distance from the boundaries. 
 
Residents have raised concerns about the potential noise impacts from the new 
access into the site. Given the site will serve only 26 units, vehicle movements will be 
more limited and likely to be neglible against noise from traffic along Impington Lane. 
The Councils Environmental Health Officer has considered the implications of the 
noise assessment report and has raised no objections.  The impact of vehicle lights to 
ground floor rooms can be mitigated by landscape or low-level fencing.  
 
During the consultation process, third party concerns have been raised about 
overlooking and overbearing impact from some of the plots. The layout has been 

Page 80



 
 
 
98. 
 
 
 
 
 
99. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
100. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
101. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
102. 
 
 
 
103. 
 
 
 
104. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
105. 

amended to address these concerns. The following assessment has been undertaken 
in relation to nearby dwellings: 
 
Impact to No.4-No.14 Merrington Place - The back-to-back distances between the 
residential units are approximately 27m and distances to garden boundaries from the 
proposed development is are 20m (15m garden depth and 5m landscape buffer). The 
inter-relationship in terms of overlooking to habitual rooms and garden areas is 
acceptable and would accord with the principles in the Councils District Design guide. 
 
Impact to No.67-71 Impington Lane - These properties and their garden areas 
currently back onto the application site. The rear boundaries of the gardens are lined 
with tall trees and hedgerows. There garden depths are approximately 17-26m. The 
back-to-back distances between the proposed and existing properties at first floor 
level is approximately 30m. These distances would exceed the distances in the design 
guide (set at 25m) and therefore overlooking to first floor habitual rooms would be 
limited. 
 
In terms of overlooking to garden areas, as amended, the proposed dwellings will sit 
13.5m-13.9m from the shared boundary. The District Design Guide (para.69) states 
that ‘to prevent the overlooking of habitable rooms to the rear of residential properties 
and rear private gardens, it is preferable that a minimum distance of 15m is provided 
between the windows and the property boundary. It goes onto state that where a 
potential problem is evident protective boundary treatments, garden walls and 
planting, can assist in obscuring views.  
 
The garden areas of the existing dwellings are relatively deep and exceed the 
standards in the design guide. The trees/hedgerows on the southern boundary of the 
site are within the ownership of the existing properties and will help in providing a 
screen to limit the impact of overlooking. Together these considerations mean that the 
perception of overlooking to existing garden spaces will not be significant or adverse 
and therefore the guidance in the design guide should not be applied rigidly having 
regard to all the other material considerations. 
 
Impact to No.49-51 Impington Lane - The distance from the rear elevation of No.51 to 
the side elevation of plot 1 is approximately 22m. There are no first-floor side facing 
habitual windows and therefore no direct overlooking would be obtained.  
 
In terms of overbearing given the suns direction from east to west and given that the 
proposed dwelling will be 3m off the shared boundary there will be no significant or 
adverse overbearing impacts or loss of light. 
 
Impact to No.75 Impington Lane - Plots 17-20 will set 7m from the shared boundary of 
No.75 and to the existing tree belt. The first-floor rear elevation will contain two 
habitable room windows facing into the garden of No.75. Given that No.75 has a 
garden depth of approx. 65m and the proposed windows will face the garden at its 
furthest point from the main house, a suitable level of private amenity will be 
maintained for this property.  
 
Impact to No.85 Impington Lane - Plot 14 has been angled towards the pumping 
station to avoid any direct overlooking impacts to No.85. The southern elevation of the 
garage (with rooms above) will contain roof lights; however, these will be located 1.7m 
from the finished floor level to avoid overlooking. This can be conditioned on the 
planning permission. Future occupiers will still have a good level of privacy as the plot 
extends around the corner. 
 

Page 81



For the reasons set about above, the proposal is considered to accord with policy 
HQ/1(n) and provides a good level of amenity for existing and future occupiers.  

  
 
 
106. 
 
 
 
 
107. 
 
 
 
108. 
 
 
 
 
109. 
 
 
 
 
 
110. 
 
 
 
 
111. 
 
 
 
 
112. 
 
 
 
 
 
113. 
 
 
 
 
 
114. 
 
 
 
115. 
 
 
 

Highway safety 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 109 states developments should 
only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable 
impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network 
would be severe. 
 
The site is located in a highly accessible location within close proximity to regular bus 
services. Whilst Impington Lane does not have dedicated cycle lanes, it is near cycle 
networks that lead into Cambridge.  
 
Following the third party concerns, officers visited the area during the PM peak hour. It 
was clear that Impington Lane is a heavily used road by vehicles, pedestrians and 
cyclists. One factor that contributes to this level of activity is the proximity to Impington 
Village College.  
 
The application is accompanied by a Transport Statement (TS) by TPA (dated March 
2018). Within the TS estimations have been made on the quantum of trips that may 
be generated by the proposed development. It concludes that roughly 16 two-way 
vehicle trips in the AM peak (between 8am-9am) and 1 two-way vehicle tip in the PM 
peak (5pm-6pm).  
 
The low quantum of vehicle trips that would be generated from this development 
would not cause a detrimental impact on the local highway network. The Local 
Highways Authority has reviewed the planning application and has not raised any 
objections on highway safety grounds linked to the capacity of the network. 
 
In terms of suitability of the access points, the TS data supports the applicant’s 
proposal and demonstrates  vehicle visibility splays to the main vehicle access into 
the site can be achieved within the ownership of the applicant and across highway 
authority land. As such this demonstrates vehicles can enter and leave the site safely.  
 
The secondary vehicle access point currently serves No.85 Impington Lane and the 
agricultural barns. As a result of the proposal there will be no pedestrian or vehicle 
through traffic and would continue to serve No.85 and a pumping station linked to the 
development. There will be roughly two vehicle movements a year associated with the 
maintenance of the pumping station.  
 
Due to the constraints, the movement plan in the TS demonstrates the maintenance 
vehicle will need to reverse into the lane from main road. A traffic management plan 
condition can ensure that any trips associated with the pumping station are made 
outside of peak hours unless there needs to be emergency repair work. This will limit 
highway safety risk to pedestrians or cyclists. 
 
With respect to relevant national and local planning policies, the cumulative transport 
impact of the development is not considered to be severe, nor does the proposal 
demonstrate that there would be an unacceptable highway safety risk. 
 
Despite the significant number of objections to the application on these grounds, there 
are no reasons on highways or transport grounds to refuse the planning application 
for development in this location. The proposal would therefore comply with policy 
SC/11 of the Local Plan. A travel plan will be secured via planning condition to ensure 

Page 82



 
 
116. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
117. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
118. 
 
 
 
 
119. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
120. 
 
 
 
121. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
122. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

sustainable modes of transports are encouraged when the dwellings are occupied. 
 
Requests have been made for double yellow lines to be included adjacent to the 
access into the site to prevent on street car parking. Officers have looked into this 
request with the highways authority, however, it is not considered reasonable to 
secure as part of the planning application as it would require its own Traffic Regulation 
Order. This is a legal process that can only be carried out by the highways authority 
and will need to go through its own public consultation process. As such it cannot be 
guaranteed with this planning application that the yellow lines will be approved or 
implemented. Notwithstanding this, the applicant/parish council can take this 
suggestion forward independently of this application if this becomes an issue. 
 
Parking 
 
Each house will be provided with a minimum of two parking spaces. All apartments 
will contain a single parking space. Every dwelling will have provision for lockable 
cycle storage facilities, either within the garages or where no garages within secure 
garden sheds or communal stores. Conditions will be included on the decision notice 
for the details of the cycle storage.  
 
Flood Risk and Drainage  
 
Drainage The site consists of a steady fall from the south to the north across the site. 
In accordance with the Environment Agency flood maps that site falls within a flood 
zone 1, comprising land assessed as having a less than 1 in 1000 annual probity of 
flooding. To the north and outside of the redline is a flood zone 2/3. 
 
Flood Risk - To determine whether the development would have a detrimental off-site 
impact to surrounding properties a Flood Risk Assessment was undertaken by Walker 
Associates Consulting on behalf of the applicants. Flooding from other sources such 
as groundwater, sewers, surface water and from other artificial sources have been 
found not affect the proposed development. But in case of this occurrence, the raising 
of finished floor levels a minimum of 150mm above ground level is considered 
adequate protection from this form of flooding. The Environment Agency has not 
raised any in principle objections to the application 
 
Surface Water Drainage Discharge - The surface water drainage strategy was 
amended in July 2018 following a holding objection from the Lead Local Flood and 
Water Authority (LLFA).  
 
As amended, the surface water run-off will be to the local watercourse to the northern 
field boundary. As the typography of the site falls in this direction the connection from 
the site will be in line with this natural hydrology. The Lead Local Flood and Water 
Authority have confirmed the discharge rates will be like that of greenfield rates. The 
management of the surface water runoff will be provided by permeable paving and 
geo-cellular storage units. A condition for a detailed drainage scheme for the site, 
based on the agreed strategy will need to be applied to the decision notice.  
 
Third party concerns have been submitted about the capacity of  
the brook to take additional flows and the knock on impacts this would have to the 
area around the green. Whilst officers understand the capacity of the network is a 
wider concern and a wider water strategy for the Histon and Impington area is being 
pursued by the County Council, the drainage strategy for this site demonstrates that 
the discharge rates would be similar to green field and thus there should be limited 
impact as a result of this development. 

Page 83



 
123. 
 
 
 
 
124. 
 
 
 
 
125. 
 
 
 
 
 
126. 
 
 

 
Foul water drainage - The foul water generated from the site will be via two 
connections to the adopted sewer located in Impington Lane. One of these 
connections will be made by gravity; however the other will require the installation of a 
new private foul water pumping station, located to the rear of plot 14.   
 
Whilst this indicative strategy demonstrates a connection can in made to existing 
infrastructure, Anglian Water have request a condition for a detailed drainage strategy 
to be submitted to ensure the development would not lead to an unacceptable risk of 
flooding downstream. 
 
The foul drainage from this development is in the catchment of Cambridge Water 
Recycling Centre which does not currently have capacity to treat the flows from this 
development. However, Anglian Water are obligated to accept the foul flows from the 
development with the benefit of planning permission and would therefore take the 
necessary steps to ensure that there is sufficient treatment capacity. 
 
For the above reasons, the proposed development is in accordance with policies 
CC/7, CC/8 and CC/9 of the adopted Local Plan and guidance contained within the 
Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD (2016).   

  
 
 
127. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
128. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
129. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
130. 
 
 
 
 

Biodiversity 
 
The majority of the application site is comprised of semi-improved grassland, with 
intact species-rich hedgerows with trees on the eastern boundary and in a central belt 
that currently separates the two fields.  There are also areas of tall ruderal and 
continuous scrub.  The site does sit within the impact zone of a nearby statutory-
protected site; however it does not meet the criteria required for a statutory 
consultation with Natural England. The species records for the area indicate a very 
healthy farmland bird population.  
 
The application is supported by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal, and a series of 
phase 2 survey reports.  The Councils Ecology Officers considers that sufficient 
survey effort has been applied to this site to inform the determination of this 
application, and no further surveys are required at this time.  The reports have 
highlighted several ecological receptors that will require avoidance and mitigation to 
remove any residual impact to them caused by this application. This specifically 
includes bats and reptiles. 
 
Paragraph 170(d) of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that 
planning decisions should; contribute to and enhance natural and local environment 
by minimising impact on and providing net gains for biodiversity. Paragraph 175(a) 
states that when determining planning applications the following principles should be 
applied; if significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a development cannot be 
avoided adequately mitigated or at least compensated for then planning permission 
should be refused. Part (d) of the paragraph states that; development whose primary 
objective is to conserve or enhance biodiversity should be supported; whilst 
opportunities to incorporate biodiversity improvements in and around developments 
should be encouraged. Policy NH/4 of the adopted Local Plan echoes this advice. 
 
In terms of bat roosts, the surveys concluded building 1 (barn to the east of the site) is 
a low suitability bat roost due to having a number of roof lights. Prior to its demolition 
by the current owner (Unwin Seeds), the Councils Ecology Officer recommended it 
was dismantled under supervision of qualified ecologist. This was to be conditioned in 
the decision notice.  

Page 84



 
131. 
 
 
 
 
 
132. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
133. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
134. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
135. 

 
In terms of reptiles, the applicant suggests that if any individual reptile is found during 
construction it will be removed to the land north of the site by a suitably qualified 
Ecologist. As the population of retiles has been deemed low in the surveys, the 
Councils Ecologist considers this to be adequate mitigation to prevent physical harm 
during construction phase. This will be conditioned in the decision notice. 
 
In terms of minimising the impact and providing net gains for biodiversity as 
encouraged by national and local planning policy, given the allocated housing density 
and size of the site, as designated in the Local Plan, measurable net gains in 
biodiversity through habitat creation and management is unachievable. Without any 
further mitigation or compensation measures significant harm to biodiversity is 
therefore likely. 
 
However, In accordance with biodiversity hierarchy in paragraph 175(a) of the NPPF 
and policy NH/4(3), other mitigation and compensation measures have been 
maximised including hedgehog connectivity, communal garden and open space, bird 
and bat boxes, around the pumping station and maintaining parts of the central 
corridor and enhancing/adding hedgerows. These compensation features are over 
and above the standard provision we would expect for a development site given a net 
gain is unachievable. These features would be secured by planning conditions as 
proposed by the Councils Ecology Officer. 
 
Therefore whilst the application cannot demonstrate a measurable net gain in 
biodiversity, sufficient compensation measures have been incorporated to 
demonstrate that the proposed development would not result significant harm to 
biodiversity to warrant the application for refusal. The proposal would therefore 
comply with the minimum requirements set out in policy NH/4 and paragraph 175 of 
the NPPF. 
 
During the application process, the current owner has since removed building 1 
(existing barn) from the application site. This incident was reported to the Councils 
Enforcement team and a warning was issued to the landowner but no further action 
was taken as the surveys indicated a low probability of bat roosts and the Council had 
no further evidence to suggest a bat roost was there. Officers are not aware of any 
case/evidence being taken to the Cambridge Police Constabulary by third parties. 
 

 Other Matters 
  
136. 
 
 
 
137. 
 
 
 
 
 
138. 
 
 
 
139. 
 

Waste and recycling - The proposed development takes into account appropriate 
accommodation for waste storage in accordance with the RECAP Waste 
Management Design Guide SPD. 
 
Broadband - A telecoms plan (by Virgin Media) has been submitted with the 
application to identify Virgin Media apparatus. A trench line runs along either side 
Impington Lane and will be accessible for connection to high speed broadband 
services. A compliance condition will be included on the decision notice to ensure the 
ducting from the properties is provided prior to occupation. 
 
Off-site contributions - The Councils S106 officer has consulted with the Parish 
Council and applicant on proposed projects within the village that the development 
contribute towards to mitigate the impact of the development.  
 
In terms of formals sports an offsite contribution of £26,878.22 towards playing pitch 
provision at the either (i) recreation ground or (ii) Victor Unwin Community Park (if this 

Page 85



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
140. 
 
 
 
 
141. 
 
 
 
 
 
142. 
 
 
 
143. 
 
 
 
 
144. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
145. 

is permitted). Formal children’s open space £34,956.08 towards new children’s play 
equipment on either (i) recreation ground or (ii) Victor Unwin Community Park (if this 
is permitted). Informal children’s play space and open space has been provided 
onsite. In terms of community space an offsite contribution of £12,202.72 towards a 
community building on the (i) parish council building at the recreation ground or (ii) 
Victor Unwin Community Park.  
 
The provision of public art in the form of a contribution of £13,000 towards the 
commissioning and installation of bespoke public art works in the village in 
accordance with the local ‘Theories of Home’ project. This contribution would comply 
with policy HQ/2 ‘Public Art’ of the Local Plan. 
 
The Councils S106 Officer has reviewed the projects and officers consider in this 
format they meet the tests of CIL regulations 123 and are necessary to mitigate the 
impact of the development. They will be secured via s106 agreement and the heads 
of terms is attached to this committee report. The contributions area considered 
required in accordance with policies SC/6, SC/7, and SC/8 of the Local Plan. 
 
Archaeology - A condition will be placed on the decision notice for a written scheme of 
investigation to record any findings on the site and prevent any damage to heritage 
assets in accordance with policy NE/14 of the adopted Local Plan. 
 
Neighbourhood Plan – The Histon and Impington neighbourhood plan is currently 
being drafted by the Parish Council. It has not yet gone out for formal consultation and 
therefore is at an early stage of preparation. Only limited weight can be given to the 
plan in the determination of this application. 
 
Community Involvement - Local representation has commented that Community & 
Parish Council engagement has been inadequate commenting that there was just a 
single meeting with the Parish Council and that the contents of which were not 
incorrectly documented in the report. The agent has commented that discussions 
were held with both the parish council and the community when the site was brought 
forward as an allocation. Whilst more community engagement would have been 
encouraged to resolve some of the outstanding issues in relation to the layout/design 
etc, the Local Planning Authority cannot require that the developer engages before 
submitting an application, as per paragraph 40 of the National framework. 
 
Boundaries - Third party objection has been received comments that the boundaries 
of the site do not accurately reflect the actual boundaries. Boundary disputes are a 
civil matter and will need to be resolved directly with the landowners involved. The 
applicant is comfortable that the boundaries of the site are in accordance with the 
legal title. 
 

 Conclusion 
  
146. 
 
 
 
 
147. 
 
 
 
148. 

In accordance with paragraph 11 of the National Planning Policy Framework, 
decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development. For  
decision taking this means approving development proposals that accord with an up-
to-date development plan without delay.  
 
The site has been allocated for development in the newly adopted Local Plan and 
includes both market and affordable houses. These will contribute to maintaining the 
Councils five-year housing land supply.   
 
In terms of economic and social benefits, contributions towards education and off-site 

Page 86



 
 
 
149. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
150. 
 
 
 
 
 
151. 

community facilities will mitigate the impact of future occupiers and enhance existing 
facilities within the village.  
 
In terms of environmental benefits, the sustainability of the location for the number of 
dwellings has been tested through the Local Plan examination and was deemed to be 
an acceptable one to develop. Following amendments, the layout, scale and 
appearance of the development are considered is considered to be acceptable and 
presents a good quality scheme that will preserve the character and appearance of 
the area, landscape setting and be acceptable in relation to the impact on existing 
residential amenity. Whilst the proposal does not demonstrate a net gain in 
biodiversity the overall benefits are considered to outweigh any harm. 
 
A s106 agreement will need to be secured for contributions toward off-site provision, 
affordable housing, landscape and road maintenance plan and custom-build 
provision. Conditions will also need to be applied to any decision notice to ensure 
there is a suitable means of drainage from the site and the access is built in 
accordance with the requirements from the Local Highways Authority.  
  
For the above reasons, the proposal would accord with the development plan and 
therefore should be approved without delay.  

 
 Recommendation 
 
152. Officers recommend delegated approval subject to: 
 
 
 
153. 
 
 
 
154. 
 
 
 
 

Requirements under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990  
 
See appendix 1 - Heads of terms 
 
Conditions and Informatives 
 
Planning conditions and Informatives as set out below, with the final wording of any 
amendments to these to be agreed in consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair prior 
to the issuing of planning permission: 
 
General  
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 

years from the date of this permission. 
(Reason - To ensure that consideration of any future application for 
development in the area will not be prejudiced by permissions for 
development, which have not been acted upon.) 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans:   

 
094 PL005 rev F Proposed Location Plan  
094 PL006 rev F Proposed Site Red Line Boundary  
094 PL007 rev A Proposed Tree Retention/ Removal Plan  
094 094 PL010 rev AH Proposed Site Layout (B&W)  
094 PL011 rev AH Proposed Site Layout (Colour) 
094 PL060 rev J House Type A Plans & Elevations  
094 PL065 rev J House Type B Plans & Elevations  
094 PL070 rev I House Type C Plans & Elevations  
094 PL075 rev H House Type D Plans & Elevations   

Page 87



094 PL076 rev H Custom Build Plans & Elevations (option 1) 
094 PL077rev A1 Proposed Custom Build Internal Layout Options (option 2) 
094 PL080 rev H House Type D1 Plans & Elevations  
094 PL085 rev J House Type E Plans & Elevations  
094 PL086 rev H House Type E1 Plans & Elevations  
094 PL090 rev H House Type F Plans & Elevations  
094 PL100 rev I House Type G1 Plans & Elevations 
094 PL110 rev f House Type G2 Plans & Elevations 
094 PL200 rev C Bike Store 
094 PL201 rev C Bin Store 

 
(Reason - To facilitate any future application to the Local Planning Authority 
under Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.) 
 

3. Except for demolition, no development shall take place above slab level, until 
details of the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces 
of the buildings hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.  
(Reason - To ensure the appearance of the development is satisfactory in 
accordance with Policy HQ/1 of the adopted South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 
2018).  

 
Landscaping and boundary treatment 
 
4. Prior to the first occupation of the development,  full details of both hard and 

soft landscape works shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The details shall also include specification of all 
proposed trees, hedges and shrub planting, which shall include details of 
species, density and size of stock.  
(Reason - To ensure the development is satisfactorily assimilated into the area 
and enhances biodiversity in accordance with Policies HQ/1 and NH/6 of the 
adopted South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018). 

 
5. All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved details. The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any 
part of the development or in accordance with a programme agreed in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority. If within a period of five years from the date 
of the planting, or replacement planting, any tree or plant is removed, uprooted 
or destroyed or dies, another tree or plant of the same species and size as that 
originally planted shall be planted at the same place, unless the Local 
Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation.  
(Reason - To ensure the development is satisfactorily assimilated into the area 
and enhances biodiversity in accordance with Policies HQ/1 and NH/6 of the 
adopted South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018.) 
 

6. No demolition, site clearance or building operations shall commence until tree 
protection comprising weldmesh secured to standard scaffold poles driven into 
the ground to a height not less than 2.3 metres shall have been erected 
around trees to be retained on site at a distance agreed with the Local 
Planning Authority following BS 5837.  Such fencing shall be maintained to the 
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority during the course of development 
operations.  Any tree(s) removed without consent or dying or being severely 
damaged or becoming seriously diseased during the period of development 
operations shall be replaced in the next planting season with tree(s) of such 

Page 88



size and species as shall have been previously agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority.(Reason - To protect trees which are to be retained in order 
to enhance the development, with Policies HQ/1 and NH/6 of the adopted 
South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018.) 
 

7. Prior to the first occupation of the development a plan indicating the positions, 
design, materials and type of boundary treatment to be erected shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
boundary treatment for each dwelling shall be completed before that/the 
dwelling is occupied in accordance with the approved details and shall 
thereafter be retained.  
(Reason - To ensure that the appearance of the site does not detract from the 
character of the area in accordance with Policy HQ/1 of the adopted South 
Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018.) 

 
Ecology 
 

8. No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, 
vegetation clearance) until a Construction Ecological Management Planhas 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
plan shall include the following:  

 
a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.  
b) Identification of “biodiversity protection zones”.  
c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working 
practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as 
a set of method statements).  
d) The location and timings of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity 
features.  
e) The times during which construction when specialist ecologists need to be 
present on site to oversee works.  
f) Responsible persons and lines of communication.  
g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) 
or similarly competent person.  
h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs if applicable.  
 
The approved plan shall be ahead to and implemented throughout the 
construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority. (Reason – To 
conserve biodiversity in accordance with policy NH/4 of the adopted South 
Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018). 

 
9. No development shall take place until a Landscape and Ecological 

Management Plan (LEMP) has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, 
the local planning authority. The content of the LEMP shall include the 
following:  
 
a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed, to include 

integrated bat and bird nesting boxes on all dwellings, provision of four 
reptile hibernacula, hedgehog permeability throughout the whole site, 
provision of wildflower grassland, strengthening of current boundaries, and 
a strong north/ south corridor through the centre of the site.  

b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management.  
c) Aims and objectives of management.  
d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives.  

Page 89



e) Prescriptions for management actions.  
f) Prescription of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of 

being rolled forward over a five-year period).  
g) Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the 

plan.  
h) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures.  

 
The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) 
by which the long-term implementation of the plan will be secured by the 
developer with the management body(ies) responsible for its delivery. The 
plan shall also set out (where the results form monitoring show that 
conservation aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being met) 
contingencies and/or remedial action will be identified, agreed and 
implemented so that the development still delivers the fully functioning 
biodiversity objectives of the originally approved scheme. The approved 
plan will be implemented in accordance with the approved details. (Reason 
- To conserve biodiversity in accordance with policy NH/4 of the adopted 
South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018). 

 
Highways 
 

10. No demolition or construction works shall commence on site until a 
construction traffic management plan has been agreed with the Planning 
Authority. The principle areas of concern that should be addressed are:  

i) Movements and control of muck away lorries (all loading and unloading 
should be undertaken off the adopted public highway). 

ii) Contractor parking, for both phases all such parking should be within 
the curtilage of the site and not on street. 

iii) Movements and control of all deliveries (all loading and unloading 
should be undertaken off the adopted public highway) 

iv) Control of dust, mud and debris, in relationship to the functioning of the 
adopted public highway 

(Reason - In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy HQ/1 of 
the adopted South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018).  
 

10. Prior to the first occupation of the development, details of the proposed 
arrangements for future management and maintenance of the proposed 
streets within the development have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority (The streets shall thereafter be maintained in 
accordance with the approved management and maintenance details until 
such time as an Agreement has been entered into under Section 38 of the 
Highways Act 1980 or a Private Management and Maintenance Company has 
been established).(Reason: To ensure satisfactory development of the site 
and to ensure estate roads are managed and maintained thereafter to a 
suitable and safe in accordance with HQ/1 of the adopted South 
Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018).  
 

11. Notwithstanding the details in plan 1604-49 PL01revA, the junction of the 
access with the highway carriageway shall be laid out with 6m radius kerbs 
and not 5.9m as shown on the submitted drawing. The junction shall be laid 
out in accordance with the agreed details prior to first occupation. (Reason - In 
the interests of highway safety in accordance with policy HQ/1 of the adopted 
South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018) 
 

12. Prior to the first occupation of the development, the proposed access is 

Page 90



constructed so that its falls and levels are such that no private water from the 
site drains across or onto the adopted public highway. The access shall be 
constructed and using a bound material to prevent debris spreading onto the 
adopted public highway. (Reason - In the interests of highway safety in 
accordance with policy HQ/1 of the adopted South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 
2018). 
 

13. Prior to the occupation of the development covered and secure cycle parking 
details shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The cycle parking shall be installed in accordance with the agreed 
details prior to the occupation of the dwelling to which it relates. (Reason – To 
ensure the development complies with policy TI/3 of the adopted South 
Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018 
 
 

14. No dwellings shall be occupied until a Travel Plan to reduce car dependency 
and to promote alternative modes of travel has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Plan shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details. (Reason - To reduce 
car dependency and to promote alternative modes of travel in accordance with 
Policy TR/3 of the adopted Local Development Framework 2007.) 
 

Drainage  
 

15. No development other than site preparation, ground works and enabling works 
shall commence until a detailed surface water drainage scheme for the site, 
based on the agreed Flood Risk and Drainage Strategy Report by Walker 
Associates Consulting (ref: 6923 rev 3) dated July 2018 shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be 
subsequently be implemented in full accordance with the approved details 
before development is completed. (Reason - To ensure that the proposed 
development can be adequately drained and to ensure that there is no flood 
risk on or off site resulting from the proposed development in accordance with 
policy CC/8 and CC/9 of the adopted South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018). 
 

16. No development other than site preparation, ground works and enabling works 
shall commence until a foul water drainage strategy shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be 
constructed and completed in accordance with the approved plans prior to the 
occupation of any part of the development or in accordance with the 
implementation programme agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.   
(Reason - To reduce the risk of pollution to the water environment and to 
ensure a satisfactory method of foul water drainage in accordance with 
Policies CC/7 and CC/8 of the adopted South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 
2018). 
 

17. Prior to the first occupation of any dwellings hereby permitted details of the 
long-term maintenance arrangements for the surface water drainage system 
(including SuDs features) to be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The submitted details should identify run-off sub 
catchments, SuDS components, control structures, flow routes and outfalls. In 
addition, the plan must clarify the access that is required to each surface water 
management component for maintenance purposes. The maintenance plan 
shall be carried out in full thereafter.  
(Reasons - To ensure that satisfactory maintenance of unadopted drainage 

Page 91



systems in accordance with the requirements of paragraph 103 and 109 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework). 
 

Environmental Health - during construction 
 

18. No development shall commence until a Construction and Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The CEMP shall set out the management 
measures which builders will adopt and implement for the construction effects 
on the surrounding environment and community. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the agreed details. (Reasons - To protect 
amenities of nearby residential properties and the environment in accordance 
with policy SC/11 of the adopted Local Plan 2018) 
 

19. Prior to the installation of any floodlighting, security or street lighting, a lighting 
scheme for that particular phase of development shall be submitted to and 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include 
layout plans (including proximity to existing residential properties) and 
elevations with luminaire locations annotated and full isolux contour map. The 
approved lighting scheme shall be installed, maintained and operated in 
accordance with the approved details. (Reason - To protect local residents 
from light pollution / nuisance and protect / safeguard the amenities of nearby 
residential properties in accordance with SC/10 of the adopted South 
Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018.) 

 
20. No construction work and/or construction related dispatches from or deliveries 

to the site shall take place other than between the hours of 08.00 to 18.00 on 
Monday to Friday, 08.00 to 13.00 hours on Saturdays and no construction 
works or collection / deliveries shall take place on Sundays, Bank or Public 
Holidays unless otherwise approved in writing by the local planning authority.  
(Reason - To protect the amenities of nearby residential properties in 
accordance with policy SC/10 of the adopted South Cambridgeshire Local 
Plan 2018.) 

 
22. In the event of the foundations for the proposed development requiring piling, 

prior to piling taking place the applicant shall provide the local authority with a 
report / method statement for approval detailing the type of piling and 
mitigation measures to be taken to protect local residents noise and or 
vibration. Potential noise and vibration levels at the nearest noise sensitive 
locations shall be predicted in accordance with the provisions of BS 5528, 
2009 - Code of Practice for Noise and Vibration Control on Construction and 
Open Sites Parts 1 - Noise and 2 -Vibration (or as superseded).  Development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  
(Reason - To protect the amenities of nearby residential properties in 
accordance with Policies HQ/1 and SC/11 of the adopted South 
Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018.)  

 
Contaminated Land 
 

23. Except for demolition, no development shall be commenced until  
 
a) The application site has been subject to a detailed scheme for the 

investigation and recording of contamination and remediation objectives 
have been determined through risk assessment and agreed in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. 

Page 92



b) Detailed proposals for the removal, containment or otherwise rendering 
harmless any contamination (the Remediation Method Statement) have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

c) Thereafter and following the commencement of development as 
necessary, works specified in the Remediation Method Statement shall 
thereafter have been completed, and a Verification report submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, in accordance with the 
approved details in b) above. 

d) If, during remediation and/or construction works, any contamination is 
identified that has not been considered in the remediation method 
statement, then remediation proposals for this material should be agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

(Reason – To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of 
the land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with Policy SC/12 of the 
adopted South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018). 

 
Sustainability and renewable energy 
 

21. No development above slab level shall take place until an Electric Vehicle 
Charging Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The Plan should include the details of the provision of 
cabling infrastructure location having regard to parking associated with various 
planning class uses. (Reasons – To ensure charging points can be installed as 
the request of future occupiers to enhance the sustainability credentials of the 
development in accordance with CC/4 of the adopted South Cambridgeshire 
Local Plan 2018).  

 
22. No development above ground level shall take place until an Energy Delivery 

Strategy which shall demonstrate how at least 10% of the expected energy 
requirements for the development will be delivered from renewable sources or 
low carbon technologies. The development shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved strategy. (Reason - To ensure an energy 
efficient and sustainable development in accordance with CC/3 of the adopted 
South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018).  
 

23. Prior to the fitting out of any dwelling house, a water conservation statement 
detailing water conservation and management measures has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall 
detail water efficiency measures sufficient to ensure that residential 
development achieves a minimum water efficiency standard of 105 litres per 
person per day (additional 5 litres for outdoor use). The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the agreed details 
(Reason - There is a high demand for limited water resources in the East of 
England; therefore it is necessary to manage water use in accordance with 
South Cambridgeshire Local Plan policy CC/4).  
 

24. Prior to the first occupation of the development, infrastructure to enable the 
delivery of broadband services to industry standards should be provided for 
each of the dwellings. (Reason – Support the implementation of the South 
Cambridgeshire Economic Development Strategy in accordance with policy 
TI/10 of the adopted South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018.) 

 

Page 93



Permitted Development  
 

25. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-
enacting that Order with or without modification), no development within 
Classes B or C of Part 1 of Schedule 2 of the Order shall take place on plots 
23-26 unless expressly authorised by planning permission granted by the 
Local Planning Authority in that behalf. (Reason - In the interests of protecting 
the amenity of the nursery school in accordance with Policy HQ/1 of the 
adopted South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018.) 
 

Archaeology 
 

26. No demolition/development shall take place until a written scheme of 
investigation (WSI) for a programme of archaeological works has been 
submitted to and approved by the local planning authority in writing. For land 
that is included within the WSI, no demolition/development shall take place 
other than in accordance with the agreed WSI which shall include:  
 
a) The statement of significance and research objectives;  
b) The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording and 
the nomination of a competent person(s) or organisation to undertake the 
agreed works  
c) Programme for post-excavation assessment and subsequent analysis, 
publication & dissemination, and deposition of resulting material.  
 
The programme shall include the timetable for the investigation is included 
within the details of the agreed scheme. The development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the agreed details. (Reason - To protect historic assets in 
accordance with policy NH/14 of the adopted South Cambridgeshire Local 
Plan 2018.) 
 

27. Notwithstanding the approved plans, the dwelling on plot 16, hereby permitted, 
shall be constructed to meet the requirements of Part M4(2) 'accessible and 
adaptable dwellings' of the Building Regulations 2010 (as amended 2016). 
(Reasons - To ensure the units are accessible and adaptable in accordance 
with policy H/9 of the adopted South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018). 
 

 
Informatives 
 

1. This permission is subject to an Agreement under Section 106 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) dated …….  
 

2. During construction there shall be no bonfires or burning of waste on site 
except with the prior permission of the Environmental Health Officer in 
accordance with best practice and existing waste management legislation.  
 

3. In the event that the Planning Authority is so minded as to grant permission to 
the proposal please add an informative to the effect that the granting of a 
planning permission does not constitute a permission or licence to a developer 
to carry out any works within, or disturbance of, or interference with, the Public 
Highway, and that a separate permission must be sought from the Highway 
Authority for such works. 
 

Page 94



4. Constructions or alterations with an ordinary watercourse require consent from 
the Lead Local Flood and Water Authority under the Land Drainage Act 1991. 
Ordinary watercourse include every river, drain, stream, ditch, dyke, sewer and 
passage through which water flows that do not form part of the main rivers. 
The applicant should refer to Cambridgeshire County Council Culvert policy. 

 
  
 
Background Papers: 
 
The following list contains links to the documents on the Council’s website and / or an 
indication as to where hard copies can be inspected. 
 

  South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018 

  South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework SPDs 

  Planning File reference S/1486/18/FL 

 
Report Author: Rebecca Ward Principal Planning Officer 
 Telephone Number:  01954713236 
 

Page 95



This page is left blank intentionally.



Appendix 1 

1 
 

Heads of terms for the completion of a Section 106 agreement 
 
 

 
Affordable housing summary: 
 

Affordable housing percentage 40% 

Affordable housing tenure 70% - 7 units affordable rent 
30% - 3 units shared ownership 

Local connection criteria n/a 

Local connection villages n/a 

 
Section 106 payments summary: 
 

Item Beneficiary Estimated sum 

Early years CCC £73,848.00 

Primary School CCC £99,996.00 

Libraries and Life Long Learning CCC £2,485.08 

Formal Sports SCDC £26,878.22 

Formal Children’s play space SCDC £34,956.08 

Indoor community space SCDC £12,202.72 

Public art SCDC £13,000.00 

Monitoring SCDC £500 

Household waste bins SCDC £73.50 per dwelling and 
£150.00 per flat 

TOTAL  £263,866.10 (not 
including bins) 

TOTAL PER DWELLING  £10,148.69 

 
Section 106 infrastructure summary:  
 

Item Beneficiary Summary 

Landscape and open space 
maintenance scheme 

SCDC  

Secure onsite custom build plot 1  SCDC  
 
 

Planning condition infrastructure summary:  
 

Item Beneficiary Summary 

Drainage maintenance   conditions 

Road/street maintenance  conditions 
 
 

 
CAMBRIDGESHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

 

Ref CCC1 

Type Early years 

Policy Development Control Policy DPD DP/4 

Required Yes 

Land to north of Impington Lane (to rear, Land to the rear of 49-83 (odds) 
Impington Lane, Impington, Cambridge, CB24 9NJ  (S/1486/18/FL) 

Page 97



Appendix 1 

2 
 

Trigger 100% Prior to occupation 

Fixed/Tariff Fixed 

Detail The proposed development will generate an early years child yield of 6 
(four of which will be entitled to free school provision). The CCC have 
confirmed there is no capacity to take on students from the proposed 
development and therefore mitigation towards an offsite project is 
required. A new 52 place early years facility is being built at Buxhall 
Primary School. Based on the child yield, the proposed development 
will need to contribute £73,848.00. 

Number of pooled 
obligations 

 

 

Ref CCC2 

Type Primary School 

Policy Development Control Policy DPD DP/4 

Required Yes 

Detail The catchment setting for primary years for the proposed development 
is Histon and Impington Primary School. The proposed development 
will generate a primary year child yield of 6 students. The CCC have 
confirmed there is no capacity to take on the students from the 
proposed development and therefore mitigation towards an offsite 
project is required. A new 2FE primary school at Buxhall Farm is being 
built to replace the infant school. Based on the child yield, the proposed 
development would need to contribute £99,996.  
 

Fixed / Tariff Fixed 

Trigger 100% prior to commencement 

Number Pooled 
obligations 

 

 

Ref CCC3 

Type Secondary school 

Policy Development Control Policy DPD DP/4 

Required No 

 

Ref CCC4 

Type Libraries and lifelong learning 

Policy Development Control Policy DPD DP/4 

Trigger  100% Prior to occupation 

Required Yes 

Detail Libraries and life-long learning; Histon Library is at capacity. County 
Councils solution to mitigate the impact to the service is to pool 
contributions of £2485.08 towards additional books resources and 
equipment.  

 

Ref CCC5 

Type Strategic waste 

Policy RECAP Waste Management Design Guide 

Required No 

 

Ref CCC6 

Type CCC monitoring 

Policy N/A 

Required No 

 

Ref CCC7 

Type Transport 

Policy Development Control Policy DPD TR/3 

Page 98



Appendix 1 

3 
 

Required No 

 
 

 
SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

 

Ref SCDC1 

Type Formal Sport 

Policy Local Plan Policy SC/7 and  Open space in new development SPD 

Required Yes 

Details In terms of formals sports an offsite contribution of £26,878.22 towards 
playing pitch provision at the either (i) recreation ground or (ii) Victor 
Unwin Community Park (if this is permitted). 

Fixed/tariff Fixed 

Trigger 100% prior to occupation 

Number of pooled 
obligations 

 

 

Ref SCDC2 

Type Formal Children’s play space 

Policy Local Plan Policy SC/7 and  Open space in new development SPD 
Open space in new development SPD 

Required Yes 

Detail Formal children’s open space £34,956.08 towards new children’s play 
equipment on either (i) recreation ground or (ii) Victor Unwin 
Community Park (if this is permitted). 

Fixed / Tariff Fixed 

Trigger 100% prior to occupation 

Number Pooled 
obligations 

0 

 

Ref SCDC3 

Type Informal open space and play space 

Policy Local Plan Policy SC/7 and Open space in new development SPD 
Open space in new development SPD 

Required Yes 

Detail On-site 

Fixed/ Tariff  Fixed 

 

Ref SCDC4 

Type Offsite indoor community space 

Policy Local Plan Policy SC/6 

Required Yes 

Detail In terms of community space an offsite contribution of £12,202.72 
towards a community building on the (i) parish council building at the 
recreation ground or (ii) Victor Unwin Community Park. 

Fixed / Tariff Fixed 

Trigger 100% prior to occupation 

Number Pooled 
obligations 

 

 
 

Ref SCDC6 

Type Household waste receptacles 

Policy RECAP Waste Management Design Guide 

Required YES 

Detail £73.50 per house and £150 per flat 

Page 99



Appendix 1 

4 
 

Project Towards the Receptacle provision of household waste receptacles 
necessitated by the Development. £73.50 dwellings and £150.00 flats. 

Fixed / Tariff Fixed 

Trigger Paid in full prior to occupation of first dwelling 

Number Pooled 
obligations 

None 

 

Ref SCDC7 

Type S106 Monitoring 

Policy Portfolio holder approved policy 

Required YES 

Detail To monitor the timely compliance of the planning obligations, 
specifically onsite infrastructure including affordable housing and public 
open space 

Project monitoring of the proper and timely performance of the Owner's 
covenants under the terms of the Agreement 

Quantum £500 

Fixed / Tariff Fixed 

Trigger Paid in full prior to commencement of development 

Number Pooled 
obligations 

None 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 100



Page 101



This page is left blank intentionally.



 

Planning Dept - South Cambridgeshire DC

FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY
Scale - 1:5000
Time of plot: 12:30 Date of plot: 25/09/2018

0 1 2 3 4 5 600m

© Crown copyright [and database rights] (2015) OS (100022500)

Page 103



This page is left blank intentionally.



 SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

  
REPORT TO: Planning Committee 14 November 2018 

AUTHOR/S: Joint Director for Planning and Economic Development 
 

 
 
Application Number: S/1106/18/FL 
  
Parish(es): Great Abington 
  
Proposal: Full planning application for the erection of 15 dwellings 

and associated infrastructure including new landscaping, 
internal access roads, garages, and parking areas 
following demolition of existing agricultural buildings 
along with construction of new access to Pampisford 
Road. 

  
Site address: Land South of Pampisford Road, Great Abington 
  
Applicant(s): Shelford Properties   
  
Recommendation: Delegated Approval subject to s106 agreement 
  
Key material considerations: Principle of Development including emerging 

Neighbourhood Plan 
Density 
Housing Mix 
Affordable Housing 
Developer Contributions 
Character and Appearance of the Area 
Design Considerations 
Trees and Landscaping 
Biodiversity 
Highway Safety and Sustainable Travel 
Flood Risk 
Neighbour Amenity 
Heritage Assets 

  
Committee Site Visit: 13 November 2018 
  
Departure Application: Yes – 18 April 2018 
  
Presenting Officer: Karen Pell-Coggins, Senior Planning Officer 
  
Application brought to 
Committee because: 

The officer recommendation conflicts with the 
recommendation of Great Abington Parish Council and 
the development would represent a departure from the 
Local Plan 

  
Date by which decision due: 16 November 2018 (Extension of Time agreed) 
 
 

Page 105

Agenda Item 8



 
 
 
 Executive Summary  
 
1. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2. 
 
 

This proposal, as amended, seeks permission for a residential development 
comprising 15 dwellings outside the Great Abington village framework and in the 
countryside. This development would not normally be considered acceptable in 
principle as a result of its location. In addition, the site is located on the former Land 
Settlement Association Estate that is covered by the Great Abington Neighbourhood 
Plan which is at an advanced stage and this restricts the number of new dwellings 
within this area in order retain its character.  
 
However, there are significant material considerations in this case in the form of an 
extant planning consent for eight dwellings on the site and the provision of additional 
affordable housing that are considered to justify a departure from policy. The 
application is therefore, on balance, recommended for approval.   

 
 Planning History  
 
3. 
 
 
 
 
4. 

Site 
S/1433/16/OL - Outline application with all matters reserved except for means of 
access for the residential development comprising 8 dwellings, including affordable 
housing provision, landscaping and associated infrastructure - Approved 
 
Land to the North of Pampisford Road 
S/3181/15/FL Erection of 20 Dwellings, Associated Access and Landscaping – 
Approved  

 
 National Guidance 
 
5. National Planning Policy Framework 2018 

National Planning Practice Guidance 
  
 Development Plan Policies  
  
6. South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018 

S/3 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
S/5 Provision of New Jobs and Homes 
S/6 The Development Strategy to 2031 
S/7 Development Frameworks 
S/10 Group Villages 
HQ/1 Design Principles 
H/8 Housing Density 
H/9 Housing Mix 
H/10 Affordable Housing 
H/12 Residential Space Standards 
NH/2 Protecting and Enhancing Landscape Character 
NH/3 Protecting Agricultural Land 
NH/4 Biodiversity 
NH/5 Sites of Biodiversity or Geological Importance 
NH/14 Heritage Assets 
CC/1 Mitigation and Adaptation to Climate Change  
CC/3 Renewable and Low Carbon Energy in New Developments 
CC/4 Water Efficiency 

Page 106



CC/7 Water Quality  
CC/8 Sustainable Drainage Systems 
CC/9 Managing Flood Risk 
SC/6 Indoor Community Facilities 
SC/7 Outdoor Play Space, Informal Open Space and New Developments 
SC/9 Lighting Proposals  
SC/10 Noise Pollution  
SC/11 Contaminated Land 
TI/2 Planning for Sustainable Travel 
TI/3 Parking Provision 
TI/8 Infrastructure and New Developments 
TI/10 Broadband 

 
7. South Cambridgeshire LDF Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD): 

Open Space in New Developments SPD - Adopted January 2009  
Biodiversity SPD - Adopted July 2009  
Trees & Development Sites SPD - Adopted January 2009  
Landscape in New Developments SPD - Adopted March 2010   
Affordable Housing SPD - Adopted March 2010 
District Design Guide SPD - Adopted March 2010 

  
8. Emerging Great Abington Neighbourhood Plan 

Policy 2 – Additional Dwellings 
 
 Consultation  
  
9. Great Abington Parish Council – Recommends refusal as amended and makes the 

following comments: - 
“This plan is objected to as it has too many houses in the location. The site is outside 
of the village framework and is part of the former Land Settlement Estate. A 
neighbourhood plan covering the former Land Settlement is at a very advanced stage. 
This application should be considered against the emerging Neighbourhood Plan, and 
the approved South Cambridgeshire Local Plan and be refused.” 

  
10. Landscape Design Officer – Has no objections. Comments as amended that the site 

is capable of accommodating the development without resulting in material harm to 
the surrounding countryside, its landscape character and the views from both the 
wider and local area. Appropriate landscape mitigation works are proposed that follow 
principles such as retention of boundary vegetation to enclose and screen the 
development, gap up existing hedges with mixed native planting, extend the existing 
boundary hedge, space for medium/large trees within the development and provide 
frontage planting characteristic of the local area. Suggests additional details such as 
the provision of chalk grassland within the open space, boundary treatment to reflect 
local character and tree planting at the end of vistas and leading into the site. 
Recommends landscape and boundary treatment conditions.    
 

11. Trees and Landscapes Officer – Has no objections. Comments that there are tree 
on and adjacent to the site. There appears to be two Tree Preservation Orders on the 
roadside hedge protecting Elm. It is unlikely that these trees have been here for some 
time. Some of the hedgerows on r adjacent to the site would qualify as important 
hedgerows. The majority of the site appears to be covered by scrub which has low 
amenity value.  
 
A Tree Survey and Arboricultural Implications Assessment, Tree Protection Plan and 
Arboricultural Method Statement have been submitted with the application. This 

Page 107



document is sufficient for the site and proposal. The Landscaping Plan is indicative 
and does not give sufficient detail and the amount of tree planting appears excessive 
which would not be sustainable. The species choice should not include birch. 
Recommends a condition in relation to soft landscaping.  

  
12. 
 
 
 
 
  

Ecology Officer – Has no objections. Comments as amended that the application 
site appears to be a former market garden with run-down glasshouses, polytunnel 
frames, and outbuildings. The site is within the impact zone of a nearby statutory 
protected site, but does not meet the criteria that would require a statutory 
consultation from Natural England. The application site sits adjacent to the Shelford - 
Haverhill Disused Railway County Wildlife Site (CWS) which has been designated for 
its neutral grassland species. Local species records indicate farmland birds and 
reptiles have been found in the vicinity. 
 
The application is supported by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal, Bat Survey 
Report, and Reptile Survey Report. The original surveys were undertaken over the 
spring and summer of 2016; however due to the amount of time that has passed in 
the interim they have all been updated with further walkover surveys to provide 
evidence that the results are still valid. Satisfied that the survey effort is sufficient to 
inform this application and that no further surveys are required at this time. 
 
The reports have provided evidence of several ecological constraints on site with 
regard to protected species, with further badger surveys recommended prior to the 
commencement of works. Generally agrees with the approach outlined by the 
ecology consultant with regard to protected species. However the consultant has not 
suggested any mitigation necessary to avoid harm to the adjacent CWS. Expects to 
see some form of physical buffer in place to protect the vegetation from direct 
impacts and recommendations regarding the discouragement of fly tipping by future 
residences, given that plots 4-9 back on to the site. These issues can be covered by 
conditions.  

  
13. Urban Design Officer – Comments as amended that the layout is much improved 

as the streets are now curved around a central open space, the density is 
appropriate given the rural nature of the site, the scale and massing is acceptable as 
the dwellings close to Pampisford Road would be lower in height and reflects the 
bungalow on the opposite side of the road and there would be good connections to 
the village due to the footway along Pampisford Road and link to the public footway 
to the west. . However, there are still concerns in relation to the siting of the dwellings 
back from the road with large front gardens, parking spaces to the front of dwellings 
and glazing above the front doors.   

  
14. Affordable Housing Officer – Comments that Policy H/11 requires that all 

developments on sites which are outside the development framework should be for 
100% affordable housing and to meet the local housing need. This site is outside the 
development framework and should be treated as an exception site. However, if it is 
determined due to the lack of 5 year land supply then Policy H/10 should apply, which 
requires 40% Affordable housing for developments of 3 or more. Therefore, this 
proposal should provide 6 affordable properties. The tenure mix for affordable housing 
in South Cambridgeshire District is 70% Rented and 30% Intermediate/Shared 
Ownership housing. This scheme should provide 4 Affordable/Social rented properties 
and 2 Intermediate/Shared Ownership properties.  
 
As a starting point for discussions on the requirement for a local connection criteria on 
5 year land supply sites: 
i) The first 8 affordable homes on each 5 year land supply site will be occupied by 

Page 108



those with a local connection; the occupation of any additional affordable homes 
thereafter will be split 50/50 between local connection and on a Districtwide basis. 
ii) If there are no households in the local community in housing need at the stage of 
letting or selling a property and a local connection applies, it will be made available to 
other households in need on a cascade basis looking next at adjoining parishes and 
then to need in the wider district in accordance with the normal lettings policy for 
affordable housing. The number of homes identified for local people within a scheme 
will always remain for those with a local connection when properties become available 
to relet.  
 
Therefore for this development, all properties should initially be allocated to those 
applicants with a local connection to Great Abington, if there is no housing need in 
Great Abington, then there should be a cascade out to the nearest surrounding 
villages and eventually to the wider district of South Cambs. 
 
The local need for Great Abington is 15 properties that consists of 6 x one bed, 8 x 
two bed and 1 x three bed for under 60’s.  
 
There are currently approximately 2,000 applicants on the housing register in the 
district of South Cambridgeshire. Predominantly, the largest need is for 1 and 2 
bedroom dwellings, both locally and district wide. With regards to the shared 
ownership need in South Cambs, there are currently approximately 800 applicants 
registered on the Home Buy register, and the highest demand is for 2 and 3 bedroom 
properties. 

 
The mix proposed by the developer is reflective of both the local and district housing 
need and comprises 2 x one bed houses and 2 x two bed houses affordable/ social 
rented and 2 x three bed houses shared ownership.  
 
The properties should be built to ‘DCLG Technical and Nationally Described Space 
Standards’, the national space standards. There is a requirement for 5% of all 
affordable housing to be accessible and adaptable that meet Building Regulations 
Part M4(2). In this scheme, it is recommended that all the affordable dwellings are 
built to Part M4 (1): Category 1 – Visitable dwellings.  

  
15. Environmental Health Officer – Has no objections and suggests conditions in 

relation to the hours of operation of site machinery and plant and construction related 
deliveries. Suggests informative with regards to the burning of waste, a demolition 
notice, pile driven foundations and disturbance to neighbours.    

  
16. Contaminated Land Officer – Has no objections. Comments that Environmental 

Phase 1 report has been submitted with the application. The site is a former nursery 
which is proposed to be developed for a sensitive end use (residential). Requires a 
condition for the investigation and recording of contamination and remediation. 

  
17. Section 106 Officer – Comments that planning obligations are required towards 

public open space in the form of an off site contribution towards formal sports and 
on-site provision for informal and formal children’s playspace and informal open 
space; indoor community space in the form of an off site contribution, public art in the 
form of an off site contribution and monitoring. No obligations are required towards 
waste receptacles.     

  
18. Local Highways Authority – Comments that it will not adopt the development and 

the driveways do not appear to be divisible by 5 metres and has the potential to result 
in irregular parking that could force pedestrians into the carriageway. Requires 

Page 109



conditions in relation to the future management and maintenance of the streets within 
the development ,the removal of permitted development rights for accesses to Plots 1, 
14 and 15 to Pampisford Road, the access to be constructed so that it falls and levels 
are such that no private water from the site drain on to across the public highway, the 
access to be constructed rom bound material to prevent debris spreading on to the 
public highway and the submission of a traffic management plan in relation to 
demolition and construction. Requests an informative with regards to works to the 
public highway.    

  
19. 
 
 
 
 
 

Cambridgeshire County Council Flood and Water Team – Has no objections. 
Comments that the applicant has demonstrated that surface water can be dealt with 
on site by using permeable paving and soakaway to infiltrate surface water discharge 
at a rate of 1 x 10 -5 m/s. Recommends conditions in relation to a detailed surface 
water drainage scheme for the site based upon the Flood Risk Assessment and the 
long term maintenance arrangements for the surface water system,   

  
20. Environment Agency – Has no objections in principle. Comments that the site is 

located above a Principal Aquifer, Source Protection Zone 2, Babraham Safeguard 
Zone, Cam and Ely Ouse Chalk Groundwater Body and within 650 metres of a 
surface water course. The previous nursery land use and the adjacent railway line are 
also considered potentially contaminative. The site is considered to be of high 
sensitivity and could present potential pollutant/contaminant linkages to controlled 
waters. Recommends conditions in relation to disposal of foul drainage and surface 
water, an investigation into contamination and piling foundations. Also requests 
informatives.  

  
21.  Anglian Water – Has no objections. Comments that the foul drainage for the 

development is in the catchment of Linton Water Recycling Centre that will have 
available capacity for these flows in relation to wastewater treatment and the foul 
sewerage system at present has the available capacity for these flows. The proposed 
method of surface water does nor relate to its assets.   

  
22.  Cambridgeshire County Council Historic Environment Team – Has no objections.   

Comments that the site lies in an area of high archaeological potential, situated to the 
south east of Great Park and Abington Hall Park and Garden (Historic Environment 
Record reference 12284) and 12th century Saint Mary the Virgin's Church (CB14842). 
Archaeological investigations to the north west of the proposed development area 
revealed evidence of Mesolithic to Iron Age occupation (MCB17382) and medieval 
and post-medieval occupation (MCB17383). In addition, to the north is moated site 
(MCB17695), the shrunken village of Great Abington (08154) and medieval 
earthworks (00312, 06194). Recommends a condition in relation to a programme of 
archaeological investigation. 

  
23. Cambridgeshire County Council Rights of Way Team – Has no objections in 

principle to the proposal but requires further details in relation to the legal status of the 
footpath link. Comments that Public Footpath No. 3 Great Abington runs along the 
western boundary. Requests informatives with regards to points of law and the 
footpath.  

  
24. 
 
 
 
 
 

Cambridgeshire County Council Growth Team – Comments that the development 
would result in the need for 4 early years places (3 entitled to free school provision) 
and there is capacity in the village for these places, 3 primary school places and there 
is capacity in the village for these places and 2 secondary places and there is capacity 
at the nearby secondary school for these places. No contributions are required 
towards libraries as there is sufficient capacity within existing resources or strategic 

Page 110



 
 
 
25.  

waste as five contributions have already been pooled in relation to improvements at 
the Thriplow Recycling Centre.  
 
Police Architectural Liaison Officer – Comments that Great Abington is considered 
to be an area of low vulnerability to crime. This appears to be an acceptable layout in 
terms of Crime Prevention and Community Safety which provides for high levels of 
natural surveillance from neighbours properties with most of the homes facing each 
other and covering the open space and LAP. Pedestrian and vehicle routes are 
aligned together, well overlooked and pedestrian safety has been considered. 
Permeability on the whole has been limited to essential areas/routes only, which will 
provide high levels of territoriality amongst residents. Vehicle parking is within 
curtilage or garages to the front/sides of properties. The houses appear to have 
protected rear gardens which reduces risk and vulnerability to crime. Homes have 
been provided with some defensible space to their front. States that there is no 
lighting plan within the documents and recommends that all roads (adopted or 
otherwise) should be lit by columns to adoptable lighting standards (BS5489:1 2013).   

 
 Representations  
 
26. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The former Local Member does not support the application for the following reasons:  
 
“Accepts that the decision to approve planning application number S/1433/16/OL – 
outline approval for 8 dwellings on this site – established the principle that there could 
be development on this land. 
 
The South Cambridgeshire Local Plan is in its final stages of approval. Planning 
inspectors have required a number of Main Modifications to be consulted upon prior to 
them deciding that the Plan is sound. 
 
The Main Modifications included specific changes to the village framework for Great 
and Little Abington to reflect the inclusion in the Plan of sites brought forward by Great 
Abington Parish Council and Little Abington Parish Council. The changes to the 
village framework are to incorporate the High Street / Pampisford Road site and the 
Linton Road site, both of which have planning approval and one of which is almost 
completed, within a revised village framework. 
 
The Main Modifications do not include any changes to the village framework in 
relation to the land which is the subject of this planning application number 
S/1106/18/FL, and this land remains outside the village framework. 
 
The land in this planning application was, in the past, part of the Abington Land 
Settlement Association estate, until the LSA land was sold in the mid 1980s. 
 
About two years ago, Great Abington Parish Council decided to develop a 
Neighbourhood Plan for the area of the former LSA estate. The land in planning 
application S/1106/18/FL is within the Neighbourhood Plan boundaries. 
 
The Neighbourhood Plan is well advanced and a referendum will be held in the near 
future. The key policy in this emerging Neighbourhood Plan is to allow each property 
in the area to build one additional dwelling. 
 
Planning application S/1106/18/FL would, if approved, introduce a level and density of 
development that would not be in keeping with the emerging Neighbourhood Plan. 
 
In my view, the proposed dwellings would form an incongruous street scene but 

Page 111



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
27.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
28. 

house on rising ground on the site set opposite bungalows along the northern side of 
Pampisford Road on falling ground. This is the opposite of what one might expect at 
an edge of village location. 
 
This point is exemplified by the Part Street Elevation plots 4-6 application 
documentation. This depiction does not show the proposed houses on rising ground, 
but the image is in stark contrast to what one would see on the other side of 
Pampisford Road where, in some cases, roof ridge height is not much higher than the 
actual level of Pampisford Road.  
 
The proposed new dwellings would therefore be a dominant and intrusive feature of 
the street scene. 
 
I therefore do not support this planning application. In my view, planning application 
S/1106/18/FL is not in accord with the emerging South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 
[the Local Plan policies should now carry significant weight], is not in accord with the 
emerging Great Abington Neighbourhood Plan [though it is accepted that the site 
could be developed with up to 8 dwellings] and, if built, the dwellings would be a 
dominant and intrusive feature of the street scene in this sensitive edge-of-village 
location. 
 
In conclusion, the land rear of Strawberry Farm site is neither in present planning 
policies nor in emerging planning policies as a site for 15 dwellings. In my view this 
application should be refused.” 
 
One letter of objection has been received from a local resident in relation to the 
application that opposes the application and raises the following concerns: - 
 
i) The site is outside the village framework and forms part of the land settlement.  
ii) The housing land supply target has now been reached and there will be no positive 
impact from the increase in the number of dwellings and would cause an increase in 
traffic, noise, light and pollution.   
iii) There are already three developments approved in the village and this further 
development would increase pressure on traffic and schools. 
iv) The land to the south of Pampisford Road is agricultural in nature and expansion 
into this area would disrupt the country feel of the footpath and village. The earlier 
approval had a lower density and would have given a transitional zone between the 
village and countryside.  
v) Precedent for future building to the south of Pampisford Road. 
vi) Overpowering scale of the dwellings and visual impact upon the village due to two-
storey dwellings on rising ground.  
vii) Potential overlooking from a third floor within the roofspace.  
viii) Noise nuisance and security risk from use of link to public footpath.   
 
A petition with 8 signatures from local residents has also been submitted that objects 
to the increase from 8 to 15 dwellings.  

  
 Site and Surroundings 
 
29. 
 
 
 
 
 

The site is located outside of the Great Abington village framework and in the 
countryside. It measures 1.2 hectares in area and is part of the former Land 
Settlement Association Estate to the south of Pampisford Road. The site was 
previously a nursery and comprises a number of disused greenhouses and other 
buildings surrounded by scrubland. There are two trees on the northern boundary of 
the site adjacent Pampisford Road that are subject to a Tree Preservation Order. The 

Page 112



 
 
 
 
 

remainder of the boundaries are heavily landscaped apart from a post and rail fence 
that defines the boundary with No. 3 Pampisford Road. The site lies within flood zone 
1 (low risk). A former railway cutting forms a County Wildlife Site along the southern 
boundary. A public footpath runs from Pampisford Road to Chalky Road to the west of 
the site. The land rises to the south.  

 
 Proposal 
 
30.  
 
 
31.  
 
 
 
32.  
 
 
 
33. 
 
 
 
 
34.  

The proposal, as amended, seeks full planning permission for a residential 
development of 15 dwellings.  
 
6 of the 15 dwellings (40%) would be affordable to meet local needs. The mix would 
consist of 2 x one bed dwellings and 2 x two bed dwellings that would be social rented 
and 2 x three bed dwellings that would be intermediate/shared ownership.  
 
The remaining 9 dwellings would be available for sale on the open market. The mix 
would consist of 2 x two bed dwellings, 5 x three bed dwellings and 2 x four/five bed 
dwellings.    
 
There would be a single vehicular access (shared surface) to the site from the south 
side of Pampisford Road and a pedestrian access from the existing public footpath to 
the west. A new footway would be provided along Pampisford Road to link with the 
existing footway adjacent to the bus stop, to provide connectivity.  
 
The layout of the development would comprise an “L” shaped spine road with the 
development clustered around it. The dwellings would be detached and semi-
detached. The scale of the development would comprise one and half storey and two 
storey dwellings. The existing groups of Ash and Elm trees along the Pampisford 
Road frontage would be removed and replacement planting agreed.   

 
 Planning Assessment 
  
35. The key issues to consider in the determination of this application relate to the 

principle of the development in the countryside, housing density, housing mix, 
affordable housing, developer contributions and the impacts of the development upon 
the character and appearance of the area, heritage assets, flood risk, highway safety, 
neighbour amenity, biodiversity, trees and landscaping.  

 
 
 
36. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
37. 
 
 
38. 
 
39. 
 

Principle of Development 
 
The site is located outside the of the Great Abington village framework and in the 
countryside. Outside development frameworks, only allocations within Neighbourhood 
Plans that have come into force and development for agriculture, horticulture, forestry, 
outdoor recreation and other uses which need to be located in the countryside or 
where supported by other policies in this plan will be permitted. This necessary to 
ensure that the countryside is protected from gradual encroachment on the edges of 
villages and to help guard against incremental growth in unsustainable locations. 
 
The erection of a residential development outside the village framework is not 
supported in policy terms. 
 
The proposal would therefore be contrary to Policy S/7 of the Local Plan.     
 
Great Abington is identified as a Group Village where up to 8 dwellings are considered 
acceptable in principle on land within village frameworks and exceptionally may 

Page 113



 
 
 
40. 
 
 
41.  
 
 
 
42.  
 
 
 
 
43. 
 
 
 
 
44. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

consist of up to about 15 dwellings where this would make the best use of a single 
brownfield site. 
 
The erection of 15 dwellings on a greenfield site outside the village framework would 
be above the threshold and is not an appropriate scale of development in this location.  
 
The proposal would therefore be contrary to Policy S/10 of the Local Plan.  
 
Emerging Great Abington Neighbourhood Plan 
 
The site is situated on the former Land Settlement Association Estate and in the 
countryside. It was designated as a Neighbourhood Area in September 2016 and a 
Neighbourhood Plan has been prepared. The key aim of the plan is to retain the 
distinctive character of the area. 
 
The plan is at an advanced stage and the Examiner’s Report was received on 15 
October 2018. Overall, the Plan was considered to meet the basic conditions for a 
neighbourhood plan subject to some modifications and should proceed to a 
referendum. This is likely to be held in December 2018.    
 
Policy 2 of the Plan, as modified, states that the development of one additional 
dwelling on, or adjacent to, the site of each original piggery will be supported provided 
that: 
i) the development will not result in more than one additional dwelling for each original 
house on the Land Settlement estate as at the 1983 baseline; 
ii) the additional dwelling has a gross internal floor area of no more than 175 square 
metres; 
iii) the additional dwelling is suitable for independent living and built to the accessible 
and adaptable dwellings (M4(2) standard); 
iv) the design of the dwelling, its landscaping and location on site is sensitive to the 
open and 
rural character of the Land Settlement; recognising and reinforcing the defining 
characteristics of the area (as set out in the Character Assessment); 
v) the additional building does not exceed the height of the principal dwelling it is 
associated with; 
vi) the existing uniformity in the layout of buildings along the road, a key characteristic 
being the regular separations of open land between holdings, is retained; 
vii) the additional dwelling is set back from the roads at least as far as the original 
piggery but will not be placed significantly further back and within the build line 
identified on Maps 1 and 2; 
viii) residential amenity of neighbouring properties and future occupiers of the 
proposed development will not be adversely affected; and 
ix) there is safe vehicular site access. 
 
Prior to commencement, applicants will be required, by condition, to demolish any 
existing piggery building or associated hard standing surface which is not incorporated 
into the development proposal. 
 
Proposals to replace an existing annex or an existing dwelling that is the additional 
dwelling associated with an original dwelling as at the 1983 baseline, or that seek to 
remove any occupancy restrictions on these same existing dwellings or annexes will 
be considered against the requirements of this policy. 
 
Other residential development proposals requiring planning permission that result in 
additional dwellings in the NP area (including residential conversions and new rural 

Page 114



 
 
45. 
 
 
 
46. 
 
 
 
47. 
 
 
48. 
 
 
 
 
49. 
 
 
 
 
50. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
51. 
 
 
 
 
52.  
 
 
 
 
 
53.  
 
 
 
 
 
54. 
 

dwellings) shall be resisted. 
 
The following paragraph will be included in the supporting text to the policy:  
In September 2017, outline planning permission was granted for eight dwellings on 
land adjacent to Strawberry Farm in the north eastern part of the neighbourhood area. 
 
The development of 15 dwellings on the site would not comply with the key aim and 
specifically Policy 2 of the emerging Great Abington neighbourhood Plan. Given the 
stage of the plan, considerable weight can be attached to this policy.  
  
However, there are significant other material considerations in this case that need to 
be taken into account in determination of the application.  
 
The principle of residential development for up to eight dwellings was established on 
the site under outline planning consent S/1433/16/OL due to the sustainable location 
of the site. The consent is extant until 27 September 2019. It is considered to remain a 
credible fallback position. 
 
The current proposal for 15 dwellings would be within the site area already granted 
planning approval and would not result in any further encroachment into the 
countryside. The scale of the development would also comply with the threshold 
considered appropriate on brownfield sites.  
 
The development would result in a more efficient use of land in a sustainable location. 
The dwellings on the site would have easy access by walking and cycling to facilities 
within the village such as the primary school, shop, church, public house, café, village 
hall and recreation ground. These are a distance of approximately 850 metres away. 
There is a bus stop immediately adjacent to the site with a service that runs every 30 
minutes to Cambridge and Haverhill (service 13); it also serves Linton. The proposed 
dwellings would also have easy access by walking and cycling to the nearby 
employment site of Granta Park just outside the village but very close to the 
application site. Great Abington does not contain a secondary school, health centre 
nor a larger food store; however these services are found in Linton, which is readily 
accessible by public transport. Residents would not therefore have to rely upon the 
private car to access the majority of their everyday needs. 
 
Whereas the approved scheme provides for 5 market and 3 affordable dwellings, the 
current proposal would deliver 9 market and 6 affordable dwellings (thus providing 
three more affordable dwellings above the amount secured through the extant 
consent on the site).  
 
For the above reasons, the proposal is considered to represent a departure to policy 
that would, on balance, justify the principle of the development of 15 dwellings being 
supported on the site.  
 
Housing Density 
 
The site measures 1.2 hectares in area. The erection of 15 dwellings would equate to 
a density of 12.5 dwellings per hectare. Whilst this density would not comply with the 
requirement of at least 30 dwellings per hectare for villages, it is considered 
acceptable in this case given the more rural character and appearance of the area to 
the south of Pampisford Road.  
 
The proposal would therefore comply with Policy H/8 of the Local Plan. 
 

Page 115



 
 
55. 
 
 
 
 
56. 
 
 
 
57. 
 
 
58. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
59. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
60. 
 
 
 
61. 
 
 
 
 
 
62. 
 
 
63.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
64.  
 
 
  
 
 

Affordable Housing 
 
The development would provide six affordable dwellings. The site is located outside 
the village framework and in the countryside where normally residential developments 
should comprise 100% affordable housing as an exception to normal policies. 
However, the extant planning consent is a material consideration in this case.  
 
The extant planning consent is for 8 dwellings included a Section 106 agreement that 
secured 40% affordable housing (3 dwellings) or a commuted sum towards off site 
affordable dwellings if a Registered Provider would not take on the units. 
 
Given that it is very unlikely that an exception site would come forward, the proposed 
scheme would provide three additional affordable dwellings above the extant consent.  
 
Notwithstanding the above, if an application was submitted today for 8 dwellings, 
there would be no requirement for any affordable housing to be provided given the 
limits set down in paragraph 63 of the NPPF and Local Plan policy H/10. While there 
is no guarantee that such an application would be approved, the proposed scheme 
does provide six affordable dwellings and this factor is capable of being given weight 
in the overall balancing exercise.  
 
Policy H/10 of the Local Plan states that all developments of 11 dwellings or more, or 
on development sites of less than 11 units if the total floorspace of the proposed units 
exceeds 1,000m2, will provide affordable housing as follows: 
a. To provide that 40% of the homes on site will be affordable; 
b. To address evidence of housing need. An agreed mix of affordable house tenures 
will be determined by local circumstances at the time of granting planning permission; 
c. In small groups or clusters distributed through the site. 
 
Paragraph 63 of the NPPF states that the provision of affordable housing should not 
be sought for residential developments that are not major developments, other than in 
designated rural areas.  
 
40% of the development would consist of affordable housing to meet local needs. This 
would consist of the provision of six dwellings on the site with a mix of 2 x one bed 
dwellings, 2 x two bed dwellings and 2 x three bed dwellings. The tenure mix would 
comprise 4 dwellings social rented (67%) and two dwellings intermediate/shared 
ownership (33%).  
 
The local need in Great Abington is 15 properties that consists of 6 x one bed, 8 x two 
bed and 1 x three bed for under 60’s.  
 
There are currently approximately 2,000 applicants on the housing register in the 
district of South Cambridgeshire. Predominantly, the largest need is for 1 and 2 
bedroom dwellings, both locally and district wide. With regards to the shared 
ownership need in South Cambs, there are currently approximately 800 applicants 
registered on the Home Buy register, and the highest demand is for 2 and 3 bedroom 
properties. 
 
The mix of dwelling sizes, types and tenure of affordable housing on the site is 
supported. The affordable dwellings would be on Plots 1, 2, 3, 4, 12 and 13 and 
therefore dispersed throughout the site. The dwellings would be built to the Nationally 
Described Space Standards. A condition could be attached to any consent to ensure 
that 5% of the total number of dwellings within the development meet Part M4(2) of 
the Building Regulations for accessible and adaptable dwelling standards.   

Page 116



 
65. 
 
 
 
66. 
 
 
 
 
 
67. 
 
 
 
 
 
68. 
 
 
 
 
69. 
 
 
 
70.  
 
 
 
71. 
 
 
 
 
72. 
 
 
 
73. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
74. 
 
 
 
75. 
 
 
 
 

 
The proposal would therefore comply with Policy H/10 of the Local Plan.  
 
Market Housing Mix 
 
The remaining 9 market units would need to provide a wide choice, type and mix of 
dwellings to meet the needs of different groups in the community including families 
with children, older people, those seeking starter homes, people wishing to build their 
own homes, people seeking private rented sector housing, and people with 
disabilities.  
 
Local Plan policy H/9 requires the mix of market homes in developments of 10 or 
more homes to consist of i) at least 30% 1 or 2 bedroom homes; ii) at least 30% 3 
bedroom homes; iii) at least 30% 4 or more bedroom homes; and iv) with a 10% 
flexibility allowance that can be added to any of the categories taking account of local 
circumstances. 
 
The market mix would consist of 2 x two bed dwellings (22%), 5 x three bed dwellings 
(56%) and 2 x four/five bed dwellings (22%). Whilst this would not strictly accord with 
the numbers set out in the policy, it is considered acceptable as it would provide a 
range of different sizes of dwellings.  
 
The proposal would therefore comply with Policy H/9 of the Local Plan.  
 
Developer Contributions 
 
Development plan policies state that planning permission will only be granted for 
proposals that have made suitable arrangements towards the provision of 
infrastructure necessary to make the scheme acceptable in planning terms.  
 
Regulation 122 of the CIL Regulations states that a planning obligation may only 
constitute a reason for granting planning permission for the development of the 
obligation is: - 
i) Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;  
ii) Directly related to the development; and,  
iii) Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.  
 
The Written Ministerial Statement and PPG dated November 2014 seeks to limit 
Section 106 contributions secured from small scale developments of less than 10 
dwellings or those where the gross floor space would not exceed 1000 square metres.  
 
The development could potentially require planning obligations towards open space, 
community facilities, public art, education, libraries and lifelong learning, strategic 
waste and monitoring.    
 
Public Open Space 
 
Formal Sports 
 
The Recreation and Open Space Study 2013, forming part of the Local Plan 
submission, showed that Great and Little Abington needed 2.21 ha of sports space 
but had 3.72 ha, i.e. a surplus of 1.51 ha. 
 
In accordance with Policy SC/7 the applicant will be required to make a contribution 
towards the increase in demand for provision of outdoor sports provision to mitigate 

Page 117



76. 
 
 
 
 
77.  
 
 
78. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
79. 
 
 
 
80. 
 
 
 
 
81. 
 
 
 
82. 
 
 
 
 
83. 
 
 
 
 
84. 
 
 
 
 
85. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
86. 

the impacts of the proposed development. Based on the housing mix, the 
development is required to provide 532 square metres of formal sports space. 
 
The parishes of Great and Little Abington have shared recreation facilities. The one 
recreation ground is located in Great Abington and has a football pitch and separate 
cricket pitch and an informal MUGA. There is also an outdoor bowling green located 
in Little Abington. 
 
The off-site contribution required towards the increase in demand for provision of 
outdoor sports provision would be £15,531.09.  
 
Great Abington Parish Council has said that in order to meet the needs of future 
resident’s sports contributions are required to: 
A. Improve and enlarge the hard court area on the recreation ground (which is well 
used by the community and the school), making it into a Multi Use Games Area 
(MUGA) that can be used for a wide range of activities including tennis, 5 a side 
football, football and cricket practice. 
B. Provide safety surfacing around the existing outdoor gym equipment. 
 
Children’s Playspace 
 
The Recreation and Open Space Study July 2013, forming part of the Local Plan 
submission, showed that Great and Little Abington needed 1.11 ha of play space 
whereas it had 0.08 ha, i.e. a deficit of 1.03 ha. 
 

Great and Little Abington is served by a playground located in between the two 

elements of the recreation ground. The playground contains a large number of items 
for younger children as well as a table tennis table, youth shelter and outdoor gym 
for older children and adults. 
 
In accordance with Policy SC/7, a contribution towards the increase in demand for use 
of children’s play space is required. Based on the housing mix, the development is 
required to provide 122 m2 of formal play space and 122 m2 of informal play space. 
 
Children’s Play Space is defined with the SPD as ‘Designated areas for children and 
young people containing a range of facilities and an environment that has been 
designed to provide focused opportunities for outdoor play. Also includes informal 
playing space within housing areas’.  
 
The ‘starting point for the mix of the Children’s play space will be 50% formal and 50% 
informal. A lower percentage of formal space may be acceptable if it can be 
demonstrated that provision of the space within the hierarchy can be achieved 
appropriately with less than 50% formal provision ’. 
 
The development would require the provision of formal playspace in the form of a 
Local Area of Play (LAP). This would cater for a target age group of 2-6 and provides 
soft and hard landscaping with features and design to help stimulate imaginative play. 
A LAP requires an activity zone of 100 m2. 
 
To overcome the excessive walking distance to the village play area, a 500 square 
metres area of public open space has been provided on the site that will include a 
LAP and informal playspace. This is welcomed and no off-site contribution is required 
for towards children’s playspace. A condition would need to be attached to any 
consent to agree the details of the play equipment.  
 

Page 118



 
 
 
87. 
 
 
 
88. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
89. 
 
 
 
 
 
90.. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
91.  
 
 
92. 
 
 
92. 
 
 
 
 
 
93. 
 
 
94. 
 
 
 
 
 
95. 
 
 
 
 
 

Informal Open Space 
 
The Recreation and Open Space Study July 2013, forming part of the local plan 
submission, showed that Great and Little Abington needed 0.54 ha of informal open 
space but had 0.27 ha, i.e. a surplus of 0.27 ha. 
 
In accordance with Policy SC/7, a contribution towards the increase in demand for the 
use of informal open space is required. Based on the housing mix, the development is 
required to provide 133 m2 of informal open space. 
 
The Open Space in New Developments SPD advises that ‘for new developments, it is 
the developer’s responsibility to ensure that the open space and facilities are available 
to the community in perpetuity and that satisfactory long term levels of management 
and maintenance are guaranteed’. The Council therefore requires that the on-site 
provision for the informal open space and the future maintenance of these areas is 
secured through a S106 Agreement.  
 
The 500 square metres of public open space on the site would include informal open 
space. This is agreed and no off-site contribution is required for towards informal open 
space. 
 
Community Facilities 
 
The Council undertook an external audit and needs assessment undertaken in 2009, 
in respect of all primary community facilities in each village. The purpose of this 
audit was threefold (i) to make a recommendation as to the indoor space 
requirements across the District (ii) to make a recommendation on the type of 
indoor space based on each settlement category and (iii) make a recommendation 
as to the level of developer contributions that should be sought to meet both the 
quantity and quality space standard. 
 
Great Abington has a need for 95 square metres of indoor meeting space and Little 
Abington has a need for 55 square metres. 
 
In accordance with Policy SC/6, a contribution towards the increase in demand for the 
use of community facilities is required.  
 
Both villages are served by the Abington Institute which provides 180 square metres 
meaning there is a surplus of 30 square metres. The Institute is described as a well 
maintained, good quality, recently updated facility which is well equipped with a 
community café and functions as a hub for community sports facilities. The hall is of 
a reasonable size. 
 
Based on the likely number of people arising from the development an area of circa 
4 m2 is required. 
 
Great Abington Parish Council has said that monies would be used towards the 
continued improvement of facilities at the village Institute: 
A. The replacement of the terrace glazed walling (exp cost £15k) 
B. Upgrade security systems and equipment (exp cost £5k) 
C. Internal decoration improvements (exp cost £5k) 
 
A financial contribution based on the approved housing mix will be required in 
accordance with the published charges and which results in a total contribution of 
£7,051.12.  

Page 119



96. 
 
 
 
97. 
 
 
 
98. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
99. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
100. 
 
 
 
 
 
101. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
102. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
103. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
104. 

 
Public Art 
 
Policy HQ/2 encourages the provision or commissioning of public art that is integrated 
into developments to enhance its quality or an off-site contribution towards public art 
initiatives in the community.  
 
Great Abington Parish Council are seeking a modest contribution of £3,000 from the 
applicant. This will be used to commission an artist to create a tree sculpture from a 
dead tree located on the High Street.  
 
The request for public art is not considered to meet the CIL tests as it is not necessary 
to make the development acceptable in planning terms and is not directly related to 
the development. However, it is considered necessary and reasonable to attach a 
condition to any consent in relation to the provision of public art on the public open 
space on the site that, for example, relates to the former use of the site. 
 
Education 
 
The development is expected to generate a net increase of 4 early year’s children, of 
which 3 are entitled to free provision. In terms of early years’ provision, there are two 
childcare providers in Abington (Abington Pre School and Granta Park) that have a 
capacity of 67 15 hour places. There is sufficient capacity in the area to accommodate 
the places being generated by this development. Therefore, no contributions towards 
early years provision is required. 
 
The development is expected to generate a net increase of 3 primary aged children.  
The catchment school is Great Abington Primary School. The County Council’s 
forecast indicates that there is sufficient capacity to accommodate the pupils 
generated by the development. Therefore, no contributions towards primary provision 
is required. 
 
The development is expected to generate a net increase of 2 secondary school 
places. The catchment school is Linton Village College. The school has an overall 
capacity of 825 pupils. In August 2016, there were 805 pupils aged 11 to 15 living in 
the catchment area compared to 837 on the school roll. The catchment forecast is set 
to decrease to 730 by 2010/21. There is sufficient capacity in the school to 
accommodate the places being generated by this development. Therefore no 
contribution towards secondary education is required. 
 
Libraries and Life Long Learning 
 
Great Abington has a mobile library service with three stops. It visits once a month for 
a period of 90 minutes. The proposed increase in population from this development 
(15 dwellings x 2.38 average household size = 36 new residents) will put pressure on 
the library and lifelong learning service in the village. There is sufficient capacity to 
mitigate the impact of the development and no contributions are required.  
 
Strategic Waste 
 
This development falls within the Thriplow Household Recycling Centre catchment 
area for which there is currently insufficient capacity.  The development would not 
require a contribution towards the project to expand capacity as 5 schemes have 
already been pooled towards this project. 
 

Page 120



 
 
 
 
 
 
105. 

Monitoring 
 
To ensure the proper and timely provision and perpetual usage of onsite 
infrastructure (including public open space, children’s play area and affordable 
housing) the District Council requires a contribution of £1,000 towards fulfilling its 
monitoring function. 
 
Summary 
 
Appendix 1 provides details of the developer contributions required to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms in accordance with Policy TI/8 of the Local 
Plan. It is considered that all of the requested contributions to date apart from public 
art meet the CIL tests and would be secured via a Section 106 agreement. The 
applicant has agreed to these contributions.  

  
 Character and Appearance of the Area 
  
106. 
 
 
 
107. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
108. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
109. 

The site was formerly used for agricultural purposes and currently comprises a range 
of dilapidated glasshouses and rural buildings surrounded by landscaping on all 
boundaries. The site has a fairly low key rural character and appearance.    
 
The proposal would result in some encroachment into the countryside outside the 
existing built-up development within the village framework. The introduction of 15 
dwellings of significant scale on a site that was formerly a nursery and rural in nature 
would result in a visually intrusive development that would detract from the openness 
and character and appearance of the countryside. However, the impact is considered 
limited in terms of openness given the existing buildings on the site and that the 
proposed development would not adversely affect the landscape setting of the village 
as the encroachment is restricted and the development would only be visible from 
close public viewpoints and would not affect the wider landscape and countryside 
from long distance views.   
 
In addition, the extant consent for eight dwellings on the site needs to be taken into 
consideration. Whilst the development would increase the density of development on 
the site, it would remain at low density and the proposal would make a more efficient 
use of the land whilst retaining the spacious and rural character and appearance of 
the area and providing a transition zone between the village and the former Land 
Settlement Association Estate. 
 
The proposal would therefore comply with Policy HQ/1 of the Local Plan.  

  
 Design Considerations 
  
110. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
111. 
 

The scheme has been designed with reasonable large plots sited around an area of 
public open space with access via a shared surface. The landscaping along the 
Pampisford Road frontage would be retained and landscaping provided along the 
frontage of the plots. This is considered to reflect the spacious and rural character and 
appearance of the dwellings that comprise part of the former Land Settlement 
Association Estate to the south of Pampisford Road and dwellings along the High 
Street to the north. Whist it is acknowledged that the Urban Design Officer would 
prefer dwellings sited closer to the road, this is considered to result in a more 
surburban development. 
 
Although it is noted that the northern side of Pampisford Road opposite the site 
consists of single storey bungalows and the land rises to the south, the scale of the 

Page 121



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
112. 
 
 
 
 
113. 
 
 
 
 
114. 
 
 
115. 
 
 
 
 
116.  
 

dwellings are considered to be satisfactory notwithstanding the levels. The dwellings 
would range from 6.7 metres to 8.4 metres in height with the lower dwellings sited 
closer to Pampisford Road to the north and the higher dwellings at the central rear 
part of the site to the south. The development is not considered to result in a visually 
dominant mass of built form that would adversely affect the character and appearance 
of the area given the siting of the dwellings off the Pampisford Road frontage that 
would be partially screened by landscaping.  
 
The form and design of the dwellings are considered to represent a contemporary 
take on traditional rural buildings that would closely reflect the rural character of the 
site. The simple plan forms and features that include forward projecting gables and 
dormer windows would reflect the character of dwellings within the vicinity of the site.    
 
The range of materials of the dwellings that would comprise buff/red bricks, timber 
boarding and render for the walls and slate grey interlocking tiles and plain tiles for the 
roof would be in keeping with the character and appearance of the area. A condition 
would be attached to any consent to agree the precise details.  
 
The public open space would be situated centrally within the site and surrounded by 
dwellings. This would provide good level of surveillance for users.  
 
A public footway would be provided along Pampisford Road that would link to the 
existing public footway adjacent to the bus stop close to the junction with the High 
Street. A link would also be provided to the public right of way that runs along the 
western boundary of the site.  
 
The proposal is considered to result in a high quality of development that responds to 
the local context and creates a sense of place.  

  
117. The proposal would therefore comply with Policy HQ/1 of the Local Plan.  
  
 Trees/ Landscaping 
  
118. 
 
 
 
119. 
 
 
 
120. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
121. 
 
 
 
122. 
 

The site comprises a number of trees and landscaping. Two Elm trees on the road 
frontage are protected by a Tree Preservation Order and some of the hedgerows on 
or adjacent to the site may qualify as important hedgerows.  
 
A Tree Survey and Arboricultural implications Assessment, Tree Protection Plan and 
Arboricultural Method Statement has been submitted with the application. This 
document is sufficient for the site.  
 
The proposal would not result in the loss of any important trees and hedges that 
significantly contribute towards the visual amenity of the area. Although a group of 
Elm trees and group of Ash trees along the Pampisford Road frontage would be lost 
that are category B trees, they are not in a particularly good condition and would be 
replaced. The Poplars along the western boundary would also be removed which is 
acceptable as these are C category trees. The woodland to the south of the side 
adjacent the County Wildlife Site would be retained.  
 
A substantial amount of landscaping is proposed within the development that includes 
structural planting in the form of a landscape buffer along the boundaries of the site 
together with planting within the site.  
 
Conditions would be attached to any consent to ensure that the development is 
carried out in accordance with the Tree Protection Plan and Arboricultural Method 

Page 122



 
 
 
123. 

Statement and to secure a detailed landscaping scheme that is appropriate to the 
character of the area.   
 
The proposal would therefore comply with Policy NH/4 of the Local Plan.   

  
 Ecology 
  
124.  
 
 
 
 
125. 
 
 
 
126. 
 
 
 
 
127. 
 
 
 
128. 
 
 
129. 
 
 
130. 
 
 
131. 
 
 
 
 
132. 
 
 
 
133. 
 
 
 
134.  
 
 
 
 
135. 

The site comprises former agricultural use and has a number of habitats that include 
derelict glasshouses and outbuildings, grassland, scrub, trees and hedges and piles 
of rubble and logs. The Shelford - Haverhill Disused Railway (Great Abington) County 
Wildlife Site lies to the south of the site.   
 
An updated Preliminary Ecological Appraisal was submitted with the application. The 
reports have provided evidence of ecological constraints on the site with regard to 
protected species in the form of badgers, bats, owls and reptiles.  
 
A badger sett was found adjacent to the southern site boundary with signs of recent 
activity along with a badger latrine 30 metres to the south east, snuffle holes within the 
western part of the site within clearings from the scrub and badger dung within one of 
the glasshouses.  
 
The glasshouses have bird nesting potential but negligible bat roost potential due to 
the internal light levels and lack of roosting opportunities. An owl was seen in one of 
the glasshouses and a small number of pellets found.  
 
Bat droppings were found within one of the outbuildings that has low bat roost 
potential.  
 
The grassland and scrubs provides foraging opportunities for bats and a suitable 
habitat for reptiles.  
 
A Bat Survey Report and Reptile Survey were carried out following the 
recommendations in the preliminary appraisal.  
 
The Bat Survey did not result in any bats emerging from the outbuilding or the 
pollarded poplar tree and low levels of foraging activity were recorded. Two bats were 
observed. No mitigation is necessary but it is recommended that bat boxes are 
provided on the new buildings for enhancement any lighting is limited.     
 
The Reptile Survey recorded a number of lizards within refugia close to a glasshouse. 
Mitigation is necessary in the form of precautionary clearance measures due to the 
small size of the population.   
 
The proposal is not considered to result in the loss of any important habitats for 
protected species providing conditions are attached to any consent to ensure their 
protection. This would include further badger surveys.  
 
The development is not considered to directly affect the neutral grassland species 
which are the interest features of the adjacent County Wildlife Site. However, this 
needs to protected by the provision of a buffer zone which would be secured through 
a condition of any consent.  
 
The proposal would therefore comply with Policy NH/4 of the Local Plan.  

  
 Highway Safety and Sustainable Travel 

Page 123



  
136. 
 
 
 
137. 
 
 
 
138. 
 
 
 
 
 
139. 
 
 
140. 
 
 
 
 
141. 
 
 
142. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
143. 
 

Pampisford Road connects the A505 and Granta Park to the west to the A1307 at 
Hildersham to the east. It is a wide road with traffic calming and a speed limit of 30 
miles per hour.   
 
The proposal would result in an increase in traffic in the area. However, the increase 
is not considered significant to the extent that it would adversely affect the capacity 
and functioning of the public highway.  
 
The main access from Pampisford Road would be a shared surface and measure 6 
metres in width. Vehicular visibility splays measuring 2.4 metres from the edge of the 
carriageway x 43 metres along the edge of the carriageway in both directions would 
be provided. This would accord with Local Highway Authority standards and not result 
in a development would be detrimental to highway safety.  
 
Conditions would be attached to any consent to secure a traffic management plan 
during construction.  
 
A new 1.8 metre wide footway would be installed from the shared access and run 
along Pampisford Road to connect to the existing public footway adjacent to the bus 
stop. This would need to be agreed as part of the Section 106. A footway link to the 
public footpath is also proposed to ensure the site is permeable. 
 
At least two vehicle parking spaces and one cycle parking space would be provided 
for each dwelling. 
 
Although it is noted that some of the driveways are not divisible by 5 metres, vehicles 
would not encroach on to the footway as there is shared surface with a 0.5 metre 
maintenance strip. It is also unlikely that vehicles would park in these areas given the 
size of the remaining spaces. This has been considered further and would result in 
vehicles closer to the road that would detract from views into the development from 
Pampisford Road. 
 
The development would therefore comply with Policies HQ/1, TI/2 and TI/3 of the 
Local Plan.   

  
 Flood Risk 
  
144. 
 
 
145. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
146. 
 
 
147. 
 
 

The site is located within Flood Zone 1 (low risk). It is in an area where there is not a 
high risk from fluvial flooding and groundwater flooding.  
 
A Flood Risk Assessment has been submitted with the application that demonstrates 
that surface water can be attenuated on site through infiltration in the form of 
permeable paving on the private shared driveway with cellular storage underneath 
along with permeable paving for individual driveways and parking spaces. The main 
shared access road would also be permeably surfaced if not adopted by the Local 
Highways Authority. This method of drainage would have the benefits in relation to 
pollution control.  
 
The proposal is not therefore considered to increase the risk of flooding to the site and 
surrounding area.  
 
A condition would be attached to any consent to ensure the design of the surface 
water drainage system is appropriate and can withstand a 1 in 100 year storm event 
plus 40% for climate change. The condition will also need to include maintenance of 

Page 124



 
 
148. 

the system in perpetuity.  
 
The proposal would therefore comply with Policy CC/9 of the Local Plan.  

  
 Neighbour Amenity 
  
149. 
 
 
150. 
 
 
 
 
 
151.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
152. 
 
 
 
153. 

No. 3 Pampisford Road is situated to the west of the site. It has a number of windows 
in its side and rear elevations facing the site and a rear garden.  
 
The development is not considered to result in an unduly overbearing mass, 
significant loss of light or severe loss of privacy that would adversely affect the 
amenities of the neighbour given that distance to the nearest dwellings within the 
development would be 18 metres to the less important part of the dwelling and garden 
area.  
 
Whilst it is acknowledged that there would be a change in the use of the land from a 
horticultural nursery to residential dwellings, the development is not considered to 
result in a significant level of noise and disturbance that would adversely affect the 
amenities of neighbours. A condition would be attached to any consent in relation to 
the hours of use of power operated machinery during construction and construction 
related deliveries to minimise the noise impact upon neighbours. 
 
The footpath to the rear of the neighbour would be separated from the plot by 
landscaping and potential boundary treatment and is not considered to result in a 
security risk that would warrant refusal of the application.  
 
The proposal would therefore comply with Policy HQ/1, CC/6 and SC/10 of the Local 
Plan.  

  
 Amenity of Occupiers 
  
154. 
 
 
 
155. 

The gross internal floor areas of the dwellings would meet residential space standards 
in terms of the total size of the dwelling, the size of the bedrooms and the size of the 
storage.   
 
The proposal would therefore comply with Policy H/12 of the Local Plan.   

  
 Heritage Assets 
  
 156. 
 
 
 
157. 

The site is located in an area of high archaeological potential and a condition is 
recommended to secure a scheme of investigation and evaluation to protect any 
significant archaeological features found on the site.   
 
The proposal would therefore comply with Policy NH/14 of the Local Plan.   

  
 Other Matters 
  
158. 
 
 
 
159. 
 
 
 

The site is within an area that is sensitive in terms of controlled groundwaters. The 
site and surrounding area are also subject to potential contaminants as a result of the 
former nursery use of the site and the proximity to the disused railway to the south.  
 
A condition would need to be attached to any consent to secure a detailed 
investigation into contamination to ensure that the proposal would not cause a risk to 
the health of the occupiers of the development and construction workers or controlled 
groundwaters in the area and accord with Policy SC/11 of the Local Plan.   

Page 125



 
160. 
 
 
161.  

 
A condition would be attached to any consent to agree foul drainage details to accord 
with Policy CC/7 of the Local Plan. 
 
Conditions would be attached to any consent in relation to renewable energy 
measures and water conservation to ensure the proposal would comply with Policies 
CC/3 and CC/4 of the Local Plan.    

  
 Conclusion 
  
162.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
163. 
 
 
 
 
164. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
165. 
 
 
 
 
166. 
 
 
 
 
 
167. 

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that 
decisions must be made in accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. The proposal would not provide a suitable site for 
housing, having regard to its location and very recently adopted policies in the Local 
Plan. The proposal conflicts with policies S/7 and S/10 which are such that the 
proposal should be regarded as being in conflict with the development plan as a 
whole. 
 
In addition, the site is located on the former Land Settlement Association Estate that is 
covered by the Great Abington Neighbourhood Plan which is at an advanced stage 
and this restricts the number of new dwellings within this area in order retain its 
character.  
 
However, there are material considerations in this case, to which officer’s feel can be 
afforded significant weight. There is an extant planning consent for eight dwellings on 
the site which is still capable of being implemented meaning that site will not remain 
undeveloped contrary to the spatial strategy within the development plan. The 
proposal will also include provision of three additional affordable dwellings all of which 
can be secured in the first instance for those with a local connection.  
 
There are no technical objections that cannot be controlled or mitigated through the 
use of conditions. While there will be a material change in the character and 
appearance of the area, members need to remember that such a change will also 
occur as a result of the extant planning permission. 
 
Officers consider that due weight can be given to these material considerations and 
which are considered to justify a departure from policy in this particular instance. 
Approval would not set a precedent given the prevailing circumstances and the 
application should be considered on its individual merits having regard to all of the 
relevant considerations.  
 
On balance, the application is therefore recommended for approval.   

  
 Recommendation 
 
168. It is recommended that the Planning Committee grants officers delegated powers to 

approve the application subject to a Section 106 agreement as set out in appendix 1 
and the following conditions: 
 
Conditions 
 
a) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 years 
from the date of this permission.  
(Reason - To ensure that consideration of any future application for development in 
the area will not be prejudiced by permissions for development, which have not been 

Page 126



acted upon.) 
 
b) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 1:1250 Site location plan and drawing numbers 18053-01, 
18053-02, 18053-03, 18053-04, 18053-05, 18053-06, 18053-07, 18053-08, 18053-09, 
18053-10, 18053-11, 18053-12, 18053-13, 18053-14, 18053-15, 18053-16, 18053-17, 
18053-18, 18053-19, 18053-20, 18053-21, 18053-22 and 18053-25.  
(Reason - To facilitate any future application to the Local Planning Authority under 
Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.) 

 
c) No development above base course level shall take place until details of the 
materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the buildings 
hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.  
(Reason - To ensure the appearance of the development is satisfactory in accordance 
with Policy HQ/1 of the adopted Local Plan 2018.) 
 
d) No development above base course level shall take place until there has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority a plan indicating 
the positions, design, materials and type of boundary treatment to be erected. The 
boundary treatment shall be completed before the development is occupied in 
accordance with the approved details and shall thereafter be retained.  
(Reason - To ensure that the appearance of the site does not detract from the 
character of the area in accordance with Policy HQ/1 of the adopted Local Plan 2018.) 
 
e) No development shall be occupied until full details of both hard and soft landscape 
works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The details shall include specification of all proposed trees, hedges and 
shrub planting, which shall include details of species, density and size of stock.  
(Reason - To ensure the development is satisfactorily assimilated into the area and 
enhances biodiversity in accordance with Policy NH/4 of the adopted Local Plan 
2018.) 

 
f) All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any part of 
the development or in accordance with a programme agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority. If within a period of five years from the date of the planting, or 
replacement planting, any tree or plant is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies, 
another tree or plant of the same species and size as that originally planted shall be 
planted at the same place, unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written 
consent to any variation.  
(Reason - To ensure the development is satisfactorily assimilated into the area and 
enhances biodiversity in accordance with Policy NH/4 of the adopted Local Plan 
2018.) 

 
g) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the Tree Survey, 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment , Tree Protection Plan and Arboricultural Method 
Statement dated March 2018 Revised September 2018 by Richard Morrish 
Associates Ltd.  
(Reason - To protect trees which are to be retained in order to enhance the 
development, biodiversity and the visual amenities of the area in accordance with 
Policy NH/4 of the adopted Local Plan 2018.) 
 
h) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the Extended Phase 1 

Page 127



Ecology Report dated 17 January 2018 by agb Environmental, Bat Survey report 
dated 17 January 2018 by agb Environmental and Reptile Survey report dated 21 
February 2018 by agb Environmental. 
(Reason - To minimise disturbance, harm or potential impact upon protected species 
and achieve biodiversity enhancement on the site in accordance with Policy NH/4 of 
the adopted Local Plan 2018.) 
 
i) No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, vegetation 
clearance) until a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
CEMP (Biodiversity) shall include the following. 
i) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities. 
ii) Identification of “biodiversity protection zones” to include provisions to protect the 
adjacent County Wildlife Site from harm both during the construction phase and from 
future impacts such as fly tipping. 
iii) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to 
avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of method 
statements). 
iv) The location and timings of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features. 
v) The times during which construction when specialist ecologists need to be present 
on site to oversee works. 
vi) Responsible persons and lines of communication. 
vii) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or 
similarly competent person. 
viii) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs if applicable. 
The approved CEMP shall be agreed to and implemented throughout the construction 
period strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the local planning authority. 
(Reason - To minimise disturbance, harm or potential impact upon protected species 
and achieve biodiversity enhancement on the site in accordance with Policy NH/4 of 
the adopted Local Plan 2018.) 
 
j) Prior to the commencement of the development, a badger survey shall be carried 
out within the site by a licensed ecologist. A report of the findings including a suitable 
mitigation strategy if required, should badgers be found, shall be submitted to the local 
planning authority and approved in writing. Thereafter the development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details.  
(Reason - To minimise disturbance, harm or potential impact upon protected species 
and achieve biodiversity enhancement on the site in accordance with Policy NH/4 of 
the adopted Local Plan 2018.) 
 
k) A Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the local planning authority prior to the commencement of 
development. The content of the LEMP shall include the following.  
i) Description and evaluation of features to be managed.  
ii) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management.  
iii) Aims and objectives of management.  
iv) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives.  
v) Prescriptions for management actions.  
vi) Prescription of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being 
rolled forward over a five-year period).  
vii) Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the plan.  
viii) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures.  
The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by which 
the long-term implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer with the 

Page 128



management body(ies) responsible for its delivery. The plan shall also set out (where 
the results form monitoring show that conservation aims and objectives of the LEMP 
are not being met) contingencies and/or remedial action will be identified, agreed and 
implemented so that the development still delivers the fully functioning biodiversity 
objectives of the originally approved scheme. The approved plan will be implemented 
in accordance with the approved details.  
(Reason - To minimise disturbance, harm or potential impact upon protected species 
and achieve biodiversity enhancement on the site in accordance with Policy NH/4 of 
the adopted Local Plan 2018.) 
 
l) No demolition/development shall take place until an archaeological written scheme 
of investigation (WSI) has been submitted to and approved by the local planning 
authority in writing. For land that is included within the WSI, no 
demolition/development shall take place other than in accordance with the agreed 
WSI which shall include: 
i) the statement of significance and research objectives;  
ii) The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording and the 
nomination of a competent person(s) or organisation to undertake the agreed works 
iii) The programme for post-excavation assessment and subsequent analysis, 
publication & dissemination, and deposition of resulting material. This part of the 
condition shall not be discharged until these elements have been fulfilled in 
accordance with the programme set out in the WSI. 
Developers will wish to ensure that in drawing up their development programme, the 
timetable for the investigation is included within the details of the agreed scheme. 
(Reason - To secure the provision of archaeological excavation and the subsequent 
recording of the remains in accordance with Policy NH/14 of the adopted Local Plan 
2018.) 
 
m) No development approved by this permission shall be commenced, unless 
otherwise agreed, until:  
i) The application site has been subject to a detailed scheme for the investigation and 
recording of contamination and remediation objectives have been determined through 
risk assessment and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
ii) Detailed proposals for the removal, containment or otherwise rendering harmless 
any contamination (the Remediation method statement) have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
(Reason – To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried 
out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite 
receptors in accordance with Policy SC/11 of the adopted Local Plan 2018.) 
 
n) No development shall be occupied until: 
i) The works specified in the remediation method statement have been completed, 
and a Verification report submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, in accordance with the approved scheme.  
ii) If, during remediation and/or construction works, any contamination is identified that 
has not been considered in the remediation method statement, then remediation 
proposals for this material should be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
(Reason – To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried 
out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite 
receptors in accordance with Policy SC/11 of the adopted Local Plan 2018.) 
  

Page 129



o) No development approved by this planning permission shall take place until a 
remediation strategy that includes the following components to deal with the risks 
associated with the contamination of the site shall each be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority:  
i) A Preliminary Risk Assessment (PRA) including a Conceptual Site Model (CSM) of 
the site indication potential sources, pathways, receptors including those off-site.  
ii) The results of a site investigation based on (i) and a detailed risk assessment, 
including a revised CSM. 
iii) Based on the risk assessment in (ii) an options appraisal and remediation strategy 
giving full details of the remediation measures required and how they are to be 
undertaken. The strategy shall include a plan providing details of how the remediation 
works shall be judged to be complete and arrangements for contingency actions. The 
plan shall also detail a long term monitoring and maintenance plan as necessary. 
iv) No occupation of any part of the permitted development shall take place until a 
verification report demonstrating completion of works set out in the remediation 
strategy in (iii). The long term monitoring and maintenance plan in (iii) shall be 
updated and be implemented as approved.  
If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present 
at the site, then no further development (unless otherwise agreed with the Local 
Planning Authority) shall be carried out until the developer has submitted a 
remediation strategy detailing how this unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with 
and obtained written approval from the Local Planning Authority. The remediation 
strategy shall be implemented as approved.   
(Reason – To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried 
out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite 
receptors in accordance with Policy SC/11 of the adopted Local Plan 2018.) 
  
p) Development shall not commence until a detailed surface water scheme for the site 
based upon sustainable drainage principles has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall subsequently be 
implemented in full accordance with the approved details before the development is 
completed.  
The scheme shall be based upon the principles within the agreed Flood Risk 
Assessment (FRA) and Sustainable Drainage Strategy prepared by MTC Engineering 
(ref: 2041-FRA & DS- Rev B) dated September 2018 and shall also include  
i) Full calculations detailing the existing surface water run off rates for the QBAR, 3.3% 
Annual Exceedance Probability (AEP) (1 in 30) and 1% AEP (1 in 100) storm events; 
ii) Detailed drawings of the entire proposed surface water drainage system including 
levels, gradients, dimensions and pipe reference numbers; 
iii) Full details of the proposed attenuation and flow control measures; 
iv) Site investigation and test results to confirm infiltration rates; 
v) Details of overland flood flow routes in the evened of system exceedance, with 
demonstration that such flows can be appropriately managed on site without 
increasing flood risk to occupants; 
vi) Full details of the maintenance/ adoption of the surface water drainage system; 
vi) Measures taken to prevent pollution of the receiving groundwater and/ or surface 
water. The drainage scheme must adhere to the hierarchy of the drainage options as 
outlined in the NPPF PPG.  
(Reason - To ensure a satisfactory method of surface water drainage and to prevent 
the increased risk of flooding in accordance with Policy CC/9 of the adopted Local 
Plan 2018.) 
 
q) Prior to the commencement of any development, a scheme for the provision and 

Page 130



implementation of foul water drainage shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be constructed and completed in 
accordance with the approved plans prior to the occupation of any part of the 
development or in accordance with the implementation programme agreed in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority.  
(Reason - To reduce the risk of pollution to the water environment and to ensure a 
satisfactory method of foul water drainage in accordance with Policy CC/7  of the 
adopted Local Plan 2018.) 
 
r) No development shall commence until a renewable energy statement has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and 
thereafter retained.  
(Reason - To ensure an energy efficient and sustainable development in accordance 
with Policy CC/3 of the adopted Local Plan 2018.) 
 
s) No development shall commence until a water conservation strategy has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and 
thereafter retained.  
(Reason - To ensure a water efficient and sustainable development in accordance 
with Policy CC/4 of the adopted Local Plan 2018.) 
 
t) No construction site machinery or plant shall be operated, no noisy works shall be 
carried out and no construction related deliveries taken at or despatched from the site 
except between the hours of 0800-1800 Monday to Friday, 0800-1300 Saturday and 
not at any time on Sundays or Bank or Public holidays.  
(Reason - To protect the amenity of the locality, especially for people living and/or 
working nearby, in accordance with Policy SC/10 of the Local Plan 2018.) 
 
u) No demolition or construction works shall commence on site until a traffic 
management plan (not a CTMP) has been agreed with the Local Planning Authority in 
consultation with the Highway Authority. The principle areas of concern that should 
be addressed are: 
(i) Movements and control of muck away lorries (all loading and unloading shall 
be undertaken off the adopted highway) 
(ii) Contractor parking, for both phases all such parking shall be within the 
curtilage of the site and not on the street. 
(iii) Movements and control of all deliveries (all loading and unloading shall be 
undertaken off the adopted public highway. 
(iv) Control of dust, mud and debris, in relationship to the functioning of the 
adopted public highway. 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  
(Reason - In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy HQ/1 of the 
adopted Local Plan 2018.) 
 
v) No development shall commence until details of the proposed arrangements for 
future management and maintenance of the proposed streets within the development 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
streets shall thereafter be maintained in accordance with the approved management 
and maintenance details until such time as an Agreement has been entered into 
under Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980 or a Private Management and 
Maintenance Company has been established). 
(Reason - To ensure satisfactory development of the site and to ensure estate roads 
are managed and maintained thereafter to a suitable and safe standard in the 

Page 131



interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy HQ/1 of the adopted Local Plan 
2018.). 
 
w) The access shall be constructed so that its falls and levels are such that no private 
water from the site drains across or onto the adopted public highway. 
(Reason - In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy HQ/1 of the 
adopted Local Plan 2018.) 
 
x) The access shall be constructed using a bound material to prevent debris 
spreading onto the adopted public highway. 
(Reason - In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy HQ/1 of the 
adopted Local Plan 2018.) 
 
y) The development, shall not be occupied until covered and secure cycle parking has 
been provided within the site in accordance with a scheme to be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
(Reason - To ensure the provision of covered and secure cycle parking in accordance 
with Policy TI/3 of the adopted Local Plan 2018.) 
 
z) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (England) (or any order revoking and re-enacting 
that Order with or without modification), no development within Classes A, B and C of 
Part 1 of Schedule 2 of the Order shall take place on all plots and Class B of Part 2 of 
Schedule 2 of the Order shall take place on Plots 1, 14 and 15 unless expressly 
authorised by planning permission granted by the Local Planning Authority in that 
behalf. 
(Reason - In the interests of highway safety and to safeguard the privacy of 
neighbours in accordance with Policy HQ/1 of the adopted Local Plan 2018.) 
 
z) The proposed first floor bedroom windows in the east side elevation of Plot 6, east 
side elevation of Plot 7 and west side elevation of Plot 8,  hereby permitted, shall be 
fitted with obscured glazing (meeting as a minimum Pilkington Standard level 3 in 
obscurity) and shall be permanently fixed shut. The development shall be retained as 
such thereafter. 
(Reason - To prevent overlooking of the adjoining properties in accordance with Policy 
HQ/1 of the adopted Local Plan 2018.) 
 
aa) No development above base course level shall take place until details of the 
proposed children’s play area including the number and type of pieces of play 
equipment have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The play area shall be laid out and equipped as approved before the first 
occupation of any part of the development, or in accordance with a programme to be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
(Reason - To provide outdoor play space in accordance with Policy SC/7 of the 
adopted Local Plan 2018.) 
 
bb) Notwithstanding the approved plans, 5% of the dwellings, hereby permitted, shall 
be constructed to meet the requirements of Part M4(2) 'accessible and adaptable 
dwellings' of the Building Regulations 2010 (as amended 2016).  
(Reason - To ensure the units are accessible and adaptable in accordance with Policy 
H/9 of the adopted South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018). 
 
cc) Prior to the first occupation of the development, infrastructure to enable the 
delivery of broadband services to industry standards should be provided for each of 
the dwellings.   

Page 132



(Reason – To support the implementation of the South Cambridgeshire Economic 
Development Strategy in accordance with Policy TI/10 of the adopted South 
Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018.) 
 
dd) No development shall be occupied until a scheme for the provision of public art on 
the open space on the site designed with the local community has been submitted to 
and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation of the development.  
(Reason – To enhance the quality of the development in accordance with Policy HQ/2 
of the adopted Local Plan 2018.) 
 
ee) No development shall be occupied until a lighting scheme, to include details of 
any external lighting of the site such as street lighting, floodlighting, security lighting, 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This 
information shall include a layout plan with beam orientation, full isolux contour maps 
and a schedule of equipment in the design (luminaire type, mounting height, aiming 
angles and luminaire profiles, angle of glare) and shall assess artificial light impact in 
accordance with the Institute of Lighting Engineers (2005) ‘Guidance Notes for the 
Reduction of obtrusive Light’. The approved lighting scheme shall be installed, 
maintained and operated in accordance with the approved details prior to the 
occupation of the development.    
(Reason -To minimise the effects of light pollution on the surrounding area in 
accordance with Policy SC/9 of the adopted Local Plan 2018.) 
 
ff) No development shall take place until a plan showing the finished floor levels of the 
proposed dwellings in relation to the existing and proposed ground levels of the 
surrounding land has been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The development shall be constructed in accordance with the approved 
details. 
(Reason - In the interests of residential and visual amenity, in accordance with Policy 
HQ/1 of the adopted Local Plan 2018.) 
 
Section 106 agreement 
a) Affordable Housing 
b) Public Open Space 
c) Community Faculties 
d) Monitoring 
e) Footpath along Pampisford Road 

  
 
Background Papers: 
 
The following list contains links to the documents on the Council’s website and / or an 
indication as to where hard copies can be inspected. 
 

  South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018 

  South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Supplementary Planning 
Documents (SPD’s) 

  Planning File References: S/1106/18/FL and S/1433/16/OL 

 
Report Author: Karen Pell-Coggins Senior Planning Officer 
 Telephone Number: 01954 713230 
 

Page 133



This page is left blank intentionally.



1 
 

Heads of terms for the completion of a Section 106 agreement 
 
 

 
Affordable housing summary: 
 

Affordable housing percentage 40% (6 units) 

Affordable housing tenure 70% affordable rent (4 units)  
30% Intermediate (2 units) 

Local connection criteria All affordable units to be subjection to local 
connection criteria  

Local connection villages Priority: Great and Little Abington 
Second tier: Hildersham 
Third tier: District wide  

 
Section 106 payments summary: 
 

Item Beneficiary Estimated sum 

Sports SCDC £15,531.09 

Indoor community space SCDC £7,051.12 

Household waste bins SCDC £1,102.50 

Monitoring SCDC £1,000 

   

TOTAL  £24,684.71 

TOTAL PER DWELLING  £1,645.65 

 
 
Section 106 infrastructure summary:  
 

Item Beneficiary Summary 

Maintenance arrangements for onsite 
open space and play equipment 

SCDC  

 
 

Planning condition infrastructure summary:  
 

Item Beneficiary Summary 

Onsite Local Area for Play SCDC An onsite children’s play 
area containing no fewer 
that 4 items of equipment 
for 2-8 year olds 

Public Art SCDC Public art on open space 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Village – Land South of Pampisford Road Great Abington (S/1106/18/FL) 

 

Page 135



2 
 

 
CAMBRIDGESHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

 

 

Ref CCC1 

Type Early years 

Policy SC/4 

Required No 

Detail The proposal creates a demand for 3 early years’ children.  
 
Cambridgeshire County Council advises that there are 2 providers 
within the catchment of the development (Abington pre-school and 
Granta Park) and that across the 2 sites there is sufficient capacity to 
accommodate the needs arising from the development.  

 

Ref CCC2 

Type Primary School 

Policy SC/4 

Required No 

Detail The proposal creates a demand for 3 primary school aged children.  
 
In 2016/17 Great Abington Primary School had a published admission 
number of 20 meaning a total capacity of 140 pupils.  
 
In January 2016 there were 100 4-10 year olds living within the 
catchment of the school and 30 children coming from out of catchment. 
The catchment population is forecast to decrease to 128 by 2020/21. 
(i.e. capacity for 12 spaces). On this basis there is no justification for 
securing a contribution. 

 

Ref CCC3 

Type Secondary school 

Policy SC/4 

Required No 

Detail The proposal creates a demand for 2 secondary school aged children.  
 
Linton Village College has a published admission number of 165 
meaning a total capacity of 825 pupils.  
 
In August 2016 there were 805 11-15 year olds living within the 
catchment of the school compared to 837 being on roll (i.e. 32 children 
out of catchment children attended the school). 
 
The catchment population is forecast to decrease to 730 by 2020/21. 
(i.e. capacity for 95 spaces). On this basis there is no justification for 
securing a contribution. 

 

Ref CCC4 

Type Libraries and lifelong learning 

Policy SC/4 

Required No 

Detail Great Abington is served by 3 mobile stops (The shop, Magna Close, 
North Road). The vehicle stops on the last Tuesday of each month for 
30 minutes and each of the stops. The County Council has secured 5 
contributions towards the mobile library that serves Great Abington and 
therefore are prevented from securing any further contributions towards 
this project. 

 
 

Page 136



3 
 

Ref CCC5 

Type Strategic waste 

Policy SC/4 and RECAP Waste Management Design Guide 

Required No 

Detail This development falls within Thriplow HRC catchment area for which 
there is insufficient capacity. However this recycling centre already has 
5 section 106 contributions towards this facility and therefore are 
prevented from securing any further contributions towards this project. 

 
 

 
SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

 

Ref SCDC1 

Type Sport 

Policy SC/7 and Open space in new development SPD 

Required Yes 

Detail South Cambridgeshire Local Plan Policy SC/7 says that All housing 
developments will contribute towards Outdoor Playing Space (including 
children’s play space and formal outdoor sports facilities), and Informal 
Open Space to meet the need generated by the development in 
accordance with the standards set out in the policy: 
 
Outdoor play space, informal open space and allotments and 
community allotments is 3.2 hectares per 1,000 people comprising: 
 
a. Outdoor Sport – 1.6 hectares per 1,000 people 
b. Open Space – 1.2 hectares per 1,000 people 
c. Allotments and community Orchards – 0.4 hectares per 1,000 people 
 
Subject to the needs of the development the open space requirement 
will consist of: 
 
d. Formal Children’s Play Space – 0.4 hectares per 1,000 people 
e. Informal Children’s Play Space – 0.4 hectares per 1,000 people 
f. Informal Open Space – 0.4 hectares per 1,000 people 
 
The Recreation and Open Space Study 2013, forming part of the Local 
Plan submission, showed that Great and Little Abington needed 2.21 
ha of sports space but had 3.72 ha, i.e. a surplus of 1.51 ha. 
 
The parishes of Great and Little Abington have shared recreation 
facilities. The one recreation ground is located in Great Abington and 
has a football pitch and separate cricket pitch and an informal MUGA. 
There is also an outdoor bowling green located in Little Abington. 
 
In accordance with policies SC/7 the applicant will be required to make 
a contribution towards the increase in demand for provision of outdoor 
sports provision to mitigate the impacts of the proposed development.  
 
Great Abington Parish Council has said that in order to meet the needs 
of future resident’s sports contributions are required to: 
 
A. Improve and enlarge the hard court area on the recreation ground 
(which is well used by the community and the school), making it into a 
Multi Use games Area (MUGA) that can be used for a wide range of 
activities including tennis, 5 a side football, football and cricket practice. 
 
B. Provide safety surfacing around the existing outdoor gym equipment 

Page 137



4 
 

Project Improvements at the recreation ground specifically: 
 
(a) enlarged MUGA  
(b) surfacing of outdoor gym equipment 

Quantum £15,531.09 

Fixed / Tariff Fixed 

Trigger Prior to occupation of 5
th
 dwelling 

Number Pooled 
obligations 

One (S/3181/15/FL) 

 

Ref SCDC2 

Type Children’s play space 

Policy SC/7 and Open space in new development SPD 

Required Yes 

Detail See ‘Sport’ 

Project The applicant is proposing onsite public open space which will be 
equipped 

Quantum N/a 

Fixed / Tariff Fixed 

Trigger Prior to occupation of 10
th
 dwelling 

Number Pooled 
obligations 

N/A 

 

Ref SCDC3 

Type Informal open space 

Policy SC/7 and Open space in new development SPD 

Required Yes 

Detail See ‘Sport’ 

Project The applicant is proposing onsite public open space  

Quantum N/a 

Fixed / Tariff Fixed 

Trigger Prior to occupation of 10
th
 dwelling 

Number Pooled 
obligations 

N/A 

 

Ref SCDC4 

Type Offsite indoor community space 

Policy SC/6 and Portfolio holder approved policy 

Required Yes 

Detail In accordance with South Cambridgeshire Local Plan Policy SC/6 All 
housing developments will contribute towards the provision of indoor 
community facilities to meet the need generated by the development. 
Contributions will be based on a standard of 111m2 of such floorspace 
per 1,000 additional population. 
 
In accordance with the assessment Great Abington has a need for 95 
square metres of indoor meeting space and Little Abington has a need 
for 55 square metres.  
 
Both villages are served by the Abington Institute which provides 180 
square metres meaning there is a surplus of 30 square metres. The 
Institute is described as a well maintained, good quality, recently 
updated facility which is well equipped with a community café and 
functions as a hub for community sports facilities. The hall is of a 
reasonable size. 
 
Based on the likely number of people arising from the development an 
area of circa 4 m2 is required. 
 

Page 138



5 
 

Great Abington Parish Council has said that monies would be used 
towards the continued improvement of facilities at the village Institute. 

Project Improvement at the Abington Institute specifically: 
 
(a) the replacement of the terrace glazed walling  
(b) upgrade security systems and equipment and  
(c) internal decoration improvements 

Quantum £7,051.12 

Fixed / Tariff Fixed 

Trigger Prior to occupation of 5
th
 dwelling 

Number Pooled 
obligations 

Three (S3181/15/FL and S/3543/16/FL and S/3564/17/OL) 

 

Ref SCDC5 

Type Household waste receptacles 

Policy SC/4 RECAP Waste Management Design Guide 

Required Yes 

Detail £73.50 per house and £150 per flat 

Project towards the Receptacle provision of household waste receptacles 
necessitated by the Contribution" Development 

Quantum £1,102.50 

Fixed / Tariff Fixed 

Trigger Paid in full prior to occupation of first dwelling 

Number Pooled 
obligations 

None 

 

Ref SCDC6 

Type S106 Monitoring 

Policy Portfolio holder approved policy 

Required Yes 

Detail To monitor the timely compliance of the planning obligations, 
specifically onsite infrastructure including affordable housing and public 
open space 

Project Monitoring of the proper and timely performance of the Owner's 
covenants under the terms of the Agreement 

Quantum £1,000 

Fixed / Tariff Fixed 

Trigger Paid in full prior to commencement of development 

Number Pooled 
obligations 

None 

 

Ref SCDC7 

Type Footpath 

Policy TI/2 

Required Yes 

Detail Policy TI/2 states that planning permission will only be granted for 
development likely to give rise to increased travel demands, where the 
site has (or will attain) sufficient integration and accessibility by walking, 
cycling or public and community transport, including the provision of 
safe, direct routes within permeable layouts that facilitate and 
encourage short distance trips by walking and 
cycling between home and nearby centres of attraction, and to bus 
stops or railway stations, to provide real travel choice for some or all of 
the journey, in accordance with Policy HQ/1 and the provision of new 

cycle and walking routes that connect to existing networks. 
Project The provision of a footpath along Pampisford Road from the site 

entrance to connect to the existing footpath 

Quantum N/A 

Page 139



6 
 

Fixed / Tariff N/A 

Trigger Prior to occupation of all dwellings 

Number Pooled 
obligations 

None 

 

Page 140



 

Planning Dept - South Cambridgeshire DC

FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY
Scale - 1:2500
Time of plot: 16:05 Date of plot: 30/10/2018

0 1 2 300m

© Crown copyright [and database rights] (2015) OS (100022500)

Page 141



This page is left blank intentionally.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

  
REPORT TO: Planning Committee 14 November 2018  

AUTHOR/S: Joint Director for Planning and Economic Development 
 

 
 
Application Number: S/2866/18/VC 
  
Parish(es): Little Gransden 
  
Proposal: Variation of Condition 4 (Aerotows) 5 (Flying activities) 6 

(Self launching sail planes) 7 (Hours of Operation) 8 
(Aerotowing Equipment) of Planning Consent 
S/0607/90/F for Use as Gliding Club and ancillary 
purposes 

  
Site address: Land at Gransden Lodge Airfield, Cambridge Gliding 

Club Ltd,  Gransden Lodge Airfield,  Longstowe Road, 
Little Gransden 

  
Applicant(s): Mr Richard Brickwood 
  
Recommendation: Approval 
  
Key material considerations: Principle of development 

Impact on Residential Amenity 
  
Committee Site Visit: 13 November 2018 
  
Departure Application: No 
  
Presenting Officer: Alison Twyford – Senior Planning Officer 
  
Application brought to 
Committee because: 

Referred from Chairs Delegation, where it was bought 
following a request from Little Gransden Parish Council 
and because it was considered there may be a wider 
public interest. 

  
Date by which decision due: 17 September 2018 
  
 
 Executive Summary 
 
1. The application site is bisected by the district council boundaries, Huntingdon to the 

north, South Cambridgeshire to the south. Planning Permission for Cambridge Gliding 
Club Ltd (formerly Cambridge University Gliding Trust Ltd) to operate a gliding club 
from this site was granted by Huntingdonshire DC on 28 June 1990 under 90/0467 
and subsequently by SCDC on 15 August 1990 under reference S/0607/90/F.  
 

2. 
 
 

The original planning application was granted subject to conditions which were 
imposed to “protect the amenities of the area and local residents”. Since the grant of 
the previous planning permission a number of technological improvements have been 

Page 143

Agenda Item 9



 
 
 
 
 
 
3. 

made and the club has upgraded their launch facilities to include more powerful 
winches and quieter tug aircraft. Established tow out routes have also been 
implemented which have been chosen to minimise the impact on surrounding villages 
along with a biannual Consultative Council to which both District Councils, 
Cambridgeshire Country Council and all neighbouring Parishes are invited.  
 
The application therefore seeks to vary a number of the original conditions to take into 
consideration the improvements made and to remove administrative burdens that the 
current conditions require the club to undertake. Despite concerns and objections 
from a number of parish councils, the District Council’s Environmental Health has 
raised no objection. In the absence of any other technical objections, officers have 
concluded that the respective conditions can all be amended as necessary. 

 
 Planning History  
 
4. S/0607/90/F- Use as Gliding Club and ancillary purposes- Approved  
  
 S/1083/18/VC- Variation of Condition 4(Aerotows) 5 (Flying activities) 6 (Self 

launching sail planes) 7 (Hours of Operation) 8 (Aerotowing Equipment) of Planning 
permission S/0607/90/F Use as Gliding Club and ancillary purposes-Application 
Withdrawn.  
 
Concurrent application with Huntingdonshire District Council: 
18/01574/S73- Application for the variation of conditions 9, 10, 11, 12, & 13 for 
application 9000467FUL-Awaiting decision. 

 
 Planning Policies 
 
5. National Planning Policy Framework 

National Planning Practice Guidance 
  
6. South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018  
 
 S/1 Vision 

S/3 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
S/7 Development Frameworks 
HQ/1 Design Principles 
E/16 Expansion of Existing Businesses in the Countryside 
SC/10 Noise Pollution 
TI/2 Planning for Sustainable Travel 
TI/3 Parking Provision 
TI/5 Aviation-Related Development Proposals 

  
 Consultation  
 
7. Little Gransden Parish Council - Little Gransden Parish Council considered this 

application at their meeting on 6 September 2018 and responds to application to vary 
conditions as follows: 
 
Condition 4 (Aerotows) (HDC Condition  9). Little Gransden Parish Council 
SUPPORTS. 
 
Condition 5 (Flying activities) (HDC Condition 10). Little Gransden Parish Council 
SUPPORTS. 
 

Page 144



Condition 6 (Self launching sail planes) (HDC Condition 11). Little Gransden Parish 
Council SUPPORTS. 
 
Condition 7 (Hours of Operation) (HDC Condition 12). Little Gransden Parish Council 
OBJECTS. Comment: the current hours of operation should not be changed. 
 
Condition 8 (Aerotowing Equipment) (HDC Condition 13). Little Gransden Parish 
Council SUPPORTS. 
 

8. Longstowe Parish Council – Objects.  
 
Condition 4:Increase in aerotows. OBJECT. We would continue to support up to 80 a 
day for competition events. We consider that the use of sailplanes should be part of 
the limit.  
 
Condition 5. No change.  
 
Condition 6: Self launching sailplanes. OBJECT. We have no objection to self-
launching sailplanes provided that these are included in the daily quote of aerotows.  
 
Condition 7: Longer hours. OBJECT. Evenings would be the most disturbing time for 
residents.  
 
Condition 8: Increase in noise. OBJECT. We consider that, whilst exceptions can be 
made for competition events, the current level of 68dB should be adhered to. 
 

9. Eltisely Parish Council – Objects re Noise 
 

10. Caxton Parish Council - As the Council supported the original proposal and these 
amendments are an improvement to try to take in the concerns of local residents it 
believes it should again recommend approval. 
 

11. Cambourne Parish Council - RESOLVED to object to the application as the 
proposed conditions 9, 11 and 12 will have an adverse effect on the adjoining 
residential areas due to increased noise and disturbance. We support condition 13 as 
it has a clearer measurable noise measure. 
 

12. Gamlingay Parish Council – Supports. No concerns 
 

13. Abbotsley Parish Council- Has no recommendation 
 

14. Arrington Parish Council- Arrington Parish Council would like to make the following 
representation to the above planning application –  
 
Variation of Condition 4 (Aerotows) Object –increase in traffic and potential noise. 
 
Variation of Condition 6 (Self Launching sail plane) Object –details of noise unclear.  
 
Variation of Condition 7 (Hours of Operation) Object –additional hours would be 
intrusive on residents. 
 
Variation of Condition 8 (Aerotowing Equipment) Object –details of noise unclear. 
 
Recommendation –Object The overall recommendation of the Parish Council is to 
Object due to the intrusive nature of the changes for residents 

Page 145



 
15. Croydon Parish Council - Objects to the application. Comments: 

The current hours are more than reasonable considering the concerns of the people 
who live close-by - Croydon is affected at times, due to the wind direction and the way 
the tug planes have to take off. Increasing the flying hours by moving the start and 
finish times will impact on the quiet enjoyment of those who do live nearby. 
If a glider is self-launching, then is it an aeroplane? The most noise is generated when 
the "glider" is taking off - once it is at a safe height to glide, the engine is shut down 
and the propeller stored. More noise for the nearby residents! 
The current number of aerotows is adequate, unless a competition is taking place. 
 

16. Hatley Parish Council - the Parish Council resolved to recommend the refusal of the 
variation of conditions as requested by Cambridge Gliding Centre (CGC). The issues 
and concerns raised by the Parish Council in April 2018, in relation to the withdrawn 
application, have not been resolved by this current application. All of the proposed 
changes will result in an increase in noise pollution and an increase in the level and 
frequency of those noise disturbances for local residents. 
 
The resubmission of an application to vary planning conditions is justified by CGC on 
the following grounds: 
 
1. HDC and SCDC, when granting the original Planning Permissions in 1990, imposed 
certain conditions . . . intended to protect the amenities of the area and its residents, 
because of the unknown effects that the operations of CGC might have’. 
 
The impact, 28 years on, is known, and the many objections raised by Parish Councils 
and local residents in response to the withdrawn application clearly illustrates the 
importance of continuing to protect local amenities and to minimise noise disturbances 
for local residents. The new application proposes not only a 50% increase in activity, 
but noisier aircraft, increases to noise limits, longer operational hours and 14 days of 
unlimited activity. These variations, taken individually or as a whole, will have a 
detrimental impact on the local amenity and offers no benefit to the local rural area, 
just an increase in noise nuisance. The District Council’s obligation to protect 
residents and the rural area from unnecessary and unwanted levels of noise 
disturbance and nuisance is as valid now as it was in 1990. Noise pollution is still a 
significant material planning consideration and the Parish Council urges you to 
consider the impact on the quality of life of residents in Hatley and the surrounding 
area should the number of flights increase, regardless of whether this is a result of a 
wider time‐frame for flying, a 50% increase in flights, 14 days of unlimited flights or the 
introduction of new noisier aircraft. 
 
2. CGC states that when the Club proposed to move from Duxford to Little Gransden 
the important consideration for planners at the time ‘were the existing levels of 
aviation activity in the area and the potential disturbance this caused’. 
This is still a very significant consideration, as levels of aviation activity remain high in 
the surrounding area, despite the presence of CGC, and therefore the current 
conditions relating to the number of flights and hours of operation should remain 
unchanged. 
 
Hatley Parish Council does not agree with the statement by CGC that the presence of 
their airfield has helped to reduce local aircraft activity from other airfields. Hatley 
continues to suffer from an increasing amount of disturbance from aviation noise, 
which come from all sides of the Parish, to include: 

a. Gliding Club Airfield: within 3 km on the north‐eastern parish boundary 
b. Little Gransden/Fullers Hill Airfield: within 3 km on the north‐western parish 

Page 146



boundary 
c. Top Farm Airfield: within 3 km on the southern parish boundary 
d. Old Warden Airfield: flights pass through the parish 
e. Duxford Airfield: flights pass through the parish 
f. Military planes and military helicopters: routine flights through the parish. The 
helicopters seem much noisier and are flying much lower than before. 
g. Commercial flights: drastically increased in volume in the last 20 years, now 
stackingoverhead as they approach Luton and Stansted airports. 
Taking in to account all of the above‐mentioned sources of noise nuisance, the 
proposed increase in activity by CGC will greatly impact the frequency of noise 
disturbance for Hatley residents. Hatley is a small and quiet rural parish where the 
current level of noise disturbance from aircraft is thought to be great enough. 
Therefore, the request to increase the number of recreational flights and to extend the 
timeframe for those flights is considered to be an unreasonable request and the 
current conditions should remain unchanged. 
 
3. CGC states that over 25 years ‘we have established good relations with all 
neighbouring parishes and receive very few complaints’ and that CGC ‘has a vested 
interested in protecting the amenities of the area and residents. 
 
The resubmission proposes a 50% increase in activity, 14 days of unlimited flights, 
longer hours of operation and increased noise levels and noisier craft, which does not 
suggest that CGC has fully considered the objections and reasons for objections 
submitted by residents and Parish Council’s previously. There will be a significant 
impact of the local amenities of the area and the upset shared by many residents 
close to the airfield, at the prospect of any increase in activity, have been completely 
disregarded, which does not support the suggested ‘good relations’. CGC has failed to 
consider that for many people the club’s activity is barely tolerated at current levels 
and any variations would be detrimental to the enjoyment of the local amenities by 
residents, with noise nuisance occurring over longer periods and in times when 
residents wish to enjoy the peace and quiet of their gardens in the evenings and at 
weekends. 
 
Furthermore, the historical meeting minutes of Hatley Parish Council show that the 
activity of CGC has been an issue over the years and residents have been advised on 
such occasions to address their complaints direct to CGC. It is important to consider 
that other factors may result in a low number of complaints being recorded, rather 
than being indicative of good relations. These factors include: 
a) Difficulty in reporting complaints: CGC has one phone line for complaints which is 
not always manned. 
b) Difficulty in proving the complaint: residents may be unable to clearly identify the 
aircraft. 
c) Lack of knowledge concerning unpermitted activity and lack of awareness about the 
complaints process. 
d) Perception that complaints may not result in any action by CGC or a change in the 
behaviour of a CGC member. 
e) Flights are generally considered to be in accordance with granted permissions and 
as such there are no official grounds by which the noise nuisance can be lodged as a 
complaint. 
 
In May 1996 Hatley Parish Council requested that following the CGC’s competition 
week it should consider giving the local area a one week break from towing gliders. 
No response was ever received, which does not support the CGC’s view of having 
maintained good relations with neighbouring parishes. This fact was noted in the 
previous response in April by Hatley Parish Council and therefore this suggestion 

Page 147



remains ignored to be CGC. 
 
In contrast, CGC now proposes 14 days of unlimited activity between April and 
September, which could result in 7 consecutive weekends of unlimited activity, which 
must be endured by their neighbours. 
 
4. CGC states that it needed to demonstrate to HDC and SCDC that the variations 
they were proposing ‘would not generate unacceptable levels of noise or have a 
significant detrimental impact on residential amenity for the nearby residential 
properties’. 
 
Hatley Parish Council acknowledges that SCDC’s Environmental Health experts 
surveyed noise levels in May 2017 and considered it to be an acceptable level. 
However, Hatley is a quiet rural setting with very low levels of ambient noise, making 
the sound generated by the aerotow more noticeable than it may be in areas where 
there is noise from other sources of traffic. Furthermore, the tolerance of any sound is 
subjective and the conditions under which the aviation noise is measured are variable. 
As such what is an ‘acceptable’ level of noise to the Local Authority may not be 
acceptable and might even be considered as annoying to residents when heard 
repeatedly over long periods of time or on consecutive days, especially when there is 
no other background noise. The Local Plan refers to noise having a ‘significant 
adverse impact upon environmental quality, health and quality of life including 
amenity. Annoyance is probably the most widespread adverse effect of noise’. 
 
Residents in Hatley have also confirmed that they experience a very noticeable 
increase in the aerotow noise level when the glider has been released and the 
aerotow turns to make the return journey to the Club, possibly as fast and direct as it 
can. The Parish Council is interested to know whether the noise generated during the 
return journey was also accounted for in the review of May 2017. Again, this was 
questioned in the response to the withdrawn application in April 2018. The variation 
will see noise limits increased which cannot be justified, especially as current noise 
levels already being considered a noise nuisance. 
 
5. CGC states that they have ‘carefully considered the feedback and objections raised 
to the original application’ and that some of those objections were not ‘planning 
matters’. 
 
Some objections may not link directly to planning policies, but they do illustrate a 
feeling of discontent among residents at the prospect of increased aircraft activity and 
the subsequent noise pollution that would be suffered. It should prove to HDC and 
SCDC that many residents do not feel that these proposals will be anything but 
‘detrimental to the interests of the residential and rural amenities of the locality’ as it 
does not have the support of local residents and offers no measurable benefit to the 
locality. Hatley Parish Council continues to object to each of the of the proposed 
variations as detailed below: 
 
1. Variation to Condition 4: ‘there shall be no more than 60 aerotows and 
self‐launching sailplane launches a day’. A 50% increase in activity cannot be 
supported. The current limit of 40 launches is considered by some to be plenty, and 
by others to be too many. 
 
The prospect of including SLS’s in this figure, whilst being an improvement compared 
to the previous application, cannot be supported. The SLS’s engines can be switched 
on and off any time and any number of times during flight, which will create a new 
source of noise disturbance in quiet, rural locations. CGC cannot guarantee that any 

Page 148



individual pilot will not abuse the possibility of restarting their engine when in flight. 
Additionally, this variation proposes that ‘this limit may be exceeded on no more than 
14 days between 1 April and 30 September each year to accommodate competitions 
or other exceptional circumstances’. This is considered to be an unreasonably high 
number of exception days, especially when CGC does not host competitions annually. 
CGC stated at their meeting with local Parish Councils earlier this year that 
competitions are very time consuming and expensive to organise and there would not 
be a competition this year. So, this begs the question, why are 14 days of unlimited 
flights being proposed as opposed to a much lower number? If this was approved it 
could possibly equate to 14 consecutive Saturdays of unlimited activity during the 
summer months, when weather is favourable and residents wish to enjoy their 
gardens without any additional noise nuisance. 
 
Hatley Parish Council strongly objects to any increase in number of aerotows and to 
the introduction of SLS’s. Both variations will result in additional noise disturbance and 
annoyance to residents. Winch launches should continue to be used as a quieter 
option for launching and the limit of 40 flights should be maintained. 
 
2. Variation to Condition 6: Only self‐launching sailplanes with a noise measurement 
of a maximum 68 dB(A) . . . be permitted’. 
 
The Parish Council recognises that SLS’s can be a quieter solution to aerotows, 
however it objects to this proposal as the SLS’s still make considerable noise and will 
increase the amount of noise nuisance suffered by residents in Hatley and the 
surrounding area. As stated already, there is the potential for an SLS engine to be 
switched on and off any time and any number of times during flight and no guarantee 
can be given that any individual pilot will not abuse the possibility of restarting their 
engine when in flight. Furthermore, supporting data shows that SLS’s typically 
produce noise levels of 64‐66 dB(A) which does not support or help to explain CGC’s 
intention to set a limit of 68 dB(A). 
 
3. Variation to Condition 7: ‘There shall be no launching . . . before 08.00 hours or 
after 19.00 hours. 
 
Hatley Parish Council appreciates that CGC has reduced its proposed hours of 
operations compared to the withdraw application, but still believes that the current 
operating hours of 09.00 hours to 18.00 hours is more than adequate for the business 
and club members, whilst allowing residents to enjoy their early mornings and 
evenings without the disturbance of additional activity. Hatley Parish Council objects 
to this revised proposal and maintains that the current condition should remain as it is 
of real benefit to the residential and rural amenities of the locality. The proposed 
extension of operating hours for aerotow flights and SLS flights will not only result in a 
significant increase in the frequency of noise disturbances but, more importantly, this 
will occur during hours when more residents are likely to be home (i.e. outside of the 
normal working day). The Parish Council considers CGC’s intentions to make more 
flights across much longer days a very unneighbourly proposition. Residents of Hatley 
and the surrounding parishes should be able to enjoy their outside space, especially 
during weekends and evenings in the summer months, without the annoyance and 
disturbance caused by the sound of the aerotows and SLS’s. 
 
4. Variation to Condition 8: All aircraft to be used for aerotowing, shall not exceed a 
maximum of 70 dB(A) when measured to ICAO Annex 16 Chapter 6, or 75 dB(A) 
when measured to Chapter 10 unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 

Page 149



The Parish Council agrees that as all of the proposed changes will result in an 
increase in the amount of noise suffered by residents that this proposal should also be 
opposed. 
 
Whilst aerotows and SLS may be comparably quieter than some of the other types of 
aircraft that passes through and around the Parish, CGC’s air traffic is not ‘passing’ 
traffic like the others and therefore can be more of a nuisance than other passing air 
traffic. 
 

The flight path map illustrates a take‐off path to the east of East Hatley, however the 
Parish Council is aware that some tow planes are often much closer to, and at times 
directly over, Hatley St, George and East Hatley. 
 
This variation also demonstrates that CGC intends to exceed this noise limit as and 
when required under written application to the Local Authority, which cannot be 
supported as this level of noise is significant enough. The silencer kits under the 
current conditions ensures that noise does not exceed 69 dB(A) and therefore to alter 
the conditions up to 75 dB(A) is a huge increase in noise levels which cannot be 
supported and which will have a significant impact on residents in the area. 
The Parish Council asks you to consider all of the above noted concerns and to 
recognise that the current conditions were implemented for very valid reasons which 
still apply today. 
 
The variation of those conditions will be detrimental to the rural and residential 
amenity of the many rural parishes that surround the site. 
 

17. Local Highway Authority - No significant adverse effect upon the Public Highway 

should result from this proposal, should it gain benefit of Planning Permission. 
 

18. Environmental Health Officer- I do acknowledge concerns raised by residents in 
relation to alleged existing noise impact from flying activities, and also those relating 
to the potential for increased problems should planning consent for the proposals of 
S/2866/18/VC be granted. I have checked the records of this service dating back a 
number of years and cannot find any that relate to complaints of noise having been 
received which were in relation to activities from Cambridge Gliding Club.  
 
In conclusion, I wish to confirm that I have no adverse comments to make from an 
environmental health standpoint. 

 
 Representations  
 
19. 25 Representations were received in connection with this application which made the 

following summarised points: 
 

 -To alter the conditions makes it sound like they were wrongly applied in the first place 
-Noise concerns 
-Other clubs contribute to the noise from the air and to increase this would not be 
acceptable 
-Current rules are broken which does not give confidence for further relaxation 
-The changes to condition 13 are supported 
-Do not consider the club acts in a neighbourly way 
-The current situation is intolerable and any increase would not be acceptable; gliders 
are frequently seen after the later times 
-An increase to numbers raises concerns that this could lead to further accidents 
-The gliders are at highest use at the same time people wish to enjoy peace and quiet 

Page 150



in their gardens 
-Allowing gliders with engines will inevitably increase noise as the current gliders are 
quiet 
-The noise levels were not made at all affected areas 
-The frequency of take offs is of concern 
- Military traffic has indeed been reduced in the area since 1990, however, civilian 
traffic has increased considerably 
-Background levels may have changed but this does not mean louder sounds should 
be allowed as a result to further intrude upon residential amenity 

  
 Planning Assessment 
 
20. Paragraph 54 of the National Planning Policy Framework states Local planning 

authorities should consider whether otherwise unacceptable development could be 
made acceptable through the use of conditions. The original conditions were imposed 
on the grant of planning permission to regulate the development and to ensure it was 
compliant against local planning policies. 
 

21. Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 allows applications to be 
made for permission to develop without complying with a condition(s) previously 
imposed on a planning permission. The local planning authority can grant such 
permission unconditionally or subject to different conditions, or they can refuse the 
application if they decide that the original condition(s) should continue. The concern 
raised in the representations that the conditions were not correctly considered when 
first applied is noted, but this section of the legislation is provided to allow an 
application to be considered with amendments if circumstances have changed that 
could affect the wording or requirements of conditions. 
 

22. Paragraph 55 of the Framework requires conditions to be necessary, relevant to the 
planning and development permitted, enforceable, precise and reasonable in all other 
respects. Any variation of the original conditions would need to ensure that the new 
conditions also passed the same tests and comply with current local planning policies. 
 

 
 
23. 

Consideration of each condition 
 
Condition 4 (Aerotows) of Planning permission reference S/0607/90/F of the original 
application read: 
There shall be no more than 40 aerotows per day unless otherwise agreed in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority. 
(Reason: In the interests of the residential and rural amenities of the locality). 
 

24. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
25. 

The wording proposed for the new condition by the applicant reads:  
“There shall be no more than 60 aerotows and self-launching sailplane launches a 
day from the application site. This limit may be exceeded on no more than 14 days 
between 1 April and 30 September each year to accommodate competitions or other 
exceptional circumstances. Cambridge Gliding Centre, the operating entity of 
Cambridge Gliding Club Ltd, will electronically notify the Planning Departments of 
Huntingdonshire District Council and  South Cambridgeshire District Council no later 
than 30 days before any proposed event which may exceed the total of 60 aerotows 
and self-launching sailplanes a day and shall also electronically notify the Parish clerk 
of the Parishes which are members of the Cambridge Gliding Club Ltd Consultative 
Council for reference by 30 April  advising them of any predictable major competitions, 
or other such events, for the forthcoming season.” 
 
A number of objections have been received from Parish Councils and local residents 

Page 151



in respect of the proposed increase which has been noted to increase the permitted 
activity by 50% of the existing permission. 
 

26. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
27. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
28. 

In respect of the impacts upon residential amenity which formed part orf the reason for 
the original condition it is not considered that the proposed alterations would have a 
significant adverse effect that would be sufficient to warrant refusal of the application. 
The wording of the condition however is considered excessive for the restrictions 
required and the proposed notification to the Parish Councils is not considered 
“necessary” in accordance with Paragraph 55 of the NPPF.  
 
An amended wording to read: 
“There shall be no more than 60 aerotows and self-launching sailplane launches a 
day from the application site. This limit may be exceeded on no more than 14 days 
between 1 April and 30 September each year to accommodate competitions or other 
exceptional circumstances. Cambridge Gliding Centre, the operating entity of 
Cambridge Gliding Club Ltd, will electronically notify the Planning Departments of 
Huntingdonshire District Council and  South Cambridgeshire District Council no later 
30 days before any proposed event which may exceed the total of 60 aerotows and 
self-launching sailplanes a day” 
 
Subject to the above wording alteration the proposed variation is considered to 
comply with adopted Local Plan Policies HQ/1 and SC/10. 
 

29. Condition 5 (Flying activities) of Planning permission reference S/0607/90/F stated: 
“The airstrip shall only be used for gliding club purposes and at no time shall there be 
other flying activities on the site. 
(Reason: To enable the LPA to retain control of the development to which this 
permission relates.)” 
 

30. A number of objections have been received from both Parish Councils and local 
residents in respect of the proposed change to the condition, mainly in relation to the 
potential increased impact upon residential amenity. 
 

31. Whilst the description of the application includes reference to condition 5 it is noted 
that no changes are proposed to the wording of this condition. The proposal is 
therefore considered to comply with Policies HQ/1 and SC10. 
 

32. 
 
 
 
 
 
33. 

Condition 6 (Self launching sail planes) of Planning permission reference 
S/0607/90/F states: 
“At no time shall self-launching sailplanes be used at the site. 
(Reason: To enable the LPA to retain control of the development to which this 
permission relates.)” 
 
This application seeks to alter the condition to read: 
‘Only self-launching sailplanes with a noise measurement of a maximum 68dB(A) 
when measured to ICAO Annex 16 Chapter 10 be permitted to self-launch from the 
application site.’ 
 

34. A number of objections have been received from both Parish Councils and local 
residents in respect of the proposed change to the condition, mainly in relation to the 
potential increased impact upon residential amenity. 
 

35. The Environmental Health consultee has not objected to the proposed changes and 
considers that the specified noise parameters are acceptable. Thus In respect of the 
impacts upon residential amenity which formed the reason for the original condition it 

Page 152



is not considered that the proposed alterations would have an adverse effect that 
would be sufficient to warrant refusal of the application. The proposal is therefore 
considered to comply with Policies HQ/1 and SC/10 and the proposed revised 
wording of the condition be adopted. 
 

36. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
37. 

Condition 7 (Hours of operation) of Planning permission reference S/0607/90/F 
originally stated: 
“There shall be no aerotowing from the site after 1800 hours or before 0900 hours 
daily. All launching outside these hours shall be by winch. 
(Reason: To enable the LPA to retain control of the development to which this 
permission relates and in the interests of the residential and rural amenities of the 
locality.)” 
 
The proposed change to this condition reads: 
“There shall be no launching by Aerotow or Self Launching Sailplanes before 08:00 
hours or after 19:00 hours daily from the application site.”  
 

38. A number of objections have been received from both Parish Councils and local 
residents in respect of the proposed change to the condition, mainly in relation to the 
potential increased impact upon residential amenity. 
 

39. The Environmental Health consultee has again raised no objection to the proposed 
changes. 
 

40. In respect of the impacts upon residential amenity which formed the reason for the 
original condition it is not considered that the proposed alterations would not have an 
adverse effect that would be sufficient to warrant refusal of the application. The 
proposal is therefore considered to comply with Policies HQ/1 and SC/10. 
 

41. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
42. 

Condition 8 (Aerotowing equipment) of Planning permission reference S/0607/90/F 
originally stated: 
“All aircraft to be used for aerotowing shall have a maximum of 250 hp and shall be 
fitted with silencer kits and four bladed propellers or such other equipment as may be 
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 
(Reason: To enable the LPA the retain control of the development to which this 
permission relates and in the interests of the residential and rural amenities of the 
locality.)” 
 
The proposed alteration to the condition reads: 
‘All aircraft to be used for aerotowing, shall not exceed a maximum of 70 dB(A) when 
measured to ICAO Annex 16 Chapter 6, or 75dB(A) when measured to Chapter 10 
unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.’ 
 

43. A number of objections have been received from both Parish Councils and local 
residents in respect of the proposed change to the condition, mainly in relation to the 
potential increased impact upon residential amenity. There have also been some 
supportive comments however in respect of the proposed changes. 
 

44. The Environmental Health consultee has not objected to the proposed changes. 
 

45. In respect of the impacts upon residential amenity which formed the reason for the 
original condition it is not considered that the proposed alterations would not have an 
adverse effect that would be sufficient to warrant refusal of the application. The 
proposal is therefore considered to comply with Policies HQ/1 and SC/10. 

  

Page 153



 Other Matters 
 

46. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
47. 

Concerns have been raised in respect of the places in which sound measurements 
were taken. Members should be aware that pre-application advice was sought and 
provided by both South Cambridgeshire District Council and Huntingdonshire District 
Council on two occasions prior to the submission of an application. This included 
involvement on site by environmental health officers which suggested the chosen 
sites as appropriate for noise measurements to ensure the respective Local Planning 
Authorities to be satisfied that the aircraft usually used for aerotowing generates an 
acceptable level of noise and no significant detrimental impact on residential amenity 
for the nearby residential properties.  
 
The sites were chosen by Environmental Health Officers and because the areas 
were located beneath each of the three locations of travel usually used when towing 
out and were around 2.5km away from the take-off point so that the planes would still 
be climbing (or just finished climbing). The measurements required background sound 
levels to also be taken from each location without any audible activities from the 
Gliding Centre.  
 

48. The concern that the proposed changes could lead to further accidents are not 
something that Officers can give significant weight to. There is legislation in place and 
a number of guidelines in place that will account for health and safety requirements. 
The concerns have been considered as part of the application, but Officers are not of 
the view that the proposed changes to any of the conditions would have a significant 
impact upon health and safety.  
 

49. Comments were received in the representations that the current rules are broken 
which does not give confidence for further relaxation and that the club allegedly does 
not behave in a neighbourly way. Officers have considered these concerns but note 
that no complaints have been received by the Environmental Health Department or 
Planning Department in recent years. In addition, should conditions not be complied 
with the Local Authority can pursue formal enforcement action to ensure that all 
conditions are correctly complied with. 
 

50. Condition 1,2 and 3 are not proposed for re-attachment from the original permission 
as they are not considered to perform a required or necessary planning function and 
therefore do not meet the required tests of paragraph 55 of the NPPF. 
 

51.  Officers note that the application site falls within two District Council areas and that a 
tandem application is being considered by Huntingdonshire District Council for the 
same alterations. The subsequent recommendation requests delegated authority for 
the decision to allow the tandem application to also be considered so that both 
decisions can be issued on the same day. 

 
 Recommendation 
 
52. Officers recommend delegated approval subject to: 

 
Approval of a tandem application at Huntingdonshire District Council also being 
approved; and 

 
 
 
53. 

Conditions and Informatives 
 
Planning conditions and Informatives as set out below, with the final wording of any 
amendments to these to be agreed in consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair prior 

Page 154



to the issuing of planning permission: 
 
 (a) There shall be no more than 60 aerotows and self-launching sailplane 

launches a day from the application site. This limit may be exceeded on no 
more than 14 days between 1 April and 30 September each year to 
accommodate competitions or other exceptional circumstances. Cambridge 
Gliding Centre, the operating entity of Cambridge Gliding Club Ltd, will 
electronically notify the Planning Departments of Huntingdonshire District 
Council and  South Cambridgeshire District Council no later 30 days before 
any proposed event which may exceed the total of 60 aerotows and self-
launching sailplanes a day 
(Reason - To minimise noise disturbance for adjoining residents in accordance 
with Policy SC/10 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018). 
 

 (b) The airstrip shall only be used for gliding club purposes and at no time shall 
there be other flying activities on the site. 
(Reason - To minimise noise disturbance for adjoining residents in accordance 
with Policy SC/10 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018). 
 

 (c) Only self-launching sailplanes with a noise measurement of a maximum 
68dB(A) when measured to ICAO Annex 16 Chapter 10 be permitted to self-
launch from the application site. 
(Reason - To minimise noise disturbance for adjoining residents in accordance 
with Policy SC/10 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018). 
 

 (d) There shall be no launching by Aerotow or Self Launching Sailplanes before 
08:00 hours or after 19:00 hours daily from the application site. 
(Reason - To minimise noise disturbance for adjoining residents in accordance 
with Policy SC/10 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018). 
 

 (e) All aircraft to be used for aerotowing, shall not exceed a maximum of 70 dB(A) 
when measured to ICAO Annex 16 Chapter 6, or 75dB(A) when measured to 
Chapter 10 unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority 
(Reason - To minimise noise disturbance for adjoining residents in accordance 
with Policy SC/10 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018). 

 
Background Papers: 
 
The following list contains links to the documents on the Council’s website and / or an 
indication as to where hard copies can be inspected. 
 

  South Cambridgeshire Local Plan (adopted September 2018) 

  National Planning Policy Framework 

  Planning File Ref:S/2866/18/VC 

 
Report Author: Alison Twyford Senior Planning Officer 
 Telephone Number: 01954 713 264 
 

Page 155



This page is left blank intentionally.



 

Planning Dept - South Cambridgeshire DC

FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY
Scale - 1:9504
Time of plot: 17:16 Date of plot: 26/10/2018

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 1100m

© Crown copyright [and database rights] (2015) OS (100022500)

Page 157



This page is left blank intentionally.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

  
REPORT TO: Planning Committee 14 November 2018 

AUTHOR/S: Joint Director for Planning and Economic Development 
 

 
 
Application Number: S/2705/18/FL  
  
Parish(es): Cottenham 
  
Proposal: Reconfiguration of the public play area to allow for the 

erection of a single storey nursery building with additional 
car parking and access road modification 

  
Site address: Cottenham United Sports and Social Club, King George 

V Playing Fields, Lambs Lane, Cottenham,  
  
Applicant(s): Cottenham Parish Council  
  
Recommendation: Refusal  
  
Key material considerations: Principle of development 

Impact on the character of the area and landscape 
Highway Safety 
Biodiversity  
Drainage and Flood Risk 
Residential Amenity  

  
Committee Site Visit: 13 November 2018 
  
Departure Application: Yes (but not advertised) 
  
Presenting Officer: Dean Scrivener, Senior Planning Officer 
  
Application brought to 
Committee because: 

The proposal is a departure from the South 
Cambridgeshire Local Plan  

  
Date by which decision due: 15 November 2018 
 
 Executive Summary 
  
1. 
 
 
 
 
2.  
 
 
 
 
 

In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2018) paragraph 11, 
decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development. For 
decision taking this means approving development proposals that accord with an up-
to-date development plan without delay.  
 
The site has been designated as Local Green Space in the newly adopted Local Plan 
under policy NH/12. Policy NH/12 states that Local Green Space will be protected 
from development that would adversely impact on the character and particular local 
significance placed on such green areas which make them valued by their local 
community. Inappropriate development, as defined in the National Planning Policy 
Framework, would not be approved except in very special circumstances and in 

Page 159

Agenda Item 10



 
 
3. 
 
 
 
 
4. 
 
 
 
5. 
 
 
 
 
6.  

discussion with the local community.   
 
The proposed nursery building is to be located within the Local Green Space as 
identified on the adopted Policies Map. No very special circumstances have been 
presented as part of the application and therefore Officers consider the application to 
be contrary to policy NH/12 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018.  
 
The proposed design, layout, scale and size of the nursery building is considered to 
be acceptable and would not result in adverse impact upon the existing character and 
local significance placed on the Local Green Space. 
 
During the consultation process one objection was received raising a concern in 
regards to the loss of the Local Green Space should the development be approved. 
The Council are of the understanding that there is generally strong support for the 
proposed development within the community.    
  
For the above reason of inappropriate development and the lack of very special 
circumstances provided in the application, the proposal would not accord with Policy 
NH/12 and therefore officers advise the scheme should be refused in this instance. 

  
 Site and Surroundings  
 
7.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8. 
 
 

The site is located outside of the Cottenham village development framework and 
within the countryside. The site comprises an array of development around its 
perimeter with a primary school to the east, a sports pavilion to the west, a village hall 
along the eastern boundary and an associated parking area along the southern 
boundary. There is an existing nursery and village hall situated along the eastern 
boundary of the site. An existing play area is located within the proposed location of 
the nursery building. 
 
Following the adoption of the Local Plan on 27 September 2018, the site has been 
designated as Local Green Space under policy NH/12.   

 
 
9.  

Planning History 
 
S/2702/18/FL –To demolish existing single storey village hall and replace with a new 
two storey village hall in the same location. Extension to car park and ancillary 
development - Approved  

 
10. 
 
 
11. 
 
12. 
 
13. 
 
14. 

S/3163/16/FL – Erection of new village hall following demolition of the existing village 
hall – Refused 
 
S/0027/13/F – Erection of Sports Pavilion – Approved 
 
S/0830/04/F - Extension to Nursery – Approved 
 
S/0855/93/F - Extension to Sports Club Building for Two Playgroups – Approved 
 
S/1102/76/F - Alterations and Additions to Pavilion - Approved 

  
 Planning Policies 
 
15. National Planning Policy Framework 2018 (NPPF) 

National Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 
  

Page 160



16. South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018 
 
 S/1 Vision 

S/2 Objectives of the Local Plan 
S/3 Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development 
S/7 Development Frameworks 
S/8      Rural Centres 
CC/4 Sustainable Design and Construction 
CC/6 Construction Methods 
CC/7 Water Quality 
CC/8 Sustainable Drainage Systems 
CC/9 Managing Flood Risk 
HQ/1 Design Principles 
NH/12 Local Green Space   
NH/4 Biodiversity  
SC/9 Lighting Proposals 
SC/10 Noise Pollution 
SC/11 Contaminated Land  
TI/2 Planning for Sustainable Travel 
TI/3 Parking Provision 
TI/8 Infrastructure and New Developments 
 
South Cambridgeshire Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs): 
 
District Design Guide – Adopted March 2010 
Trees and Development Sites – Adopted January 2009 
Biodiversity – Adopted July 2009 

 
 Consultations  
 
17. Cottenham Parish Council – Recommend approval   

 
18. Council’s Urban Design Officer – No objections to the proposal subject to 

conditions regarding the following: 
 

- Proposed materials of the nursery building and car park  
- Amendments to the proposed car parking layout  
- Details of the eaves, verges, windows, doors and glazed canopy (1:20 scale) 
- Hard and soft landscaping details including proposed trees, hedges and 

shrubs 
- The replacement of any trees or plants within a 5 year period   

 
19. Council’s Landscape Officer – No objections to the proposal subject to conditions 

regarding the following: 
 

- Material details of cycle stands, traffic barrier bollards, segregation gate, fuel 
tank enclosure and proposed buggy shelters  

- Details of boundary treatments around the nursery building  
- Boundary treatment and details of relocated play equipment  

 
20. 
 
 
 
 

Local Highways Authority (Cambridgeshire County Council) – No objections to 
the proposal subject to conditions and informatives regarding the following: 
 

- Traffic Management Plan detailing the movements and control of muck away 
lorries, contractor parking, the control of dust, mud and debris and that no 

Page 161



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
21.  

deliveries are made between the hours of 07:30-09:15 and 13:45-18:00 (term 
time only) and 07:30-09:30 and 15:30-18:00 all other times. 

- Proposed access to be constructed so that its fall and levels are such that no 
private water from the site drains across or onto the adopted highway  

- The proposed access should be constructed of a bound material  
- An informative to prevent works being carried out within, or disturbing, or 

interfering with the adopted highway.   
 
Transport Assessment Team (Cambridgeshire County Council) – No objections 
to the proposal subject to the following condition: 
 

- A Car Park Management Plan shall be submitted and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority prior to the first occupation of the nursery building  

 
22. Council’s Ecology Officer – No objections to the proposal subject to conditions 

regarding the following: 
 

- All ecological measures and/or works to be carried out in accordance with the 
details contained in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Greenlight, July 
2018).  

- A scheme for biodiversity enhancement   
  
23. 
 
 
24. 
 
 
 
25. 
 
 
 
26. 
 
 
27. 
 

Council’s Tree Officer – No objections to the proposal and no 
conditions/informatives to recommend  
 
Council’s Contaminated Land Officer – No objections to the proposal subject to an 
informative in regards to the identification of contamination which was not previously 
identified  
 
Council’s Drainage Officer – No objections subject to a compliance condition 
requesting that the proposed works are carried out in accordance with the submitted 
drainage scheme document (Peter Dann Consulting Engineers 2018).    
 
Anglian Water - No objections to the proposal subject to a condition requesting that a 
foul water drainage strategy is provided prior to the first occupation of the nursery  
  
Old West Internal Drainage Board - No comments to make on the application  

28. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Council’s Environmental Health Officer – No objections to the proposal subject to 
conditions and informatives regarding the following: 
 

- An Operational Noise Minimisation Management Scheme shall be requested 
prior to occupation of the nursery building  

- Details of contractors’ access arrangements for vehicles, plant and personnel, 
site storage areas and compounds and contractor parking 

- Details of any required piling methods detailing the type of piling and mitigation 
measures to be taken  

- Details of mitigation measures to minimise the spread of airborne dust for the 
site during the construction phase  

- Restriction on construction and delivery hours  
- No burning of waste or other materials on site 
- A scheme for the proposed level of illumination and control of light pollution to 

be requested prior to development  
- A demolition notice shall be requested from Building Control  

 

Page 162



29.       Archaeological Officer – No objections to the proposal and no 
conditions/informatives recommended. 
 

30.  Cambridge Fire and Rescue Services - No objections to the proposal subject to a 
condition requesting the provision of fire hydrants. 
 

 
 
31. 

Representations  
 
Following public consultation on the application, one objection has been received. The 
objection is on the grounds due to the loss of the public play area.  

 
  Planning Assessment 
 
 Principle of development  
  
32. 
 
 
 
 
 
33. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
34. 
 
 
 
35. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
36. 
 
 
 
 
37. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The site lies outside of the Cottenham village development framework and within the 
countryside. The site has been designated as Local Green Space under policy NH/12 
of the new Local Plan due to its recreational value (playing field). The application 
proposes a new single storey nursery building on the existing public play area along 
the eastern boundary and within the Local Green Space.   
 
The significance of designation as a Local Green Space is set out in paragraph 100 of 
the NPPF. This states that the Local Green Space designation should only be used 
where the green space is: 
 

a) In reasonably close proximity to the community it serves; 
b) Demonstrably special to a local community and holds a particular local 

significance, for example because of its beauty, historic significance, 
recreational value (including as a playing field) tranquillity or richness of its 
wildlife; and  

c) Local in character and is not an extensive tract of land 
 
Paragraph 101 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that policies for 
managing development within a Local Green Space should be consistent with those 
for Green Belts.  
 
Local Plan Policy NH/12 states that Local Green Space will be protected from 
development that would adversely impact on the character and particular local 
significance placed on such green areas which make them valued by their local 
community. Inappropriate development, as defined in the National Planning Policy 
Framework, would not be approved except in very special circumstances and in 
discussion with the local community. 
 
The proposal for a single storey nursery building with additional car parking and 
access road modification is by definition inappropriate development in the Green Belt. 
It follows, therefore that the proposed development in this area of designated Local 
Green Space is also inappropriate by definition.   
 
Paragraph 143 of the NPPF states that inappropriate development is, by definition, 
harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special 
circumstances. Very special circumstances will not exist unless the potential harm to 
the green belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting from the 
proposal is clearly outweighed by other considerations.  
Impact on the character of the area and landscape 
 

Page 163



38. 
 
 
 
 
 
39. 
 
 
 
 
40. 

Policy S/7 of the Local Plan states that states that outside village frameworks, only 
development for agriculture, horticulture, forestry, outdoor recreation and other uses 
which need to be located in the countryside will permitted. There is no reason why a 
new nursery building needs to be located in the countryside and as such, the proposal 
is contrary to policy S/7 as a matter of principle. 
 
A previous application for a new village hall and nursery building (ref S/3163/16/FL), 
was previously refused on design grounds due to the bulk and massing of the 
proposed build and was deemed to be a visually intrusive and dominant mass of built 
form, detracting from the openness of the countryside.  
 
In contrast, the proposed nursery would be located along the eastern edge of the site 
and to the north of the existing village hall and nursery building. It would be single 
storey in height and contain a footprint of approximately 326 square metres. Due to its 
relatively modest size, scale and proportions, officers consider that the proposal would 
not result in an adverse impact upon the surrounding open character of the landscape 
and the wider local significance of the designated Local Green Space for its 
recreational value.   

  
41.  
 
 
 
 

The Council’s Urban Design Officer has been consulted on the application and has 
raised no objections to the design, scale, mass and form of the proposed nursery 
building in this instance. The nursery building would comprise a much steeper roof 
pitch to the previous submission and would be more characteristic of Cottenham 
villas. The architectural features and choice of colours and materials are considered to 
complement the recently built sports pavilion on the opposite side of the sport pitches 
as well as the redevelopment of the village hall (ref S/2702/18/FL).    
 

42.  
 
 
 
43.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
44.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
       

The Urban Design Officer has recommended conditions requesting details of the 
eaves, verges, windows, doors and glazed canopy. However, this level of detail is 
considered to be unnecessary given the nature of the proposed nursery building.   
 
The proposed materials for the proposed nursery building are cement weather 
boarding cladding with buff brick plinth for the external walls. The Urban Design 
Officer has recommended that further details of the materials are required prior to the 
commencement of development for further assessment. Given that the materials are 
clearly stated within the application, officers consider that such a condition is not 
deemed necessary in this instance, should the application be approved.   
 
As part of the proposed nursery building, the application also proposes to reconfigure 
the existing car park to accommodate more spaces to serve the proposed nursery and 
village hall. The Urban Design Officer has recommended that the proposed car park 
layout is adjusted to provide more space to the front of the village hall in order to 
enhance the visual amenity of the development when approaching from Lambs Lane. 
Given this condition is related to the redevelopment of the village hall under a 
separate application, officers do not consider this condition to be relevant to the 
proposed nursery building and is deemed to be an unnecessary condition under this 
application, should it be approved.   
 

45.  
 
 
 
 
 
46.  

Hard and soft landscaping details of the proposed trees, hedges and shrubs to be 
positioned around the car park, have been requested via a condition however, this 
condition has been imposed upon the planning permission for the redevelopment of 
the village hall. Therefore, officers consider this condition to be unnecessary, should 
the application be approved.      
 
In regards to the conditions recommended by the Landscape Officer requesting 

Page 164



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
47. 

details of cycle stands, traffic barrier bollards, segregation gate, fuel tank enclosure 
and buggy shelters, given the location of the proposed nursery building in relation to 
the openness of the surrounding countryside, these details are considered to be 
necessary in this instance to ensure the development is assimilated into the site 
without significantly harming the open character of the immediate countryside. For 
these reasons, conditions requesting the boundary treatments around the nursery 
building and the relocated nursery building are also considered necessary in this 
instance, should the application be approved.         
 
The development is therefore capable of being compliant with policy HQ/1 and will 
preserve the character of the area and be compatible with its location. 

  
 
 
48. 
 
 
 
 
 
49. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
50. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
51.        

Highways Safety and Parking 
 
The Local Highway Authority has been consulted on the application and has raised no 
objections to the proposal subject to conditions regarding a traffic management plan 
and the materials and construction of the proposed driveway. An informative has also 
been recommended to ensure that no works will be carried out within, or interfere with 
the adopted highway.  
 
The traffic management plan would request the details of the movements and control 
of muck away lorries, contractor parking, the control of dust, mud and debris and that 
no deliveries to the site are made between the hours of 07:30-09:15 and 13:45-18:00 
(term time only) and not between 07:30-09:30 and 15:30-18:00 all other times. Given 
the location of the proposed nursery building being situated within a recreational area 
and in close proximity to the adjacent primary school, there is potential for a high 
number of children to be within the immediate vicinity of the site. Therefore, officers 
consider that a traffic management plan requesting these details is necessary to 
ensure the safety of users should the application be approved, in the interests of 
highway safety.   
  
Conditions requesting that the proposed access be constructed of a bound material 
and that its fall and levels are such that no private water from the site drains across or 
onto the adopted highway, are considered to be necessary conditions to ensure the 
development does not result in any adverse impact upon the safe and effective 
operation of the adopted highway. Furthermore, an informative preventing works 
being carried out within, or disturbing, or interfering with the adopted highway, should 
also be imposed upon any consent granted to ensure the safe and effective operation 
of the adopted highway, to ensure the effective operation of the adopted highway.   
 
The Transport Assessment Team (Cambridge County Council) has been consulted on 
the application and has raised no objections to the proposal subject to a condition 
requesting that a Car Park Management Plan be provided and implemented prior to 
the use of the nursery building. A transport survey has been conducted and submitted 
as part of the application which has estimated the traffic volumes during AM and PM 
peak periods. The additional car parking spaces would provide enough parking 
spaces to accommodate additional vehicles during the peak AM and PM peak periods 
and therefore no objections have been raised. An electronic gate with a coded lock 
and timer will be provided as part of the application to ensure the safety of users. 
Given the intensification of the site, officers consider that a condition requesting the 
provision and implementation of a Car Park Management Plan prior to the use of the 
nursery building is necessary in this case, should the application be approved.  
 

 
 

Trees 
 

Page 165



52.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
53. 
 
 
 
54. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
       
 
 
 
55. 
 
  
 
  
 
 
 
 
56. 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
57.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
58. 
 
 
 
 
 

There are a number of trees on and adjacent to the site with no statutory protection. 
The Tree Officer has been consulted on the application and has raised no objections 
to the proposal as the proposed nursery building would not result in significant impact 
upon these trees. Therefore the proposal is considered acceptable in this instance 
and no conditions or informatives are required.  
 
Biodiversity 
 
The Ecology Officer has been consulted on the application and has raised no 
objections to the proposal subject to conditions regarding ecological mitigation 
methods and the provision of a biodiversity enhancement scheme. 
 
The site mainly comprises amenity grassland with some wooded hedges and standing 
trees. The species assemblage within the near vicinity shows a number of farmland 
bird populations with several raptor species recorded. A Preliminary Ecological 
Appraisal (PEA) has been submitted with the application which highlights foraging 
bats, breeding birds and small mammals are present within the local area. The report 
provides an avoidance and mitigation strategy to avoid any risk of legislative conflict, 
of which has been supported by the Ecology Officer. In order to ensure the 
development is carried out in accordance with these mitigation measures, Officers 
consider it reasonable to impose a condition so that the development is carried out in 
accordance with the details contained in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 
(Greenlight, July 2018), should the application be approved.  
    
Given that the PEA provides evidence for foraging bats and bird populations, Officers 
consider it necessary to impose a condition requesting a scheme of biodiversity 
enhancement prior to the commencement of development, should the application be 
approved. This is to achieve a positive gain in biodiversity through the form and 
design of the proposed development, in accordance with policy NH/4 of the Local Plan 
and the National Planning Policy Framework.   
 
Contamination 
 
The Contaminated Land Officer has been consulted on the application and has raised 
no objections to the proposal subject to an informative to make the applicant aware of 
their duties should contamination not previously identified be found. Officers consider 
this informative to be necessary should the application be approved, in order to 
ensure the safe development including ground risks to ground workers and in 
accordance with policy SC/11 of the Local Plan.    
 
Flood Risk  
 
The site lies within Flood Zone 1 (Low Risk). The Drainage Engineer has been 
consulted on the application and has raised no objections subject to a condition 
requesting that the development be carried out in accordance with the details 
submitted within the drainage strategy document (Peter Dann Consulting Engineers 
2018). Officers consider this condition to be necessary, should the application be 
approved in accordance with policy CC/9 of the Local Plan.  
 
Anglian Water has been consulted on the application and have raised no objections to 
the proposal subject to a condition requesting that a foul water strategy to be 
implemented prior to development. Given the applicant will be required to apply to 
Building Control and that drainage will be assessed as part of this procedure, Officers 
do not consider this condition to be necessary in this instance. An informative would 
be more appropriate to ensure the applicant is aware of their responsibilities in 

Page 166



 
 
59.  
 
 
 
 
60. 
 
 
 
 
61. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
62. 

regards to mitigating foul drainage, should the application be approved.   
   
The Old West internal Drainage Board has been consulted on the application and has 
raised no comments in regards to the application.   
 
Residential Amenity  
 
Given the distance at which the neighbouring properties along Lambs Lane are 
situated from the location of the proposed nursery building, Officers consider that the 
development would not result in significant overbearing, overlooking or loss of light 
impacts upon the amenities of these neighbouring properties in this instance. 
 
The Environmental Health Officer has been consulted on the application and has 
raised no objections to the proposal subject to conditions regarding an Operational 
Noise Mitigation Plan regarding the mitigation against the spread of airborne dust from 
the site, the restriction of working hours and a scheme for illumination levels and light 
control pollution. Given that the proposed nursery building would be located within the 
near vicinity of the neighbouring properties along Lambs Lane, as well as being 
situated next to a primary school, officers consider these conditions to be necessary, 
should the application be approved. Furthermore, a condition restricting the operation 
times to between 06:30 and 19:00 and no operation times during weekends and bank 
holidays is also considered necessary in order to safeguard the amenities of the 
nearby neighbouring properties, in accordance with policies HQ/1 and SC/10 of the 
Local Plan.  
 
Informatives to prevent the burning of waste on site as well as the request of any 
proposed piling methods are also deemed necessary, should the application be 
approved, in accordance with policies HQ/1 and SC/10 of the Local Plan.        
 

 
 
63.      
 
 
 
 
 
64.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
65.    
 
 
 
66.  
 
 
 
67. 
 
 

Other Matters 
 
The Archaeological Officer has been consulted on the application and has raised no 
objections to the proposal. Various finds of post medieval date have been identified 
across the playing fields however, the footprint of the proposed nursery building is not 
considered to cover a large enough area to warrant any conditions or informatives in 
regards to archaeological investigations.       
 
The Cambridge Fire and Rescue Services have raised no objections to the proposal 
subject to a condition requesting the provision of fire hydrants in the building. Officers 
consider this condition to be necessary in regards to safeguarding the health and 
safety of the users, should the application be approved.    
 
Very Special Circumstances 
 
Officers have concluded that the proposal is, by definition, inappropriate development. 
No other harm has been identified that cannot be controlled by way of conditions. 
However, very special circumstances must exist for the application to be approved. 
 
A sequential test has been submitted with the application (Cottenham’s Need for 
Improved Community Facilities 2017-2031: Nursery) demonstrating as to why the 
application site has been chosen as opposed other sites within the Cottenham.  
 
Six sites within the centre of Cottenham were assessed as part of the Neighbourhood 
Plan research. These sites were not deemed appropriate due to their location not 
being in close proximity to a primary school, as well as other issues regarding access 

Page 167



 
 
 
 
68. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
69.  
 
 
 
 
 
70. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
71. 
 
 
 
72. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
73. 

and detriment to child safety. Furthermore, these sites are not under the ownership of 
Cottenham Parish Council and therefore it is considered by the applicant that this 
could cause complexity for a community facility investment. 
 
In addition to the above, a further four sites on or near to the Recreation Ground have 
also been considered. These sites were deemed inappropriate due to their location 
being close to neighbouring properties and which are privately owned for other 
purposes, making it difficult for the Parish to take ownership of. The document also 
makes reference to the Cottenham Neighbourhood Plan which proposes to extend the 
Cottenham village framework boundary further north, encompassing the location of 
the proposed nursery building as well as other community assets.  
 
The document concludes that no other sites in the village can provide a ‘safe cluster’ 
to safeguard children and minimise traffic. The ‘safe cluster’ refers to the relationship 
between the existing primary school and the out of school clubs which will be hosted 
by the adjacent village hall, stating that the associated use of a proposed nursery in 
this location will create a safe environment for children. 
       
The village has been consulted and one of the main objectives of the Neighbourhood 
Plan is to improve local amenities and facilities, due to the growing population in 
Cottenham as a consequence to permission being granted for residential 
developments within the village. Given that the proposal is for a nursery building 
which constitutes a community asset, officers consider that the proposal in this 
location merits some weight.   
 
However, the proposed Neighbourhood Plan is still under preparation and has not 
been formally adopted. Therefore, officers cannot give the Plan any weight in 
determining applications at this current time.      
 
No other material considerations in support of the application have been advanced. 
Officers have had to conclude, therefore, that whether taken individually or 
collectively, there are no very special circumstances that support approval of the 
application. The application is therefore contrary to policy NH/12 of the newly adopted 
Local Plan which seeks to protect Local Green Spaces from inappropriate 
development. 
 
Should members be minded to approve the application, it will need to be advertised 
as a departure before a decision can be issued. Should any responses be received in 
response to that consultation, officers will need to agree with the Chair and Vice-Chair 
of the Planning Committee whether the decision notice can still be issued or whether 
the responses will require the application to be brought back to Committee for further 
consideration. 
 
Recommendation 

 
74. Officers recommend refusal for the following reason: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The proposed development is within an area of designated Local Green Space and is 
considered to amount to inappropriate development as defined in the National 
Planning Policy Framework. Such development should not be approved except in very 
special circumstances. No such very special circumstances have been demonstrated 
to support the principle of a nursery building being situated within the Local Green 
Space and therefore the application is contrary to policy NH/12 of the South 
Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018 which states that inappropriate development, as 
defined in the National Planning Policy Framework, would not be approved except in 

Page 168



very special circumstances.   
 
 
Background Papers: 
 
The following list contains links to the documents on the Council’s website and / or an 
indication as to where hard copies can be inspected. 
 

  South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2018 

  National Planning Policy Framework 2018 

  Planning application file reference S/2705/18/FL 

 
Report Author: Dean Scrivener Senior Planning Officer 
 Telephone Number:  01954713133 
 

Page 169



This page is left blank intentionally.



 

37
a

School

Pavilion

Swimming Pool

Cottenham

Primary

39
a

25

Cottenham

Play Area

King Georges Field

N
ursery

21
a

21
b

21
d

(Playing Fields)

Club

39

23

21
c

73

70

60

Bowling Green

Planning Dept - South Cambridgeshire DC

FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY
Scale - 1:1250
Time of plot: 07:41 Date of plot: 01/11/2018

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 150m

© Crown copyright [and database rights] (2015) OS (100022500)

Page 171



This page is left blank intentionally.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

  
REPORT TO: Planning Committee 14 November 2018 

AUTHOR/S: Joint Director for Planning and Economic Development 
 

 
 
Application Number: S/1532/18/FL 
  
Parish(es): Cottenham 
  
Proposal: New parking bays 
  
Site address: Franklin Gardens, Cottenham, CB24 8QW 
  
Applicant(s): Mr Liam Flatters, Housing, SCDC 
  
Recommendation: Approval  
  
Key material considerations: Visual amenity, highway safety, drainage, and residential 

amenity 
  
Committee Site Visit: 13 November 2018 
  
Departure Application: No 
  
Presenting Officer: Rachael Forbes, Planning Officer 
  
Application brought to 
Committee because: 

The application is from the Housing Department at South 
Cambridgeshire District Council which has received 
objections on material planning grounds 

  
Date by which decision due: 15 November 2018 
 
 
 
 
1. 
 

Planning History 
 
S/2340/86/O – Local Authority Warden Supervised Housing – approved 
S/2573/87/F – Sheltered Housing (38 bungalows, 2 houses, communal facilities, road 
works and car park – approved 
S/1951/89/F – Use as Parish Council Offices – approved 

 
 
2. Planning Policies 
 
 National Planning Policy Framework, July 2018 (NPPF)  

National Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 
  
3. South Cambridgeshire District Council Local Plan 2018 
 S/3 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
 S/7 – Development Frameworks 
 CC/8 – Sustainable Drainage Systems 
 HQ/1 – Design Principles 

Page 173

Agenda Item 11



 TI/3 – Parking Provision 
 
 Consultation  
 
4. Cottenham Parish Council - object to the application and made the following 

comments: 
 
CPC recommends refusal of this application. We are concerned about the 
permeability - if it's permeable then it wouldn't need the gully therefore the drainage is 
inadequate. We are also concerned about the removal of so many trees. 
 
Following receipt of an amended plan, further comments were received: 
 
‘Our previous comments remain.  In addition we can’t understand the proposals to 
create the additional informal parking; this would possibly lead to a situation where 
cars could block those in the spaces that are pushed back which would be most 
unsatisfactory for residents’. 
 

5 Environmental Health Officer -  
 
‘I have had an opportunity to observe the above application and have considered the 
implications of the proposals. I wish to confirm that I have no adverse comments to 
make from an environmental health standpoint’. 
 

6. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7. 

Local Highway Authority – Objected initially on the following grounds: 
 
‘1. The proposed construction details are not acceptable to the Highway Authority and 
contradict the note that they shall comply with the Housing Estate Road Construction 
Specification. 
 
2. The layout does not show how the car parking hard standing will operate in 
relationship to the existing bays without creating a situation where obstruction 
becomes common place. 
 
3. It is not acceptable for the applicant to drain private water into the highway drainage 
system if the porous paving fails’. 
 
Following receipt of amended plans, the following comments were received:  
 
‘I can confirm that drawing number: C110 Rev P5 is acceptable to the Local Highway 
Authority. 
 
Please could you include the following conditions within any DN issued by the LPA: 
 
1)Please add a condition to any permission that the Planning Authority is proposal 
requiring that the proposed drive way be constructed so that  its falls and levels are 
such that no private water from the site drains across or onto the adopted public 
highway. 
 
Reason: for the safe and effective operation of the highway 
 
2)Please add a condition to any permission that the Planning Authority is minded to 
issue in regard to this proposal requiring that the proposed drive be constructed using 
a bound material to prevent debris spreading onto the adopted public highway. 
 

Page 174



Reason: in the interests of highway safety 
 
3)In the event that the Planning Authority is so minded as to grant permission to the 
proposal please add an informative to the effect that the granting of a planning 
permission does not constitute a permission or licence to a developer to carry out any 
works within, or disturbance of, or interference with, the Public Highway, and that a 
separate permission must be sought from the Highway Authority for such works’. 
 

8. Sustainable Drainage Engineer  - Following receipt of amended plans, the 
Sustainable Drainage Engineer commented that he had nothing further to add to his 
previous comments, which were to find the development acceptable. 
.  

9. Trees Officer – no comments received 
 
 Representations  
 
10. One representation was received:  

 
‘As resident of the area in question I would be interested know why you intend 
spending money constructing 5 bays by taking out the trees and grass - when there is 
already 5 bays there. Surely the idea was to increase the parking of cars not waste 
money on removing trees and grass to end up with same situation? Hope this is an 
error and parking will be allotted down both edges i.e. cars facing/backing on to 
FG10/11 and on the other side FG 18/19 etc this would give more than the 5 spaces 
shown on the plan. 
 
I hope that there will NOT be any disabled bays as the majority of car owner/drivers 
use a blue badge and it only causes controversy! 
 
Drop crossings in the area would be good - not only near the car parking suggested 
as those that also have mobility equipment to get to and from car but also to get to 
their bungalow without having to do a turn round the estate first? 
 
I see you intend to use porous paving - this is all well and good but does have a 
tendency to sink once heavy vehicles have used the area. Hopefully you will 
reconstruct the parking area in front of FG 32 as when it rains you need welly boots to 
get in and out of car? The layby is constructed using tarmac would it not be more cost 
effective to use same on the new areas?’. 
 
No further representations were received following receipt of the amended plans.  

  
 Planning Assessment 
 
 
 
11   
 
 
12. 
 
 
 
 
13..   
 

Visual Impact:  
 
The key considerations in this case are considered to be visual amenity, highway 
safety, drainage, and residential amenity. 
 
Franklin Gardens is a residential cul-de-sac, providing Local Authority sheltered 
housing, situated in the Development Framework of Cottenham. The proposal seeks 
twelve parking spaces for residents parking, five of which will be existing spaces 
relocated. There will also be an informal parking area.   
 
There are three existing parking spaces on the left side of the entrance to Franklin 
Gardens; the proposal seeks to add five additional spaces in this location. At the north 

Page 175



 
 
 
 
 
 
14. 
 
 
 
  
 
  
 
 
 
 
15. 

end of Franklin Gardens, to the right there are four existing spaces; the proposal 
seeks to add two more spaces in this location. To the right, there are five existing 
spaces; the proposal seeks to remove the existing grassed area to the west of the 
existing spaces and then move the existing five spaces into this area. Behind these 
five spaces would be an area of informal parking.  
 
The grassed area has six trees along the front, which will be removed, along with the 
grassed area itself to accommodate five parking bays. The Parish Council have raised 
concern over the loss of the trees. While it is considered that the trees do add to the 
visual amenity of the area, the trees do not have any legal protection as they are not 
in a Conservation Area or subject to a Tree Preservation Order. On the site visit it was 
noted that the grassed area has a bench; the application form describes the area as 
‘currently unused grass area’. Each dwelling has a rear garden and a small grassed 
area to the front of the dwelling. Although the loss of the grass area would result in a 
loss of shared amenity space, residents would still have amenity space available to 
them.  
 
It is considered that although the proposal would result in the loss of a communal 
amenity area, the dwellings all have amenity space available to them. The proposal 
would introduce more hardstanding into Franklin Gardens; On balance, it is therefore 
considered that the proposal would comply with policy HQ/1 of the South 
Cambridgeshire Local Plan, 2018 in this respect..  
 

 
 
16. 
 
 
 
17. 
 
 
18. 
 
 
 
 
19. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
20. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Highway Safety/Parking Provision: 
 
Policy HQ/1 (h) states that proposal must ‘ensure that car parking is integrated into 
the development in a convenient, accessible manner and does not dominate the 
development and its surroundings or cause safety issues’.  
 
Policy TI/3 states that there should be two car parking spaces per dwelling, with one 
space to be allocated within the curtilage.  
 
The supporting paragraph 10.22 to policy TI/3 states that ‘under provision of car 
parking may lead to inappropriate on-street car parking, creating potential highway 
safety problems and unsafe street environments, whilst over provision may equally 
result in unsightly and sometimes unsafe, car dominated developments’.  
 
Franklins Gardens does not provide the level of car parking sought by policy TI/3 and 
it is considered that this level of provision could not be accommodated. The proposed 
new parking bays seek to increase the level of parking for the dwellings in Franklin 
Gardens; it is considered that the number of existing spaces is low for the number of 
dwellings, given the parking provision that would be sought if Franklin Gardens was 
developed today. It is therefore considered that the proposals would not represent an 
over provision of parking. Although the parking proposals would still represent an 
under provision in policy terms, the proposals would provide increased parking and 
therefore decrease the necessity for inappropriate on street parking.  
 
The Parish Council have raised concern that the proposals to create the additional 
informal parking would possibly lead to a situation where cars could block those in the 
spaces that are pushed back which would be most unsatisfactory for residents. One 
resident commented ‘I would be interested know why you intend spending money 
constructing 5 bays by taking out the trees and grass - when there is already 5 bays 
there. Surely the idea was to increase the parking of cars not waste money on 
removing trees and grass to end up with same situation?’ 
 

Page 176



21. 
 
 
 
 
22., 
 
 
 
 
  
23.. 
 
 
 
 
24. 
 
 
 
25. 

The applicant has stated that the informal parking area was agreed with residents 
during consultation and residents meetings, as is the current arrangement but by 
moving this area back it takes the cars off of the public highway and allows access to 
the existing parking on the right where cars are currently getting blocked in. 
 
The Local Highway Authority raised concerns regarding the proposal as noted in the 
consultation section. Following the receipt of an amended plan, which addressed the 
concerns that had been raised, the Local Highway Authority stated that the amended 
plan was acceptable to them and recommended conditions as set out in the 
consultations section.  
. 
The local resident commented ‘I hope that there will NOT be any disabled bays as the 
majority of car owner/drivers use a blue badge and it only causes controversy!’. The 
two existing disabled parking bays will be retained (although one will be relocated) but 
there are no further disabled parking bays proposed.  
 
The resident also commented that drop crossings would be good; there will be two 
dropped kerbs to accommodate the proposed parking, however there is no proposal 
for any further dropped kerbs.  
 
The proposal is acceptable to the Local Highway Authority. It provides increased 
parking provision but does not represent over provision and is not considered to 
dominate the development. It is therefore considered to comply with policy HQ/1 (h) 
and policy TI/3 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan, 2018.  
 

 
 
26. 
 
 
 
27. 
  
 
 
 
 
 
28. 
 
 
 
29. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
30. 
 
 
31. 

Drainage: 
 
Policy CC/8 states that development proposals must incorporate appropriate 
sustainable surface water drainage systems (SuDS) appropriate to the nature of the 
site.  
 
Plan C/110, revision P5 shows that the existing road gullies will be retained and 
protected throughout the works. There will be two new dished channels and road 
drains created which will connect to the existing surface water drainage system. The 
drainage notes on the plan state that all new road gullies will be private and in the 
ownership of South Cambridgeshire District Council and new gully connections are to 
be made to existing SCDC private soakaways.  
 
The Parish Council raised concern around the permeability of the parking bay and 
commented that if it is permeable then it would not require a gully and therefore the 
drainage is inadequate. The local resident has raised similar concerns 
 
The Local Highway Authority raised concern around drainage stating ‘It is not 
acceptable for the applicant to drain private water into the highway drainage system if 
the porous paving fails’. The plans were amended as noted above. The Local 
Highway Authority withdrew their objection but have recommended conditions  for the 
parking bays to be constructed so that private water does not drain onto the adopted 
public highway.  
 
The Sustainable Drainage Engineer raised no objections to the proposal and has 
requested no conditions be added to any planning permission granted.  
 
As such, the proposal is considered to comply with policy CC/8 of the South 
Cambridgeshire Local Plan, 2018.  
 

Page 177



 
 
32. 
 
 
 
 
33. 
 
 
 
 
 
34. 
 
 
 
 
35. 

Impact on Residential Amenity: 
 
Policy HQ/1 (n) states that proposals must protect the health and amenity of occupiers 
and surrounding uses from development that is overlooking, overbearing or results in 
a loss of daylight or development which would create unacceptable impacts such as 
noise, vibration, odour, emissions and dust.  
 
It is considered that the proposal would not result in an increase in cars; the parking in 
Franklin Gardens is residents only parking and therefore the noise and emissions 
would not be materially different to that which is experienced at present. The 
Environmental Health Officer raised no concerns with the proposal and did not 
recommend any conditions to be added to any planning permission granted.  
 
The proposal is therefore considered to comply with policy HQ/1 of the South 
Cambridgeshire Local Plan, 2018.  
 
Conclusion 
 
Any impact on the visual amenity of the area needs to be balanced against the 
opportunity to reduce inappropriate on street parking and officers consider that the 
when taken as a whole the application is one that should be approved. 

 
 Recommendation 
 
36. Officers recommend that the Committee approve the application, subject to: 
 
 
 
37. 

Conditions and Informatives 
 
Planning conditions and Informatives as set out below, with the final wording of any 
amendments to these to be agreed in consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair prior 
to the issuing of planning permission: 
 
Conditions 

 
 (a) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 

years from the date of this permission.  
(Reason - To ensure that consideration of any future application for 
development in the area will not be prejudiced by permissions for 
development, which have not been acted upon.) 
 

 (b) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: Site Location Plan, scale 1:1250 and C/110, revision 
P5. Received 19th April 2018.  
(Reason - To facilitate any future application to the Local Planning Authority 
under Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.) 
 

 (c) The surface of the parking bays hereby approved shall be constructed on a 
level that prevents surface water run-off onto the highway and shall be 
constructed from a bound material so as to prevent displacement of material 
onto the highway. The development shall be retained as such thereafter. 
(Reason - In the interest of highway safety in accordance with paragraph 105 
(b) of the National Planning Policy Framework, 2018). 
 

 Informative 
 

Page 178



 (d) The applicant is advised that the granting of a planning permission does not 
   constitute a permission or licence to a developer to carry out any works within, 
or disturbance of, or interference with, the Public Highway, and that a separate permission 
must be sought from the Highway Authority for such works. 
 
Background Papers: 
 
The following list contains links to the documents on the Council’s website and / or an 
indication as to where hard copies can be inspected. 
 

  South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework 2018 

  South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Supplementary Planning 
Documents (SPD’s) 

  Planning File Ref: S/1532/18/FL 

 
Report Author: Rachael Forbes Planning Officer 
 Telephone Number: 01954 713251 
 

Page 179



This page is left blank intentionally.



 

22
0a

222

38
39

B
 1

0
4
9

217 CUR
RIN

G
TO

NS

223

Sub S
taEl

21
6

221
219

8

E
l S

ub S
ta

20

5

13

19

9

33

35

40

32

29

1

1

26
3

4

G
O

O
D
E

C
L
O

S
E

2

25

46

48

LYLES

15

House
The Cotton

41b

45

47a

35

39

43

43a

Garage
PH

38

21

F
R

A
N

K
LIN

 G
A
R

D
E
N

S

50

19

23

34

LY
LE

S
 R

O
A
D

R
O

A
D

34

5

23

17a

27

25

17

18

6

9

16

24

7

Lam
bs R

ow

30

31

74

66

58

41

23

H
A

R
L
E

S
T
O

N
E

S
 R

O
A

D

E
l S

ub S
ta

10

LY
LE

S
 R

O
A
D

8

9

4

1

E
astlands

15
b

2
5

34

30a

Planning Dept - South Cambridgeshire DC

FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY
Scale - 1:1250
Time of plot: 15:15 Date of plot: 26/10/2018

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 150m

© Crown copyright [and database rights] (2015) OS (100022500)

Page 181



This page is left blank intentionally.



 
 
 

    
 

  
REPORT TO: Planning Committee   14 November 2018  

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  
LEAD OFFICER: Joint Director of Planning & Economic Development 

 

 

Enforcement Report 
 

 Purpose 
 
1. To inform Members about planning enforcement cases, as at 28th October 2018 

Summaries of recent enforcement notices are also reported, for information. 
 

 Executive Summary 
 
2. There are currently 74 active cases (Target is maximum 150 open cases, Stretch 

target 100 open cases). 

 
3. Details of all enforcement investigations are sent electronically to members on a 

weekly basis identifying opened and closed cases in their respective areas along 
with case reference numbers, location, case officer and nature of problem reported. 

 
4. Statistical data is contained in Appendices 1, and 2 to this report. 

 
 Updates to significant cases 

 
5. Updates are as follows: 

5.    
 (a) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cottenham - Smithy Fen: 
  
Work continues on Setchel Drove, following the placement of a number of 
static caravans on four plots in breach of the current planning consent and 
High Court Injunction applicable to each plot. Formal letters have been issued 
to those reported owners and occupants on Setchel Drove, covering the 
breaches of planning control and breach of the High Court Injunction - Copies 
of the Injunction and Housing leaflets, covering those that may be threatened 
with homelessness or eviction has been issued – Given the complexity and 
number of departments within the organisation that may be involved in any 
future action  the Councils Tasking & Coordination group are facilitating a joint 
approach with Planning, Environmental Health, Housing, Benefits & Council 
Tax, and Legal. 
 

Page 183

Agenda Item 12



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Following a full survey of the site , Including Needs assessments preparation 
was made for the issue of twenty two (22) Breach of Condition Notices 
covering five plots in  Water Lane, one plot in Orchard Drive, four plots in Pine 
Lane, three plots in Park Lane, and nine plots in Setchel Drove, who have been 
found to breach their planning permission. 
 
A compliance inspection carried out after the 31 July 2017 confirmed that 54% 
of the plots previously identified as being in breach of their planning permission 
in relation to planning conditions are now complying with them.  Work is 
currently underway to identify the persons continuing to breach planning and to 
instigate prosecution proceedings against them. Investigation now complete 
and prosecution files relating to ten (10) plots, which are still in breach of the 
notice have been submitted to the council’s legal team for summons. 
Cambridge Magistrates Court are now currently processing the application for 
Summons.   All cases have now been heard and where breaches were 
identified Cambridge Magistrates levied fines totalling £72,566.57p – A further 
inspection and survey of the site has now been carried out on the 26th June 
2018 which revealed that 12 plots are currently in breach of planning control. 
Further prosecutions will now be considered /carried out in addition to two 
further breaches of Condition Notices issued and one prosecution in the High 
Court for breaching the current site Injunction. A further application to the High 
Court for an Injunction is to be made at the earliest opportunity 
 

 (b) Whaddon – 9A Bridge Street 
  Without planning permission the erection of a six metre high pole for CCTV 

equipment. Enforcement Notice SCD-ENF-094/17/A was issued with a 
compliance date of 25th November 2017 to remove the pole and CCTV 
equipment. The notice has not been complied with and a file was submitted to 
the Councils Legal office to issue a Summons. The date of the summons was 
set for 10am 15th March 2018 however the accused did not attend and the 
Court issued a Warrant for his arrest. Case continues - No further information 
at this time – Legal office to seek clarification from the Court. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
(c)  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(d)   
 
 
 
 
 

  

Girton – 86 Cambridge Road 

Retrospective planning application S/2662/17/FL for the erection and 
installation of front entrance timber gates refused. Planning enforcement notice 
issued reference SCD-ENF 0466/17.  During the course of the installation a 
significant TPO tree was severely damaged.  Owner interviewed under caution 
- Prosecution file raised.  Current listing for Cambridge Magistrates Court 22nd 
February 2018 cancelled due to owner being in Australia. Legal dealing. 
Planning Appeal submitted reference APP/W0530/D/17/3191399 

The planning Inspectorate having considered the application dismissed the 
appeal. Formal application to remove the gates to be made. The unauthorised 
gates have now been removed. The prosecution in regard to the damage to the 
TPO tree has been dealt with by Cambridge Magistrates Court 11th October 
2018. The owner pleaded guilty and was fined £293.00p, £1000.00p costs and 
£ 58.00p Victims surcharge – The total being £1351.00p 
 

Gothic House 220 High Street Cottenham 

The property which is a grade 2 Listed building is unoccupied and in a serious 
state of disrepair which not only affects the fabric of the building but is also 
considered an immediate danger to the Public.  A s215 Amenity Notice was 
issued in order to address the immediate concerns with a compliance date of 
19 May 2018. Which due to circumstances was extended to 19th June 2018 

Page 184



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
gg 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(e) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(f) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(g) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(h) 
 
 
 
 

An inspection carried out on the 21 June 2018 revealed that no works had 
commenced and the situation remained outstanding.  A prosecution file was 
raised and a date to attend Cambridge Magistrates Court was set for the  

9th August 2018. The owners of the property appeared before the Court and 
admitted the charge and were fined £907.00p with costs totalling £150.00p and 
Victim surcharge of £90.00p The grand total being £1147.00p.  Work has now 
commenced to comply with the s215 Notice – Monitoring continues 

 

73 High Street West Wratting 

Following reports that the amenity of the above property including the main 
building which was a Public House known as the Lamb Inn and had been 
closed for many years a s215 Notice was issued to address the unacceptable 
amenity issue. The compliance period given was to complete the works by no 
later than 19th June 2018 however the building caught fire during the early 
hours of Friday 8 June 2018 before works had commenced and the building 
was destroyed leaving only the outer walls standing.  The site has been fenced 
off to prevent access to unauthorised persons. The owners have submitted an 
application to demolish the building due to its condition and safety to the 
Public. Separate planning application to be submitted to develop the whole site 
Situation continues to be monitored. 

 

Car Wash – 11 Ermine Way, Arrington 

A multi-agency review is currently underway following reports that the 
operators of the above valeting operation are discharging carwash effluent and 
septic tank effluent which is affecting neighbouring properties. 

Initial investigation has been carried out by the County Council who have 
discovered a pipe that appeared to connect a septic chamber to the highway 
drain. They have also identified works to the highway drain that will need to be 
carried out. Officers from the Environment agency are also investigating along 
with planning enforcement and Environmental health teams. Investigations 
continue at this time.  

 

147 St. Neots Road, Hardwick 

A fire which took place several years ago and severely damaged the building 
on the site and although heavily screened by high hedging has remained 
unrepaired and a general eyesore to the neighbouring properties and the 
general Public passing the site. The owner of the land who has stated that he 
will demolish the building however the Neighbouring business unit has not 
given its authority for the National Grid to disconnect the live main gas supply 
which it shares with number 147 St Neots Road.  Given the time that has 
elapsed and opportunity for the parties concerned to resolve the Gas 
termination to no 147 the Council is reviewing its powers under s79 in order 
that arrangements can be made with the relevant statutory undertakers for the 
disconnection of the gas supply, electricity and water as applicable, and the 
building demolished.  The gas governor was due to be disconnected by the 
end of September 2018 however the company carrying out the work was again 
refused access and turned away.  Local Parish informed of current impasse.  
Work continues to resolve access issues.  

 

19 Bandon Road Girton 

Not built in accordance with approved drawings relating to visibility splays 
Breach of Condition Notice issued 22 February 2018 with 28 day compliance 
period. Despite compliance discussions with the builder works still not carried 

Page 185



 
 
(i) 
 
 
 
 
 
(j) 

 

out. Prosecution file has been raised, waiting issue of summons.  

 

31 High Street Rampton  

Unauthorised works to a listed building and pre-commencement conditions not 
discharged prior to commencement of works on site.  

Prosecution file has been raised, waiting issue of summons. 

 

Land Adjacent Broadway, Haverhill Road, Castle Camps 

Not built in accordance with approved plans – materials not approved Breach 
of Condition notice issued 8 June 2018. Three month compliance period. 

Site inspection carried out after the compliance date revealed that the notice 
had not been complied with. A prosecution file has now been raised for the 
failure to comply with Breach of Condition Notice. 

   \\\\\ 
  

Investigation summary 
 

6 Enforcement Investigations for September 2018 reflect a 2.0% decrease when 
compared to the same period in 2017. Forty eight  (48) cases in total for the 
September period versus forty nine (49) cases in 2017 
 
The number of cases investigated year to date September 2018 totals 493 which 
when compared to the same period in 2017 (427 cases) represents a 15.4% 
increase. 
 
A review of the 40 cases closed in September 2018 revealed that 15 cases were 
found not to be in breach of planning control or were permitted development, 13 
complied, 1 case was not expedient to enforce. The remaining 11 cases were as a 
result of express consent already granted, consent on appeal and express consent 
granted – Time Limited, awaiting further instruction and retrospective planning 
applications submitted..  
 
 
Effect on Strategic Aims 

 
7.. South Cambridgeshire District Council delivers value for money by engaging      

with residents, parishes and businesses. By providing an effective Enforcement 
service, the Council continues to provide its residents with an excellent quality of 
life. 

 
 Background Papers: 

 
 The following background papers were used in the preparation of this report:  

 Appendices 1 and 2 

 

 
  Report Author:  Charles Swain  Principal Planning Enforcement Officer 
                                        Telephone:  (01954 ) 713206 

  
   
  

  
 

Page 186



   
   
 

Page 187



This page is left blank intentionally.



Appendix 1 
 

Enforcement Cases Received and Closed 
 
 

Month – 2018 
 

Received Closed 

   

   

July 2018 86 73 

August 2018 42 47 

September 2018 48 40 

   

   

1st Qtr. 2018 161 148 

2nd Qtr. 2018 156 167 

3rd Qtr. 2018 176 160 

4th Qtr. 2018 - - 

   

1st Qtr. 2017 122 122 

2nd Qtr. 2017 157 165 

3rd Qtr. 2017 148 118 

4th Qtr. 2017 175 158 

   

2018 - YTD 493 475 

2017 - YTD 602 563 

2016 - YTD 565 563 

2015 - YTD 511 527 

2014 -YTD 504 476 

   

 
 

2017/2018 

 

161 
156 

176 

122 

157 
148 

175 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

1st Qtr 2nd Qtr 3rd Qtr 4th Qtr

Enforcement Cases received

Enforcement Cases Closed

2017-Open

2017-Closed

Page 189



This page is left blank intentionally.



Appendix 2  
 

Notices Served and Issued 
 
 

 
1. Notices Served 

 

Type of Notice Period Calendar Year to date 
 

 September  2018 2018 

   

Enforcement 1  8 

Stop Notice 0  0 

Temporary Stop Notice 0 4 

Breach of Condition 0 18        
 

S215 – Amenity Notice 0  2 

Planning Contravention 
Notice 

0 4 

Injunctions 0 1 

High Hedge Remedial 
Notice 

0  0 

                                                                                  
 
 

2. Notices served since the previous report 
 

Ref. no.  Village 

 

Address Notice issued 

SCDC-ENF-443-18 

Unauthorised 
Material Change of 
Use – Siting of 
caravans 

Willingham Black Pitt Drove Planning 
Enforcement 
Notice 

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 191



Appendix 2  
 

 
3.  Case Information 

 
Thirty four of the 48 cases opened during September were closed within the 
same period which represents a 71.0% closure rate.  
 
 
A breakdown of the cases investigated during September is as follows 
 
Low priority - Development that may cause some harm but could be made 
acceptable by way of conditions e.g. Control on hours of use, parking etc. 
Two (2) cases were investigated.  
 
Medium Priority -Activities that cause harm (e.g. adverse affects on 
residential amenity and conservation areas, breaches of conditions)  
Forty two (42) cases were investigated.  
 
High Priority (works which are irreversible or irreplaceable (e.g. damage to, 
or loss of, listed buildings and protected trees, where highways issues could 
endanger life)  
Four (4) cases were investigated.  
 
 

 
The enquiries received by enforcement during the September period are 
broken down by case category as follows. 
 
        
Adverts    x 01   

Amenity    x 01   

Breach of Condition   x 13    

Breach of Planning Control  x 06   

Built in Accordance   x 05   

Change of Use    x 02   

Conservation    x 01   

High Hedge   x 01   

Condition   x 00   

Listed Building    x 04   

Other     x 04   

Unauthorised Development  x 07 

Unauthorised Demolition x01   

Permitted Development  x 02   

Monitoring   x 00 

   

Total Cases reported     48 

Page 192



    
 

  
REPORT TO: Planning Committee  14 November 2018 

LEAD OFFICER: Joint Director for Planning and Economic Development 
 

 
Appeals against Planning Decisions and Enforcement Action 

 
 Purpose 
 
1. To inform Members about appeals against planning decisions and enforcement 

action, and proposed hearing and inquiry dates, as of 6 November 2018 
Summaries of recent decisions of importance are also reported, for information. 

 
 Statistical data 
 
2. Attached to this report are the following Appendices: 

 

 Appendix 1 - Decisions Notified by the Secretary of State 

 Appendix 2 – Appeals received 

 Appendix 3 - Local Inquiry and Informal Hearing dates  

 
 
Contact Officer: Stephen Kelly Joint Director for Planning and 

Economic Development for 
Cambridge and South 
Cambridgeshire 
 

 Telephone Number:: 01954 713350 
 

Report Author: Ian Papworth Technical Support Team Leader 
(Appeals) 

 Telephone Number: 01954 713406 

 

Page 193

Agenda Item 13



This page is left blank intentionally.



Appendix 1 
 

Decisions Notified By The Secretary of State 
 
 

Reference Address Details Decision 
 

Date Planning 
Decision 

S/1856/17/OL Land at 
Fulbourn Old 
Drift 

Erection of up 
to three 
dwellings (one 
dwelling and 
two flats), with 
some matters 
reserved 
except for 
access and 
scale 

Dismissed 21/09/2018 Refused 

S/0525/17/FL Field north of 
Home Close 
and west of 
Moat Way, Land 
north of Fen 
Drayton Road, 
Swavesey 

Full planning 
application for 
the erection of 
56 dwellings, 
including new 
access onto 
Fen Drayton 
Road, 
infrastructure, 
landscaping 
and open 
space 

Withdrawn 25/09/2018 Refused 

S/1213/16/OL Welding Alloys 
Ltd, The Way, 
FOWLMERE, 
SG8 7QS 

Outline 
application for 
residential 
development 
of up to 45 
dwellings, and 
office building. 

Withdrawn 20/09/2018 Refused 

S/3445/17/DC 45 North Road, 
Great Abington 

Discharge of 
conditions 3 
(Materials) and 
4 (finished 
floor levels) of 
planning 
permission 
S/2349/17/FL 

Allowed 24/09/2018 Refusal 

S/4005/17/FL 45 North Road, 
Great Abington 

Conversion of 
outbuilding to 
form annex to 
main house. 

Dismissed 24/09/2018 Non 
Determination 
 

S/4086/17/PA 45 North Road, 
Great Abington 

Prior approval 
for a proposed 
change of use 
of agricultural 
building to a 
dwellinghouse 

Dismissed 24/09/2018 Non 
Determination 

Page 195



Appendix 1 
 

(Class C3) and 
for associated 
operational 
development 

S/2306/17/FL Agricultural 
Building, Adj. 
Tudor Court, 
Offord Road, 
Graveley 

Dwelling and 
car port to 
replace prior 
approval 
application 
S/1362/15/PB 

Dismissed 24/09/2018 Refusal 

S/2757/17/FL Land to the 
West of, 
Chrishall Road, 
Fowlmere 

Full planning 
permission for 
15 dwellings to 
include six 
affordable 
dwellings, new 
access and an 
equipped play 
area 

Dismissed 25/09/2018 Refusal 

S/2937/16/FL Land at rear of 
The Retreat, 
Fews Lane, 
Longstanton 

Proposed 
erection of a 3-
bedroomed 
bungalow with 
parking. 

Allowed 27/09/2018 Refusal 

S/4592/17/FL Barn at West 
Wickham Road, 
Balsham 

Erection of 
dwelling 

Dismissed 01/10/2018 Refusal 

S/1465/17/OL Land at West 
Fen Farm, West 
Fen Road, 
Willingham 

Outline 
planning 
application for 
the erection of 
2 self-building 
dwellings with 
all matters 
reserved 

Dismissed 03/10/2018 Refusal 

 
 

 

Page 196



Appendix 2 
 

Appeals Received 
 
 

Reference Address Details Date Appeal 
lodged 
 

S/0986/18/OL Land to the South 
of 33 Dubbs Knoll 
Road, Guilden 
Morden 

Outline planning 
application for the 
erection of 2No 
detached 1.5 
Storey Houses 

24/09/2018 

S/2627/18/FL The Brick House, 
Link Road, 
Sawston 

Remove Existing 
Roof to Construct 
First Floor for 
Additional Seating 
Area for the Café 

25/09/2018 

S/1278/18/FL Land at Little Heath 
Farm, Gamlingay 

Erection of dwelling 
including ancillary 
hardstanding. 

26/09/2018 

S/1248/18/LB 8 Hunts Lane, 
Hinxton 

Proposed roof 
lights in south 
facing elevation 
and landscaped 
front garden to 
include trellising 
and block/brick 
paved paths and 
planters 

27/09/2018 

S/0349/18/FL 8 Hunts Lane, 
Hinxton 

Proposed roof 
lights in south 
facing elevation 
and landscaped 
front garden to 
include trellising 
and block/brick 
paved paths and 
planters 

27/09/2018 

S/2094/18/FL Craiglea, Little 
Heath, Gamlingay 

Erection of 2 new 
dwellings including 
associated parking, 
landscaping and 
ancillary works. 

28/09/2018 

S/3613/17/DC Land Next to 16 
Chalky Road, 
Great Abington 

Discharge of 
condition 5 and 6 of 
planning 
permission 
S/2387/17/FL 

29/09/2018 

Page 197



Appendix 2 
 

S/1373/18/FL Land adjacent to 
Pettetts Barn, High 
Street, Hinxton, 
Saffron Walden, 
CB10 1RF 

Single storey 
detached dwelling 
with basement, 
detached garage 
and parking. 

30/09/2018 

S/2154/18/FL 27, Everton Road, 
Gamlingay, Sandy, 
Cambridgeshire, 
SG19 2JJ 

Erection of two 
detached three 
bedroom 
bungalows 

17/10/2018 

S/0794/18/FL 8B Birch Tree 
Farm, Little Heath, 
Gamlingay, Beds, 
NR Sandy, SG19 
3LL 

Mobile home 18/10/2018 

S/0971/18/OL Land to the south 
of Whitecroft Road, 
Meldreth, Royston, 
SG8 6ND 

Outline planning 
permission for 
residential 
development (nine 
dwellings) with 
some matters 
reserved except for 
access 

15/10/2018 

S/1821/18/FL Land Adjacent to 
121 Cambridge 
Road, Wimpole, 
Royston, 
Cambridgeshire, 
SG8 5QB 

Construction of 2 
No. Semi-Detached 
2 Bedroom Infill 
Dwellings 

15/10/2018 

Page 198



Appendix 2 
 

S/2339/18/FL 78, Moat Way, 
Swavesey, 
Cambridge, 
Cambridgeshire, 
CB24 4TR 

Take the side 
boundary fence 
enclosing the rear 
garden to the edge 
of the front garden 
boundary and 
enclose the front 
lawn into the rear 
garden. 

27/10/18 

ENF/0587/17 Land to the Rear of 
Unit 6, Riverview 
Farm, Overcote 
Road, Over 

Trading from Unit 
5A / Deliveries 
outside the 8.00am 
-6.00pm times 

27/09/2018 

S/3127/18/FL 76 Wimpole Road, 
Barton 

2 storey rear 
extension, 
alteration to 
existing front porch 
and detached car 
port and cycle store 

31/10/2018 

S/1266/18/FL 4 Pound Lane, 
Willingham 

Erection of 1 new 5 
bedroom detached 
dwelling 

05/11/2018 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Page 199



This page is left blank intentionally.



Appendix 3 
 

Local Inquiry and Informal Hearing dates scheduled 
 

 Local Inquiries 
 

Reference Name Address Planning 
decision or 
Enforcement
? 
 

Date 
confirmed/ 
proposed 

S/2844/14/FL Sawston 
Joinery Ltd 

Langford Arch, 
London Road 
Pampisford 

Planning 
Decision 

27/11/2018 
Confirmed 

S/4099/17/OL Mrs Emma 
Fletcher 
 

Land to the east 
of the A1301, 
south of the A505 
near Hinxton and 
west of the 
A1301, north of 
the A505 near 
Whittlesford 
(Agri-Tech) 
 

Planning 
Decision  

11th to 14th 
June, 18th 
to 21st 
June and 
2nd to 5th 
July 2019 

 

 Informal Hearings 
 

Reference Name Address Planning 
decision or 
Enforcement? 
 

Date 
confirmed/ 
proposed 

S/3873/17/OL Mr A Ashley Land at Mill Lane, 
Sawston 

Planning 
Decision 

TBC 

S/2141/17/OL 

 
Mr Peter 
Williams, 
Countryside 
Properties Plc 

 

Land to the west of 
Cambridge Road,  
Melbourn 

Planning 
Decision 

TBC 

ENF/0587/17 Mr Barryt Arliss Riverview Farm, 
Overcote Road, 
Over 

Enforcement TBC 

S/0971/18/OL Messrs N & W 
Elbourn 

Land to the south of 
Whitecroft Road, 
Meldreth 

 

Planning 
Decision 

TBC 

S/1266/18/FL Mr James 
Munns 

4 Pound Lane  
Willingham 

Planning 
Decision  

TBC 

S/1373/18/FL Mr & Mrs G Fagg Land adjacent to 
Pettetts Barn, High 
Street, Hinxton 
 

Planning 
Decision 

TBC 

 

Page 201



This page is left blank intentionally.


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	5 Hauxton Footpath 5 Diversion
	All Appendices

	6 Local Plan Affordable Housing Threshold (Policy H/10 Affordable Housing)
	7 S/1486/18/FL - Impington (Land to the rear of 49-83 (odds) Impington Lane, Impington, CB24 9NJ)
	Appendix 1 - Heads of terms
	Appendix 2 - Parish Council comments on updates
	Site plan

	8 S/1106/18/FL - Great Abington (Land South of Pampisford Road)
	Appendix 1 - Heads of terms
	Site plan

	9 S/2866/18/VC - Little Gransden (Land at Gransden Lodge Airfield, Cambridge Gliding Club Ltd,  Gransden Lodge Airfield,  Longstowe Road,
	Site Plan

	10 S/2705/18/FL - Cottenham (Cottenham United Sports and Social Club, King George V Playing Fields, Lambs Lane)
	Site plan

	11 S/1532/18/FL - Cottenham (Franklin Gardens)
	Site plan

	12 Enforcement Report
	Appendix 1 - Cases received and closed November 2018 Committee
	Appendix 2 - Notices Issued and Served - November 2018 Committee.

	13 Appeals against Planning Decisions and Enforcement Action
	November 2018 Appendix 1 - Decisions Notified By The Secretary of Stat
	November 2018 Appendix 2 - Appeals received
	November 2018 Appendix 3 - Local Inquiry and Informal Hearing dates scheduled (2)


